

Journal of the Senate

ORGANIZATION SESSION

Tuesday, November 17, 2020

Journal of the Senate for the Organization Session of the Twenty-seventh Legislature to be convened under the Constitution of Florida, as revised in 1968, and subsequently amended, begun and held at the Capitol in the City of Tallahassee, in the State of Florida, on Tuesday, November 17, 2020, being the day fixed by the Constitution for the purpose.

CONTENTS

Address by President
Address by President Pro Tempore
Adoption of Joint Rules
Adoption of Rules 16
Call to Order
Certificate Received
Color Guard
Communication
Election of President
Election of President Pro Tempore
Election of Secretary
Enrolling Reports
House Messages
House Messages, Final Action
Moment of Silence
Oath of Office Administered 2, 4, 15
Recognition of Sergeant at Arms
Remarks
Rules of the Senate
Special Guests
Special Performance
Special Presentation
Vacancy in Office

CALL TO ORDER

The Senate was called to order by outgoing Senate President Bill Galvano at 10:00 a.m. A quorum present.

PRAYER

Mr. Kurt Yann, friend of President Designate Simpson and professor at Saint Leo University, offered the following prayer:

Heavenly Father, as a state, we acknowledge our need of your wisdom and direction. We also acknowledge the many blessings and great favor in our lives. We thank you for your great sacrifice of your son, Jesus, and ask that you forgive our sins as a people. Absent your presence and sovereign guidance, we will cease to be a great nation and state.

Today we celebrate the appointment of a man in his leadership that will advance the ideals and principles of God. Lord, we ask that you continue to lead and direct Wilton as he strives to serve our great state. I can think of no one more qualified and selfless to pursue such a great effort. In 2 Chronicles, Chapter 1, we learn of Solomon's appointment to lead the great nation of Israel after King David's passing and his cry out to our Holy God. Solomon was humbled by the impending responsibility of leadership. He said, "Give me wisdom and knowledge, that I may lead this people, for who is able to govern this great people of yours?" The Lord heard Solomon's call, and he responded, "Since this is your heart's desire, and you have not asked for wealth, possessions, or honor, but instead for wisdom and knowledge to govern my people whom I have made you king, wisdom and knowledge will be given you."

With that same humility, Lord, we cry out to you for wisdom for this Senate to do your will. Let them work together. Let unity and discernment characterize all they do. We also ask blessings for those who serve and protect our great state, and we lift up our citizens in distress or suffering with sickness. Your son sought only the benefit of others meeting their needs, even laying down his life that each of us might have the opportunity to share in eternal life with you. Your greatest leaders have always been those who serve the most. In Wilton, we see a man quick to serve, whether it is generously spending personal resources or passing bills which benefit those less fortunate or which protect Florida's environment. Wilton has demonstrated the love, the commitment, and the service that true leadership requires.

In closing, Lord God, with great respect and fear, we ask you today to give this leadership team the divine ability to govern this great people of the State of Florida. Let this leadership model that of Jesus, who, in the ultimate act of service, cried out to you, "Not my will, but thy will be done." For it is in the mighty name of Jesus we give honor and pray. Amen.

SPECIAL PRESENTATION

A patriotic video tribute featuring the song, *We Fly This Flag*, written and performed by country music sensation Billy Dean, was played.

COLOR GUARD

At the direction of the President, the Sergeant at Arms opened the doors of the chamber, and the Pasco County Sheriff's Color Guard marched into the chamber bearing flags of the United States of America and the State of Florida.

PLEDGE

Addy and Emy Monbarren, grandchildren of President Designate Simpson, and Daniel and Addy Burgess, children of Senator Burgess, led the Senate in the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of America.

SPECIAL PERFORMANCE

The President introduced Michelle Milligan, employee in the Office of the Senate Sergeant at Arms, who sang our National Anthem, *The Star Spangled Banner*.

SPECIAL GUESTS

Senator Gruters introduced Governor Ron DeSantis.

Senator Baxley introduced Lieutenant Governor Jeanette Nuñez, Chief Financial Officer Jimmy Patronis, Attorney General Ashley Moody, and Commissioner of Agriculture Nikki Fried.

MOMENT OF SILENCE

Senator Baxley requested a moment of silence in memory of Lieutenant Governor Nuñez's father, Mr. Victor C. Sanchez, who passed away on November 5, 2020.

OATH OF OFFICE ADMINISTERED

The oath of office was administered by The Honorable Charles T. Canady, Florida Supreme Court Chief Justice, to the recently elected Senators.

CERTIFICATE RECEIVED

The Secretary announced that The Honorable Laurel M. Lee, Secretary of State, had certified to the election of 20 Senators as follows:

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

I, Laurel M. Lee, Secretary of State of the State of Florida, do hereby certify that the following candidates were duly elected at the General Election held on the 3rd day of November, A.D., 2020, to the office of Member, State Senate, as shown by the records of this office:

DISTRICT	ELECTED SENATOR	
1	Douglas V. Broxson	
3	Loranne Ausley	
5	Jennifer Bradley	
7	Travis J. Hutson	
9	Jason Brodeur	
11	Randolph Bracy	
13	Linda Stewart	
15	Victor M. Torres Jr	
17	Debbie Mayfield	
19	Darryl Ervin Rouson	
21	Jim Boyd	
23	Joe Gruters	
25	Gayle Harrell	
27	Ray Rodrigues	
29	Tina Polsky	
31	Lori Berman	
33	Perry E. Thurston Jr	
35	Shevrin "Shev" Jones	
37	Ileana Garcia	
39	Ana Maria Rodriguez	



SENATE

GIVEN under my hand and the Great Seal of the State of Florida, at Tallahassee, the Capital, this 17th day of November, A.D., 2020.

Laurel M. Lee SECRETARY OF STATE

CERTIFICATE RECEIVED

The Secretary announced that The Honorable Laurel M. Lee, Secretary of State, had certified to the election of one Senator as follows:

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

I, Laurel M. Lee, Secretary of State of the State of Florida, do hereby certify that the following candidate was duly elected at the Special Election held on the 3rd day of November, A.D., 2020, to the office of Member, State Senate, as shown by the records of this office:

SENATE DISTRICT ELECTED SENATOR

Danny Burgess



GIVEN under my hand and the Great Seal of the State of Florida, at Tallahassee, the Capital, this 17th day of November, A.D., 2020.

Laurel M. Lee SECRETARY OF STATE

ROLL CALL

20

The roll of the Senate, as constituted by the 21 newly elected members, was called by the Secretary, in alphabetical order, and the following members of the Senate were recorded as present:

Albritton	Cruz	Perry
Ausley	Diaz	Pizzo
Baxley	Farmer	Polsky
Bean	Gainer	Powell
Berman	Garcia	Rodriguez
Book	Gibson	Rouson
Boyd	Gruters	Simpson
Bracy	Harrell	Stargel
Bradley	Hooper	Stewart
Brandes	Hutson	Taddeo
Braynon	Jones	Thurston
Broxson	Mayfield	Torres
Burgess	Passidomo	

Excused: Senators Rodrigues and Wright

ELECTION OF SECRETARY

The President announced that nominations would be received for Secretary of the Senate for a term of two years and recognized Senator Hutson who placed in nomination the name of Debbie Brown.

Senator Hutson: Debbie Brown has been a wonderful asset to the Florida Senate, keeping records as Secretary for the last nine years. She has done an amazing job, and it is my honor to nominate her as Secretary of the Senate.

By unanimous consent of the membership, Debbie Brown was elected Secretary of the Senate for the 2020-2022 term.

OATH OF OFFICE ADMINISTERED

Secretary Debbie Brown was administered the oath of office by The Honorable Charles T. Canady, Florida Supreme Court Chief Justice.

SPECIAL GUESTS

Senator Diaz recognized all Senate spouses.

Senator Harrell recognized Tim Yeager, Bonnie Bell Yeager, and Trevor and Ginger Storch, special guests of the President Designate.

President Galvano recognized Speaker Designate Chris Sprowls.

Senator Broxson recognized President Designate Simpson's brother, Jimmy Simpson, and his special guest, Tracy Prince; and nephew, Jimmy Wayne Simpson III, and his special guest, Savannah Keith.

Senator Albritton recognized President Designate Simpson's son, Wilton Simpson, Jr., and his fiancée, Caroline Storch; and daughter, Lauran Monbarren, and her children, Addy and Emy.

Senator Bradley recognized future First Lady of the Florida Senate, Kathy Shotts Simpson.

ORGANIZATION

The Senate proceeded to the organization of the body.

NOMINATIONS FOR PRESIDENT

The President announced that nominations would be received for President of the Senate, pursuant to Article III, Section 2 of the State Constitution, for a term of two years.

The President recognized Senator Bean who placed in nomination the name of Senator Wilton Simpson of the 10th Senatorial District.

Senator Bean: Mr. President, my fellow Senators, Governor De-Santis, Lieutenant Governor Nuñez, Speaker Designate Sprowls, Attorney General Moody, Commissioner Fried, Chief Financial Officer Patronis, distinguished guests, the Simpson family, all those present today, and all those watching distantly in a committee room in the Capitol or on the Florida Channel all over the Sunshine State, I rise today to talk about important firsts.

In life, there is a first time for everything. There is our first job, our first car, our first home. Firsts are typically memorable experiences. In the coming months, our new colleagues will rise to speak for the first time on this floor—a lifelong memory for each newly-elected Senator.

So, when I recall meeting Senator Simpson for the first time, I remember it vividly. We were first-time candidates for the Senate, and I was fighting for my political life. Then, Wilton was known simply as The Egg Farmer. So, we met for eggs at a Cracker Barrel just off the interstate. I did not know much about Wilton nor did I envision that we would be roommates in Tallahassee for the next eight years. In that first meeting, I learned that there is more to Wilton than just eggs. I learned about asbestos removal and the skill it requires. I learned that Wilton is a builder. As a contractor, he has managed hundreds of construction projects, large and small, all over the southeast.

But over the next eight years, I learned of his character, heart, and his work ethic. I learned that I do not need to set an alarm, because every morning precisely at 6:00 a.m., I can hear Wilton on the phone with his construction and farm teams facing the challenges of the day. He truly cares about his employees, his constituents, his community, and our state. Wilton is as humble of heart as he is generous. Wilton builds teams with people who solve problems and scale mountains. He has an amazing track record of leaving things better than he found them.

Wilton loves his family. Whenever he has an opening in the conversation, he is likely to tell a story about his wife Kathy, his son Wilton, Jr., who just got engaged last week, or share the latest picture of his grandchildren Emy and Addy.

At my first encounter, I believed Wilton's background would serve him well in the Florida Senate. I did not, however, anticipate that we would all need his specific expertise in masks, or his knowledge from working on respirator programs with the EPA since the 1980s, or the fact that he can tell you more about the air quality index, particle pollution, and molecular movement than most scientists. In fact, when we were last together as a body in March, I think Wilton Simpson might have been one of the only people among us who could have told you that HEPA stands for "high-efficiency particulate air."

Although he is knowledgeable, it is Wilton's character that I underscore at this moment in Florida's history. If at any time we need people with a defined moral compass, it is now. Unprecedented times call for unprecedented leadership. The Book of Esther from the Old Testament speaks to a person appointed to a leadership position, "for a time such as this." There have been times in the history of our state when a leader emerges who is uniquely suited to confront the challenges we face. Today is full of those "first times."

For the first time, the Florida economy was closed. Businesses from as large as Disney World to our small, neighborhood barber shops and beauty salons were forced to shut down. Our unemployment rate hit a high not seen since we started tracking. For the first time, our unemployment safety net melted down, creating frustration and panic among people who, through no fault of their own, were seeking all means necessary to make ends meet. For the first time, our Medicaid enrollees have topped 4 million. For the first time, kids are learning from home when they want to be in school.

It is not time to second-guess decisions made months ago, in good faith, when the scope of the pandemic and the best ways to treat it were still unknown. When we look in the rearview mirror, it should be for opportunities to improve our systems, our responses, and our outcomes. At this moment, 21 million Floridians are counting on us to move our state forward.

Members, look around at your teammates. It is time for this Senate to rise, as never before, to meet the incredible challenge before us.

So our first question is, "Who will we chose for our leader, our captain, our President? Who will lead this Senate for a time such as this—to help our state and its citizens rise to overcome these challenges?" Senators, we need a builder. We need a farmer. We need a businessman—a unifier. Someone of high character.

As we prepare to vote for the first time this term—for some of you, your very first vote in the Senate—I want it to be for something worthy. I want it to be for Wilton Simpson. Fellow Senators, it is a high personal honor and privilege to nominate my friend—the leader, the farmer, and the builder—Senator Wilton Simpson for President of the Florida Senate.

The President recognized Senator Perry who seconded the nomination of Senator Simpson.

Senator Perry: Good morning. It is good to be here with you all. It is good to see all my friends and colleagues back here in Tallahassee. And it's an honor, it's truly an honor, for me to be here today to be able to come up and second the nomination of Senator Simpson.

You know, Senator Simpson and I had met each other on a few occasions, but more on social issues. We didn't have a lot of professional dealings when I was in the House. But when I had the opportunity to run for the Senate once that seat had become open, I thought, "Hey, I should meet with and get to know some of the other Senators." So I reached out, and Wilton set up a little dinner at his home with himself and three other Senate colleagues that are no longer in the chamber here with us today. Anyways, we went over there. We had dinner and small talk.

Now first, you've got to understand that Wilton and I share a similar background. I'm in the roofing business and rental business, and Wilton is in the asbestos abatement business as well as several other endeavors. We share that type of blue-collar background. So we're at this dinner, we've finished the food, and are in the living room just having some small talk. And the conversation turned to law school. Well, when it turned to law school, Wilton and I were left a little bit out of the loop. So we're sitting there, and the conversation turned to LSAT scores. Well, I'm not sure why in your 50s your LSAT scores are that pertinent, but that's where the conversation went. I remember we were sitting next to each other during all this. He just leans over to me and he quietly says, "I'm so glad you're running for the Senate." And I want to thank you for your help in that endeavor, for all your encouragement, and for all the work that you've done in that regard.

One word comes to mind when I think of Wilton, and that is excellence. When I look at Wilton Simpson, when you know Wilton Simpson, you think of excellence. If it's in his family life, his business life, or his legislative life, you find a common theme—excellence. With his family, his dedication to his wife and kids. His passion for how he operates as a family man. He sets an example for how to be a good parent and a good partner. And congratulations to you—Wilton, Jr.—on your recent engagement to Caroline.

In his business career, it doesn't take much to look at that and realize what he has built in a very competitive and inherently difficult industry. He's not only run these businesses; he's been able to take those businesses to the very top of their industry.

And when you look legislatively, certainly we're here today to consider someone who has risen to the top. And it didn't happen by chance. It happened because of his work ethic, and his ability to get things done, and his masterful communicative skills.

Aristotle said it best. Aristotle said, "We are what we repeatedly do. Excellence, then, is not an act, but a habit." And Wilton Simpson is going to be that type of leader. He's going to have excellence in the way he leads the Florida Senate in these next two years. And that will be reflected in the everyday operations we go through with hearing bills in committees and on the floor and moving through the appropriations process that will show excellence under his leadership.

As we negotiate with the House and Governor's Office on our priorities, we have a man, we have a person, who is going to lead us into excellence with everything he does and by the next crisis we will inevitably run into. We may not have a crisis like the one we're going through right now. Who knows, it could be worse. It could be an entirely different type of crisis. We don't know what it will be. That's why it's a crisis. You can't prepare for those types of things very well. You aren't sure what's coming around the corner. But to have someone with his leadership ability should give us all a lot of comfort and a lot of confidence as we move forward with the next two years.

And with that, I'd like to second the nomination for my dear friend, Senator Wilton Simpson. Thank you.

MOTION

On motion by Senator Mayfield, nominations for President were closed.

ELECTION OF PRESIDENT

The roll was called on the election of the President, and each Senator voted in the affirmative by saying, "Wilton Simpson."

The vote was:

Yeas—37

Albritton	Cruz	Perry
Ausley	Diaz	Pizzo
Baxley	Farmer	Polsky
Bean	Gainer	Powell
Berman	Garcia	Rodriguez
Book	Gibson	Rouson
Boyd	Gruters	Stargel
Bracy	Harrell	Stewart
Bradley	Hooper	Taddeo
Brandes	Hutson	Thurston
Braynon	Jones	Torres
Broxson	Mayfield	
Burgess	Passidomo	

OATH OF OFFICE ADMINISTERED

Senator Simpson was joined by his wife, Kathy, at the bar of the Senate where the oath of office was administered by The Honorable Charles T. Canady, Florida Supreme Court Chief Justice. President Simpson then proceeded to the rostrum where he joined President Galvano.

President Galvano: Before I have our new President join me at the rostrum, I'd like to take a moment from a personal perspective. First of all, President Simpson, it's a true honor to have presided over your

election here this morning. I met President Simpson—it's almost been a decade—on a rainy day in Trilby. I didn't know where Trilby was, frankly, before then, and we sat in his pickup truck to avoid the rain. Right there and then began one of the great friendships of my life. I also realized at that moment that this was a man of action, this was a natural leader. I've watched him through his career, and he's been steadfast in his dedication to the people of Florida and his vision for the people of Florida. I've seen him accomplish policy and budget goals that at the outset seemed impossible, yet he was able to do it. He is the type of person when he has an objective he puts his heart and soul into it, and that includes helping all of you.

I have watched as he took care of his folks, his people back home, and his constituents. I know many of you are watching remotely or somewhere else in the building, but know this: You have been very fortunate and blessed to have President Simpson represent you and your district.

Family and friends, you are equally fortunate to have a person like this working for you here at the State of Florida. Senators, you are fortunate to have him as your leader going into the next two years. It's been said that your work ethic is an example for all of us—it's frankly tremendous.

I have also come to truly admire your dedication to your family. It has been said already today and needs to be underscored, this is a man who, I think, in all that you have accomplished and all that you value in this world, nothing comes close to your family. I think that's going to serve you very well as President of this body. I know you are very proud of them, and they are very proud of you. I have every confidence you are prepared to lead the Florida Senate in spite of unique issues that you are facing that have not been faced before and maybe especially because of those unique issues.

First Lady, Kathy Simpson, I'm excited for you and your whole family. I congratulate you. It has been an honor to serve with you, serve with you all. It is an honor, President Simpson, to call you my friend. Please come up to the rostrum.

President Galvano presented the gavel to President Simpson, the 89th President of the Florida Senate since statehood.

PRESIDENT SIMPSON PRESIDING

ADDRESS BY PRESIDENT WILTON SIMPSON

Whether it is "welcome home" or "welcome back," I want to recognize all 40 Senators of the 123rd Legislative Session. President Pro Tem Bean and Senator Perry, thank you for those kind words. I'm not sure I deserved it, but you two are great storytellers.

I want to thank our Governor and First Lady for being here. Governor, we're going to deliver some great bills to your desk—and I am sure you are going to sign all of them.

Cabinet members, thank you for being here.

To my family who've already been introduced—there is nothing I value more than my family. Kathy, Lauran, Wilton Jr., Addy, and Emy—I love you all. And speaking of family—mine is about to expand. My future daughter-in-law is on the floor here today. Wilton Jr. and Caroline, congratulations on your engagement. I have some family members and a few dear friends in the gallery. Thank you all for being here.

Speaker Sprowls, that has such a nice ring to it. Israel was the start of a true friendship between us. And we have an MOU to prove it. You're an incredible partner and leader. The House chose the right Speaker, and I look forward to working with you and the House over these next two years to do some great things.

None of us who were here last session could have predicted what we're facing today. Our focus will be different because the world is different. Before I talk about some of the things I'd like to see accomplished over these next two years, I want to pause for a moment and recognize those who've lost their lives as a result of COVID-19. This virus has robbed us of thousands of Floridians—mothers, fathers, friends, and neighbors. Please join me for a moment of silence as we honor their memories.

Nobody signs up to be Governor during a pandemic or disaster. This has been a difficult time, and I thank Governor DeSantis and Director Moskowitz for the many long hours and lots of thankless work. Since the virus spreads so quickly, a rapid response makes a huge difference. I am convinced your early actions to protect our elderly and our most vulnerable populations helped avoid thousands of deaths in Florida. Governor, thank you for your leadership!

This pandemic has been a strain on so many families and on our businesses. Some wonder if it's ever going to end. Senators, it will. In the last few days, we've heard promising news about a new vaccine and there is more good news on trials and therapeutics every day. Better days are ahead, but we must continue to do what we can to personally prevent the spread. I want to thank all of you for taking our new protocols seriously. We will get through this together.

Now, I know the elections were hard fought. Elections are competitions, and that means there are winners and losers. Nobody likes to lose. Having said that, we have stepped off the field of competition and into the Senate. This is where campaigns end and governing begins. I thank each of you for answering the call of public service. You have earned the right to be here because your constituents sent you here. We are no longer candidates—we are Senators—and we have a lot of work to do.

Fortunately, Florida is more prepared than most other states. Over the last several years, we voted many times to set aside money to prepare for a rainy day. Senators, it's raining. In fact, it's pouring.

The Revenue Estimating Conference lowered the estimate of GR for this fiscal year by \$3.4 billion, and another \$2 billion for the next fiscal year. We're fortunate to have had past legislatures that set aside money for emergencies. It will help a lot, but to be clear, it won't solve our problems. We can't fix our situation by simply spending down our savings account. We need to make structural changes to the budget.

Florida has the honor of a AAA bond rating by all three rating agencies. The rating came with an important warning earlier this year: they said, "If Florida relies too much on one-term sources such as reserves or Cares Act Funds, it could weaken our view on management and budgetary performance."

Senators, that will not happen on our watch. We are going to "tighten our belts." There will be things that we did in times of plenty that need to be eliminated in these times of lean. We have less revenue; therefore, we will have less government. That doesn't mean that all we'll do is cut the budget the next two years. There are places where we need to make investments—like our Northern Everglades, our springs, our most vulnerable children, and our state infrastructure. To do our job right we need to be thoughtful, strategic, and long-term in our vision. And if we do it right, and I believe we will, our state will recover and prosper in ways we cannot even imagine. But it's going to take courage and bold action.

When I was designated, I spoke a lot about my background in farming and how it has given me an understanding and appreciation for the importance of roots. If you want to ensure the quality of the crop, make sure the roots are healthy and strong. If you want to prepare a field for planting, you plow the field and clean it out—roots and all.

I'm also a businessman. One of the most troubling things I have seen in government is the way we cling to laws or programs that are barely funded or don't work because we don't want to hurt feelings or bruise egos. We can't afford to do it that way. I encourage us to reexamine past priorities. Let's look at some of these initiatives that don't work, that aren't moving us forward, or that are wrong for our time. Let's take them out by the roots. Let's get this budget field cleaned and plowed for the growth and prosperity that are ahead.

You and I may not see the results in our two years, but we will make the difficult choices now that will impact Florida for generations to come. That is our calling. That is our duty. That is the assignment that Floridians have given this Senate. I am deeply honored that you have made me your Senate President for these two years. We have a lot of work ahead of us. Floridians want results, not words. If you and I seize our days like a farmer—with longterm vision, and a solid work ethic—knowing that what we plant today is for a future harvest. I truly believe Florida's best days are ahead.

Thank you. God bless you, and God bless the State of Florida.

ADOPTION OF JOINT RULES

On motion by Senator Hooper, by unanimous consent-

By Senator Hooper-

SCR 2-Org.—A concurrent resolution establishing the Joint Rules of the Florida Legislature for the 2020-2022 term.

Be It Resolved by the Senate of the State of Florida, the House of Representatives Concurring:

That the following joint rules shall govern the Florida Legislature for the 2020-2022 term:

JOINT RULES

Joint Rule One-Lobbyist Registration and Compensation Reporting

1.1—Those Required to Register; Exemptions; Committee Appearance Records

(1) All lobbyists before the Florida Legislature must register with the Lobbyist Registration Office in the Office of Legislative Services. Registration is required for each principal represented.

(2)~ As used in Joint Rule One, unless the context otherwise requires, the term:

(a) "Compensation" means payment, distribution, loan, advance, reimbursement, deposit, salary, fee, retainer, or anything of value provided or owed to a lobbying firm, directly or indirectly, by a principal for any lobbying activity.

(b) "Legislative action" means introduction, sponsorship, testimony, debate, voting, or any other official action on any measure, resolution, amendment, nomination, appointment, or report of, or any matter that may be the subject of action by, either house of the Legislature or any committee thereof.

(c) "Lobby" or "lobbying" means influencing or attempting to influence legislative action or nonaction through oral or written communication or through an attempt to obtain the goodwill of a member or employee of the Legislature.

(d) "Lobbying firm" means any business entity, including an individual contract lobbyist, that receives or becomes entitled to receive any compensation for the purpose of lobbying and where any partner, owner, officer, or employee of the business entity is a lobbyist. "Lobbying firm" does not include an entity that has employees who are lobbyists if the entity does not derive compensation from principals for lobbying or if such compensation is received exclusively from a subsidiary or affiliate corporation of the employer. As used in this paragraph, an affiliate corporation is a corporation that directly or indirectly shares the same ultimate parent corporation as the employer and does not receive compensation for lobbying from any unaffiliated entity.

(e) "Lobbyist" means a person who is employed and receives payment, or who contracts for economic consideration, for the purpose of lobbying or a person who is principally employed for governmental affairs by another person or governmental entity to lobby on behalf of that other person or governmental entity. An employee of the principal is not a lobbyist unless the employee is principally employed for governmental affairs. The term "principally employed for governmental affairs" means that one of the principal or most significant responsibilities of the employee to the employer is overseeing the employer's various relationships with government or representing the employer in its contacts with government. Any person employed by the Governor, the Executive Office of the Governor, or any executive or judicial department of the state or any community college of the state who seeks to encourage the passage, defeat, or modification of any legislation by personal appearance or attendance before the House of Representatives or the Senate, or any member or committee thereof, is a lobbyist.

(f) "Lobbyist Registration and Compensation Reporting System (LRCRS)" means the online application that serves as the system of record for the Lobbyist Registration Office in the Office of Legislative Services and consists of the electronic registration system and the electronic filing system.

(g) "LRO" means the Lobbyist Registration Office in the Office of Legislative Services.

(h) "Office" means the Office of Legislative Services.

(i) "Payment" or "salary" means wages or any other consideration provided in exchange for services but does not include reimbursement for expenses.

(j) "Principal" means the person, firm, corporation, or other entity that has employed or retained a lobbyist. When an association has employed or retained a lobbyist, the association is the principal; the individual members of the association are not principals merely because of their membership in the association.

(k) "Unusual circumstances," with respect to any failure of a person to satisfy a filing requirement, means uncommon, rare, or sudden events over which the person has no control and which directly result in the failure to satisfy the filing requirement.

(3) For purposes of Joint Rule One, the terms "lobby" and "lobbying" do not include any of the following:

(a) A response to an inquiry for information made by any member, committee, or staff of the Legislature.

(b) An appearance in response to a legislative subpoena.

(c) Advice or services that arise out of a contractual obligation with the Legislature, a member, a committee, any staff, or any legislative entity to render the advice or services where such obligation is fulfilled through the use of public funds.

(d) Representation of a client before the House of Representatives or the Senate, or any member or committee thereof, when the client is subject to disciplinary action by the House of Representatives or the Senate, or any member or committee thereof.

(4) For purposes of registration and reporting, the term "lobbyist" does not include any of the following:

- (a) A member of the Legislature.
- (b) A person who is employed by the Legislature.
- (c) A judge who is acting in that judge's official capacity.

(d) A person who is a state officer holding elective office or an officer of a political subdivision of the state holding elective office and who is acting in that officer's official capacity.

(e) A person who appears as a witness or for the purpose of providing information at the written request of the chair of a committee, subcommittee, or legislative delegation.

(f) A person employed by any executive or judicial department of the state or any community college of the state who makes a personal appearance or attendance before the House of Representatives or the Senate, or any member or committee thereof, while that person is on approved leave or outside normal working hours and who does not otherwise meet the definition of a lobbyist.

(5) When a person, regardless of whether the person is registered as a lobbyist, appears before a committee of the Legislature, that person

must submit a Committee Appearance Record as required by the respective house.

(6) The responsibilities of the Office and of the LRO under Joint Rule One may be assigned to another entity by agreement of the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives for a contract period not to extend beyond December 1 following the Organization Session of the next biennium, provided that the powers and duties of the President, the Speaker, the General Counsel of the Office of Legislative Services, and any legislative committee referenced in Joint Rule One may not be delegated.

1.2—Method of Registration

(1) Each person required to register with the LRO must register through the LRCRS and attest to that person's full legal name, business address, e-mail address, and telephone number; the name, business address, e-mail address, and telephone number of each principal that person represents; and the extent of any direct business association or partnership that person has with any member of the Legislature. If the lobbyist is, or belongs to, a lobbying firm, the lobbyist must state the name, address, and telephone number of the lobbying firm and the email address of the person responsible for the submission of compensation reports. All lobbyists associated with the same firm must register using the identical name, address, and e-mail address of the firm in the LRCRS. Registration is not complete until the LRCRS receives authorization from the principal's representative and the registration fee. Lobbyists may not authorize themselves on behalf of the principal representative. Any changes to the information existing in the LRCRS must be updated online in the LRCRS within 15 days from the effective date of the change.

(2) Any person required to register must do so with respect to each principal prior to commencement of lobbying on behalf of that principal. The LRCRS will request authorization from the principal with the principal's name, business address, e-mail address, and telephone number to confirm that the registrant is authorized to represent the principal. The principal or principal's representative shall also identify and designate the principal's main business pursuant to a classification system approved by the Office, which shall be the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) six-digit numerical code that most accurately describes the principal's main business.

(3) Any person required to register must renew the registration annually for each calendar year through the LRCRS.

(4) A lobbyist shall promptly cancel the registration for a principal upon termination of the lobbyist's representation of that principal. A cancellation takes effect the day it is received by the LRCRS. Notwithstanding this requirement, the LRO may remove the name of a lobbyist from the list of registered lobbyists if the principal notifies the LRO in writing that the lobbyist is no longer authorized to represent that principal.

(5) Should a registered lobbyist identify a scrivener's error in their own registration in the LRCRS after submission, they may make a written request to the LRO to correct such error. The request must clearly identify and describe the error. Each request will be reviewed by the Office before any changes will be made.

(6) The LRO shall retain registration information submitted under this rule.

(7) A person required to register under Joint Rule One shall be considered a lobbyist of the Legislature for the purposes of ss. 11.045, 112.3148, and 112.3149, Florida Statutes.

1.3—Registration Costs; Exemptions

(1) To cover the costs incurred for the administration of Joint Rule One, each person who registers under Joint Rule 1.1 must pay an annual registration fee to the LRO. The annual period runs from January 1 to December 31. These fees must be paid at the time of registration. (2) The following persons are exempt from paying the fee, provided they are designated in writing by the agency head or person designated in this subsection:

(a) Two employees of each department of the executive branch created under chapter 20, Florida Statutes.

(b) Two employees of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.

(c) Two employees of the Executive Office of the Governor.

(d) Two employees of the Commission on Ethics.

(e) Two employees of the Florida Public Service Commission.

(f) Two employees of the judicial branch designated in writing by the Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court.

(3) The annual fee is up to \$50 per legislative entity for a person to register to represent one principal and up to an additional \$10 per legislative entity for each additional principal that the person registers to represent. The amount of each fee shall be established annually by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The fees set must be adequate to ensure operation of the lobbyists' registration, compensation, and reporting functions. The fees collected by the LRO under this rule shall be deposited into the State Treasury and credited to the Legislative Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund specifically to cover the costs incurred in administering Joint Rule One.

1.4-Reporting of Lobbying Firm Compensation

(1)(a) Each lobbying firm shall file a compensation report with the LRO through the LRCRS for each calendar quarter during any portion of which one or more of the firm's lobbyists were registered to represent a principal. The report must include the:

1. Full name, business address, and telephone number of the lobbying firm;

2. Registration name of each of the firm's lobbyists; and

3. Total compensation provided or owed to the lobbying firm from all principals for the reporting period, reported in one of the following categories: \$0; \$1 to \$49,999; \$50,000 to \$99,999; \$100,000 to \$249,999; \$250,000 to \$499,999; \$500,000 to \$999,999; or \$1 million or more.

(b) For each principal represented by one or more of the firm's lobbyists, the lobbying firm's compensation report must also include the:

1. Full name, business address, and telephone number of the principal; and

2. Total compensation provided or owed to the lobbying firm for the reporting period, reported in one of the following categories: \$0; \$1 to \$9,999; \$10,000 to \$19,999; \$20,000 to \$29,999; \$30,000 to \$39,999; \$40,000 to \$49,999; or \$50,000 or more. If the category "\$50,000 or more" is selected, the specific dollar amount of compensation must be reported, rounded up or down to the nearest \$1,000.

 $(c)\,$ Compensation shall be reported using the accrual basis of accounting.

(d) Compensation reports should reflect compensation received for lobbying the legislative branch only.

(e) If the lobbying firm subcontracts work from another lobbying firm and not from the original principal:

1. The lobbying firm providing the work to be subcontracted shall be treated as the reporting lobbying firm's principal for reporting purposes under this paragraph; and

2. The reporting lobbying firm shall, for each lobbying firm identified as the reporting lobbying firm's principal under paragraph (b),

identify the name, business address, and telephone number of the principal originating the lobbying work.

(f) The senior partner, officer, or owner of the lobbying firm shall certify to the veracity and completeness of the information submitted pursuant to this rule; certify that no compensation has been omitted from this report by deeming such compensation as "consulting services," "media services," "professional services," or anything other than compensation; and certify that no officer or employee of the firm has made an expenditure in violation of s. 11.045, Florida Statutes.

(2) For each principal represented by more than one lobbying firm, the Office shall aggregate the reporting-period and calendar-year compensation reported as provided or owed by the principal. Compensation reported within a category shall be aggregated as follows:

Category (dollars)	Dollar amount to use aggregating
0	0
1-9,999	5,000
10,000-19,999	15,000
20,000-29,999	25,000
30,000–39,999	35,000
40,000-49,999	45,000
50,000 or more	Actual amount reported

(3) The compensation reports shall be filed no later than 45 days after the end of each reporting period. The four reporting periods are from January 1 through March 31, April 1 through June 30, July 1 through September 30, and October 1 through December 31, respectively. The reports shall be rendered in the identical form provided by the respective houses and shall be open to public inspection.

(4) A report filed pursuant to this rule must be completed and filed through the LRCRS not later than 11:59 p.m. of the day designated in subsection (3). A report not filed by 11:59 p.m. of the day designated is a late-filed report and is subject to the penalties under Joint Rule 1.5(1).

(5) Each person given secure sign-on credentials in the LRCRS is responsible for protecting the credentials from disclosure and is responsible for all filings made by use of such credentials, unless and until the Office is notified that the person's credentials have been compromised. Each report filed by electronic means pursuant to this rule shall be deemed certified in accordance with paragraph (1)(f) by the person given the secure sign-on credentials and, as such, subjects the person and the lobbying firm to the provisions of s. 11.045(8), Florida Statutes, as well as any discipline provided under the rules of the Senate or House of Representatives.

(6) If the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives jointly declare that the electronic system is not operable, the reports shall be filed in accordance with instructions on the LRCRS website which will be posted for a reasonable period of time.

1.5—Failure to File Timely Compensation Report; Notice and Assessment of Fines; Appeals

(1) Upon determining that the report is late, the LRCRS shall immediately notify the lobbying firm by e-mail as to the failure to timely file the report and that a fine is being assessed for each late day. The fine shall be \$50 per day per report for each late day, not to exceed \$5,000 per report.

(2) Upon submittal of the late-filed report by the lobbying firm, the LRCRS shall determine the amount of the fine based on the submittal date shown in the electronic receipt issued by the LRCRS.

(3) Such fine shall be paid within 30 days after the notice of payment due is transmitted by the LRCRS, unless an appeal is made to the LRO. The moneys shall be deposited into the Legislative Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund.

(4) A fine may not be assessed against a lobbying firm the first time the report for which the lobbying firm is responsible is not timely filed. However, to receive the one-time fine waiver, the report for which the lobbying firm is responsible must be filed within 30 days after the notice of failure to file is transmitted by the LRCRS. A fine shall be assessed for all subsequent late-filed reports.

(5) Any lobbying firm may appeal or dispute a fine, based upon unusual circumstances surrounding the failure to file on the designated due date, and may request and shall be entitled to a hearing before the General Counsel of the Office of Legislative Services, who shall recommend to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, or their respective designees, that the fine be waived in whole or in part for good cause shown. The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, or their respective designees, may, by joint agreement, concur in the recommendation and waive the fine in whole or in part. Any such request shall be made within 30 days after the notice of payment due is transmitted by the LRCRS. In such case, the lobbying firm shall, within the 30-day period, notify the LRO in writing of the firm's intention to request a hearing.

(6) A lobbying firm may request that the filing of a report be waived upon good cause shown, based on unusual circumstances. The request must be filed with the General Counsel of the Office of Legislative Services, who shall make a recommendation concerning the waiver request to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives may, by joint agreement, grant or deny the request.

(7)(a) All lobbyist registrations for lobbyists who are partners, owners, officers, or employees of a lobbying firm that fails to timely pay a fine are automatically suspended until the fine is paid or waived and all late reports have been filed or waived. The LRO shall promptly notify all affected principals, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives of any suspension or reinstatement. All lobbyists who are partners, owners, officers, or employees of a lobbying firm are jointly and severally liable for any outstanding fine owed by a lobbying firm.

(b) Such lobbyist may not be reinstated in any capacity representing any principal until the fine is paid and all late reports have been filed or waived or until the fine is waived as to that lobbyist and all late reports for that lobbyist have been filed or waived. A suspended lobbyist may request a waiver upon good cause shown, based on unusual circumstances. The request must be filed with the General Counsel of the Office of Legislative Services who shall, as soon as practicable, make a recommendation concerning the waiver request to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives may, by joint agreement, grant or deny the request.

(8) The LRO shall notify the coordinator of the Office of the failure of a lobbying firm to file a report after notice or of the failure of a lobbying firm to pay the fine imposed.

1.6—Open Records; Internet Publication of Registrations and Compensation Reports

(1) All of the lobbyist registration forms and compensation reports received by the LRO shall be available for public inspection and for duplication at reasonable cost.

(2) The LRO shall make information filed pursuant to Joint Rules 1.2 and 1.4 reasonably available on the Internet in an easily understandable and accessible format through the LRCRS. The LRCRS must include, but not be limited to including, the names and business addresses of lobbyists, lobbying firms, and principals; the affiliations between lobbyists and principals; and the classification system designated and identified with respect to principals pursuant to Joint Rule 1.2.

1.7—Records Retention and Inspection and Complaint Procedure

(1) Each lobbying firm and each principal shall preserve for a period of 4 years all accounts, bills, receipts, computer records, books, papers, and other documents and records necessary to substantiate compensation reports and registration documentation.

(2) Upon receipt of a complaint based on the personal knowledge of the complainant made pursuant to the Senate Rules or the Rules of the House of Representatives, any such documents and records may be inspected when authorized by the President of the Senate or the Speaker of the House of Representatives, as applicable. The person authorized to perform the inspection shall be designated in writing and shall be a member of The Florida Bar or a certified public accountant licensed in Florida. Any information obtained by such an inspection may only be used for purposes authorized by law, Joint Rule One, the Senate Rules, or the Rules of the House of Representatives, which purposes may include the imposition of sanctions against a person subject to Joint Rule One, the Senate Rules, or the Rules of the House of Representatives. Any employee who uses that information for an unauthorized purpose is subject to discipline. Any member who uses that information for an unauthorized purpose is subject to discipline under the applicable rules of each house.

(3) The right of inspection may be enforced by appropriate writ issued by any court of competent jurisdiction.

1.8-Questions Regarding Interpretation of Joint Rule One

(1) A person may request in writing an informal opinion from the General Counsel of the Office of Legislative Services as to the application of Joint Rule One to a specific situation involving that person's conduct. The General Counsel shall issue the opinion within 10 days after receiving the request. The informal opinion may be relied upon by the person who requested the informal opinion. A copy of each informal opinion that is issued shall be provided to the presiding officer of each house. A committee of either house designated pursuant to section 11.045(5), Florida Statutes, may revise any informal opinion rendered by the General Counsel through an advisory opinion to the person who requested the informal opinion. The advisory opinion shall supersede the informal opinion as of the date the advisory opinion is issued.

(2) A person in doubt about the applicability or interpretation of Joint Rule One with respect to that person's conduct may submit in writing the facts for an advisory opinion to the committee of either house designated pursuant to s. 11.045(5), Florida Statutes, and may appear in person before the committee in accordance with s. 11.045(5), Florida Statutes.

1.9-Effect of Readoption and Revision

All obligations existing under Joint Rule One as of the last day of the previous legislative biennium are hereby ratified, preserved, and reimposed pursuant to the terms thereof as of that date. The provisions of Joint Rule One are imposed retroactively to the first day of the present legislative biennium except that provisions new to this revision are effective on the date of adoption or as otherwise expressly provided herein.

Joint Rule Two—General Appropriations Review Period and Budget Conference Committee Rules

2.1-General Appropriations and Related Bills; Review Periods

(1) A general appropriations bill shall be subject to a 72-hour public review period before a vote is taken on final passage of the bill in the form that will be presented to the Governor.

(2) If a bill is returned to the house in which the bill originated and the originating house does not concur in all the amendments or adds additional amendments, no further action shall be taken on the bill by the nonoriginating house, and a conference committee shall be established by operation of this rule to consider the bill.

(3) If a bill is referred to a conference committee by operation of this rule, a 72-hour public review period shall be provided prior to a vote being taken on the conference committee report by either house.

(4) A copy of the bill, a copy of the bill with amendments adopted by the nonoriginating house, or the conference committee report shall be furnished to each member of the Legislature, the Governor, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, and each member of the Cabinet. Copies for the Governor, Chief Justice, and members of the Cabinet shall be furnished to the official's office in the Capitol or Supreme Court Building. (5)(a) Copies required to be furnished under subsection (4) shall be furnished to members of the Legislature as follows:

1. A printed copy may be placed on each member's desk in the appropriate chamber; or

2. An electronic copy may be furnished to each member. The Legislature hereby deems and determines that a copy shall have been furnished to the members of the Legislature when an electronic copy is made available to every member of the Legislature. An electronic copy is deemed to have been made available when it is accessible via the Internet or other information network consisting of systems ordinarily serving the members of the Senate or the House of Representatives.

(b) An official other than a member of the Legislature who is to be furnished a copy of a general appropriations bill under subsection (4) may officially request that an electronic copy of the bill be furnished in lieu of a printed copy, and, if practicable, the copy may be furnished to the official in the manner requested.

(6) The Secretary of the Senate shall be responsible for furnishing copies under this rule for Senate bills, House bills as amended by the Senate, and conference committee reports on Senate bills. The Clerk of the House shall be responsible for furnishing copies under this rule for House bills, Senate bills as amended by the House, and conference committee reports on House bills.

(7) The 72-hour public review period shall begin to run upon completion of the furnishing of copies required to be furnished under subsection (4). The Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President of the Senate, as appropriate, shall be informed of the completion time, and such time shall be announced on the floor prior to vote on final passage in each house and shall be entered in the journal of each house. Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays shall be included in the computation under this rule.

(8) An implementing or conforming bill recommended by a conference committee shall be subject to a 24-hour public review period before a vote is taken on the conference committee report by either house, if the conference committee submits its report after the furnishing of a general appropriations bill to which the 72-hour public review period applies.

(9) With respect to each bill that may be affected, a member of the Senate or the House of Representatives may not raise a point of order under this rule after a vote is taken on the bill. Except as may be required by the Florida Constitution, noncompliance with any requirement of this rule may be waived by a two-thirds vote of those members present and voting in each house.

2.2—General Appropriations and Related Bills; Definitions

As used in Joint Rule Two, the term:

(1) "Conforming bill" means a bill that amends the Florida Statutes to conform to a general appropriations bill.

(2) "General appropriations bill" means a bill that provides for the salaries of public officers and other current expenses of the state and contains no subject other than appropriations. A bill that contains appropriations that are incidental and necessary solely to implement a substantive law is not included within this term. For the purposes of Joint Rule Two and Section 19(d) of Article III of the Florida Constitution, the Legislature hereby determines that, after a general appropriations bill has been enacted and establishes governing law for a particular fiscal year, a bill considered in any subsequent session that makes supplemental appropriations shall not be deemed to be a general appropriations bill unless such bill provides for the salaries of public officers and other current expenses of the state for a subsequent fiscal year.

(3) "Implementing bill" means a bill, effective for one fiscal year, implementing a general appropriations bill.

(4)(a) "Appropriations project" means a specific appropriation, proviso, or item on a conference committee spreadsheet agreed to by House and Senate conferees providing funding for:

1. A local government, private entity, or privately-operated program, wherein the specific appropriation, proviso, or item on a conference committee spreadsheet specifically names the local government, private entity, or privately-operated program or the appropriation, proviso, or item is written in such a manner as to describe a particular local government, private entity, or privately-operated program;

2. A specific transportation facility that was not part of the Department of Transportation's 5-year work program submitted pursuant to s. 339.135, Florida Statutes;

3. An education fixed capital outlay project that was not submitted pursuant to s. 1013.60 or s. 1013.64, Florida Statutes, unless funds for the specific project were appropriated by the Legislature in a prior year and additional funds are needed to complete the project as originally proposed;

4. A specified program, research initiative, institute, center, or similar entity at a specific state college or university, unless recommended by the Board of Governors or the State Board of Education in their Legislative Budget Request; or

5. A local water project.

(b) The term does not include an appropriation that:

- 1. Is specifically authorized by statute;
- 2. Is part of a statewide distribution to local governments; or

3. Was recommended by a commission, council, or other similar entity created in statute to make annual funding recommendations, provided that such appropriation does not exceed the amount of funding recommended by the commission, council, or other similar entity.

2.3—Budget Conference Committee Rules

(1) For an appropriations project to be included in a conference committee report:

(a) The appropriations project must be included in a bill or an amendment placed into a budget conference; and

(b) Information required by subsections (2) and (3) relating to the appropriations project must have been in writing and published online prior to the passage by that chamber of the bill or amendment which was placed into a budget conference.

- (2) The information collected must include:
- (a) A descriptive title of the appropriations project.
- (b) The date of the submission.
- (c) The name of the submitting member.

(d) The most recent year in which the appropriations project received state funding, if applicable.

- (e) Whether the most recent funding for the project had been vetoed.
- (f) The amount of the nonrecurring request.

(g) The amount of funding received in the prior year on a recurring or nonrecurring basis.

 $(h) \ \ \, In$ what agency the project is best placed and whether the agency has been contacted.

(i) The name of the organization or entity receiving the funds as well as a point of contact for the organization or entity.

(j) The name of the registered lobbyist of the entity requesting the appropriations project.

(k) Whether the organization to receive the funds is a for-profit entity, a not-for-profit entity, a local entity, a state university or college, or other type of organization.

 $(l) \;$ The specific purpose or goal that will be achieved by the funds requested.

 $(m)\;$ The activities and services that will be provided to meet the intended purpose of these funds.

(n) Specific descriptions of how the funds will be expended, including a description and the amounts to be expended on: administrative costs, itemized to include the salary of the executive director or project head, other salaries and benefits, expenses, and consultants, contractors, or studies; operational costs, itemized to include salaries and benefits, expenses, and consultants, contractors, or studies; and fixed capital outlay, itemized to include land purchase, planning, engineering, construction, and renovation.

(o) The owner of the facility to receive, directly or indirectly, any fixed capital outlay funding, and the relationship between the owners of the facility and the entity.

(p) A description of the direct services to be provided to citizens by the appropriations project, if applicable.

 $(\mathbf{q})~A$ description of the target population to be served and the number of individuals to be served by the appropriations project.

(r) A description of the specific benefit or outcome, including the methodology by which this outcome will be measured.

(s) The amount and percentage of federal, local, and state funds, excluding the funds requested for the appropriations project, or other matching funds available for the appropriations project.

(t) How much additional nonrecurring funding is anticipated to be requested in future years by amount per year.

(u) The suggested penalties that the contracting agency may consider in addition to its standard penalties for failing to meet deliverables or performance measures provided for in the contract.

(3) With respect to an appropriations project that is also a local water project, the information collected must also include:

(a) Whether alternative state funding such as the Waste Water Revolving Loan, Drinking Water Revolving Loan, Small Community Waste Water Drinking grant, or other funding has been requested.

(b) Whether the project is for a financially disadvantaged community, as defined in chapter 62-552, Florida Administrative Code; a financially disadvantaged municipality; a rural area of critical economic concern; or a rural area of opportunity, as defined in s. 288.0656, Florida Statutes.

(c) Whether the construction status is shovel-ready.

 $\left(d\right)$ The percentage of construction completed and the estimated completion date.

(4) Each chamber must collect the required information described in subsections (2) and (3) in the form and manner prescribed by that chamber.

(5) The portion of an appropriations project which was funded with recurring funds in the most recently enacted general appropriations act is exempt from subsections (1), (2) and (3).

(6) An appropriations project may only be funded with nonrecurring funds, except that the portion of an appropriations project which was funded with recurring funds as provided in subsection (5) may be continued with or without additional nonrecurring funds.

(7) The nonrecurring funding of an appropriations project in the conference committee report may be less than, equal to, or greater than the funding for the appropriations project as originally committed to the conference committee.

(8) An appropriations project that was not included in either chamber's bill in accordance with subsections (1), (2), and (3) may not be included in a conference report.

(9)(a) To be included in a conference committee report, all appropriations projects, except as otherwise provided in paragraph (b), must be clearly identified in the bill or amendment that will be considered by a conference committee and in any conference report.

(b) An appropriations project funded with recurring funds in the most recently enacted general appropriation act that is not appropriated any additional funds is exempt from the provisions of paragraph (a).

(10) The conference committee must allow for public testimony regarding appropriations projects at each noticed meeting.

(11) Nothing in this rule shall limit either chamber's ability to apply a stricter standard to its own bills prior to the commencement of conference proceedings. This Joint Rule applies to all conference committee reports related to the General Appropriations Act and supersedes either chamber's rules that are contrary to or inconsistent with the provisions of this Joint Rule.

Joint Rule Three—Joint Offices and Policies

3.1—Joint Legislative Offices

- (1) The following offices of the Legislature are established:
- (a) Office of Economic and Demographic Research.
- (b) Office of Legislative Information Technology Services.
- (c) Office of Legislative Services.

(d) Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability.

(2) Offices established under this rule shall provide support services to the Legislature that are determined by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives to be necessary and that can be effectively provided jointly to both houses and other units of the Legislature. Each office shall be directed by a coordinator selected by and serving at the pleasure of the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. Upon the initial adoption of these joint rules in a biennium, each coordinator position shall be deemed vacant until an appointment is made.

(3) Within the monetary limitations of the approved operating budget, the salaries and expenses of the coordinator and the staff of each office shall be governed by joint policies.

(4) The Office of Legislative Services shall provide legislative support services other than those prescribed in subsections (5)-(7).

(5) The Office of Legislative Information Technology Services shall provide support services to assist the Legislature in achieving its objectives through the application of cost-effective information technology.

(6) The Office of Economic and Demographic Research shall provide research support services, principally regarding forecasting economic and social trends that affect policymaking, revenues, and appropriations.

(7) The Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability shall:

(a) Perform independent examinations, program reviews, and other projects as provided by general law, as provided by concurrent resolution, as directed by the Legislative Auditing Committee, or as directed by the President of the Senate or the Speaker of the House and shall provide recommendations, training, or other services to assist the Legislature.

(b) Transmit to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, by December 1 of each year, a list of statutory and fiscal changes recommended by office reports. The recommendations shall be presented in two categories: one addressing substantive law and policy issues and the other addressing budget issues.

3.2—Joint Policies

(1) The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives shall jointly adopt policies they consider advisable to carry out the functions of the Legislature. Such policies shall be binding on all employees of joint offices and joint committees.

(2) The employees of all joint committees and joint legislative offices shall be under the exclusive control of the Legislature. No officer or agency in the executive or judicial branch shall exercise any manner of control over legislative employees with respect to the exercise of their duties or the terms and conditions of their employment.

Joint Rule Four-Joint Committees

4.1—Standing Joint Committees

(1) The following standing joint committees are established:

- (a) Administrative Procedures Committee.
- (b) Committee on Public Counsel Oversight.
- (c) Legislative Auditing Committee.

(2) No other joint committee shall exist except as agreed to by the presiding officers or by concurrent resolution approved by the Senate and the House of Representatives.

(3) Appointments to each standing joint committee shall be made or altered and vacancies shall be filled by the Senate and the House of Representatives in accordance with their respective rules. There shall be appointed to each standing joint committee no fewer than five and no more than seven members from each house.

(4)(a) The President of the Senate shall appoint a member of the Senate to serve as the chair, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives shall appoint a member of the House of Representatives to serve as the vice chair, for:

1. The Legislative Auditing Committee and the Committee on Public Counsel Oversight, for the period from the Organization Session until noon on August 1 of the calendar year following the general election.

2. The Administrative Procedures Committee for the period from noon on August 1 of the calendar year following the general election until the next general election.

(b) The Speaker of the House of Representatives shall appoint a member of the House of Representatives to serve as the chair, and the President of the Senate shall appoint a member of the Senate to serve as the vice chair, for:

1. The Legislative Auditing Committee and the Committee on Public Counsel Oversight, for the period from noon on August 1 of the calendar year following the general election until the next general election.

2. The Administrative Procedures Committee for the period from the Organization Session until noon on August 1 of the calendar year following the general election.

(c) A vacancy in an appointed chair or vice chair shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment.

4.2-Procedures in Joint Committees

The following rules shall govern procedures in joint committees other than conference committees:

(1) A quorum for a joint committee shall be a majority of the appointees of each house. No business of any type may be conducted in the absence of a quorum.

(2)(a) Joint committees shall meet only within the dates, times, and locations authorized by both the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

(b) Joint committee meetings shall meet at the call of the chair. In the absence of the chair, the vice chair shall assume the duty to convene and preside over meetings and such other duties as provided by law or joint rule. During a meeting properly convened, the presiding chair may temporarily assign the duty to preside at that meeting to another joint committee member until the assignment is relinquished or revoked.

(c) Before any joint committee may hold a meeting, a notice of such meeting shall be provided to the Secretary of the Senate and the Clerk of the House of Representatives no later than 4:30 p.m. of the 7th day before the meeting. For purposes of effecting notice to members of the house to which the chair does not belong, notice to the Secretary of the Senate shall be deemed notice to members of the Senate and notice to the Clerk of the House shall be deemed notice to members of the House of Representatives. Noticed meetings may be canceled by the chair with the approval of at least one presiding officer.

(d) If a majority of its members from each house agree, a joint committee may continue a properly noticed meeting after the expiration of the time called for the meeting. However, a joint committee may not meet beyond the time authorized by the presiding officers without special leave granted by both presiding officers.

(3) The presiding officers shall interpret, apply, and enforce rules governing joint committees by agreement when the rule at issue is a joint rule. Unless otherwise determined or overruled by an agreement of the presiding officers, the chair shall determine all questions of order arising in joint committee meetings, but such determinations may be appealed to the committee during the meeting.

(4) Each question, including any appeal of a ruling of the chair, shall be decided by a majority vote of the members of the joint committee of each house present and voting.

4.3—Powers of Joint Committees

(1) A joint committee may exercise the subpoena powers vested by law in a standing committee of the Legislature. A subpoena issued under this rule must be approved and signed by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives and attested by the Secretary of the Senate and the Clerk of the House.

(2) A joint committee may adopt rules of procedure that do not conflict with the Florida Constitution or any law or joint rule, subject to the joint approval of the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

(3) A joint committee may not create subcommittees or workgroups unless authorized by both presiding officers.

4.4—Administration of Joint Committees

(1) Within the monetary limitations of the approved operating budget, the expenses of the members and the salaries and expenses of the staff of each joint committee shall be governed by joint policies adopted under Joint Rule 3.2.

(2) Subject to joint policies adopted under Joint Rule 3.2, the presiding officers shall appoint and remove the staff director and, if needed, a general counsel and any other staff necessary to assist each joint committee. All joint committee staff shall serve at the pleasure of the presiding officers. Upon the initial adoption of these joint rules in a biennium, each joint committee staff director position shall be deemed vacant until an appointment is made.

4.5-Special Powers and Duties of the Legislative Auditing Committee

(1) The Legislative Auditing Committee may direct the Auditor General or the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability to conduct an audit, review, or examination of any entity or record described in s. 11.45(2) or (3), Florida Statutes.

(2) The Legislative Auditing Committee may receive requests for audits and reviews from legislators and any audit request, petition for audit, or other matter for investigation directed or referred to it pursuant to general law. The committee may make any appropriate disposition of such requests or referrals and shall, within a reasonable time, report to the requesting party the disposition of any audit request. (3) The Legislative Auditing Committee may review the performance of the Auditor General and report thereon to the Senate and the House of Representatives.

4.6—Special Powers and Duties of the Administrative Procedures Committee

The Administrative Procedures Committee shall:

(1) Maintain a continuous review of the statutory authority on which each administrative rule is based and, whenever such authority is eliminated or significantly changed by repeal, amendment, holding by a court of last resort, or other factor, advise the agency concerned of the fact.

(2) Maintain a continuous review of administrative rules and identify and request an agency to repeal any rule or any provision of any rule that reiterates or paraphrases any statute or for which the statutory authority has been repealed.

(3) Review administrative rules and advise the agencies concerned of its findings.

(4) Exercise the duties prescribed by chapter 120, Florida Statutes, concerning the adoption and promulgation of rules.

(5) Generally review agency action pursuant to the operation of chapter 120, Florida Statutes, the Administrative Procedure Act.

(6) Report to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives at least annually, no later than the first week of the regular session, and recommend needed legislation or other appropriate action. Such report shall include the number of objections voted by the committee, the number of suspensions recommended by the committee, the number of administrative determinations filed on the invalidity of a proposed or existing rule, the number of petitions for judicial review filed on the invalidity of a proposed or existing rule, and the outcomes of such actions. Such report shall also include any recommendations provided to the standing committees during the preceding year under subsection (11).

(7) Consult regularly with legislative standing committees that have jurisdiction over the subject areas addressed in agency proposed rules regarding legislative authority for the proposed rules and other matters relating to legislative authority for agency action.

(8) Subject to the approval of the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, have standing to seek judicial review, on behalf of the Legislature or the citizens of this state, of the validity or invalidity of any administrative rule to which the committee has voted an objection and that has not been withdrawn, modified, repealed, or amended to meet the objection. Judicial review under this subsection may not be initiated until the Governor and the head of the agency making the rule to which the committee has objected have been notified of the committee's proposed action and have been given a reasonable opportunity, not to exceed 60 days, for consultation with the committee. The committee may expend public funds from its appropriation for the purpose of seeking judicial review.

(9) Maintain a continuous review of the administrative rulemaking process, including a review of agency procedure and of complaints based on such agency procedure.

(10) Establish measurement criteria to evaluate whether agencies are complying with the delegation of legislative authority in adopting and implementing rules.

(11) Maintain a continuous review of statutes that authorize agencies to adopt rules and shall make recommendations to the appropriate standing committees of the Senate and the House of Representatives as to the advisability of considering changes to the delegated legislative authority to adopt rules in specific circumstances.

4.7—Special Powers and Duties of the Committee on Public Counsel Oversight

 $(1)\,$ The Committee on Public Counsel Oversight shall appoint a Public Counsel.

(2) The Committee on Public Counsel Oversight may file a complaint with the Commission on Ethics alleging a violation of chapter 350, Florida Statutes, by a current or former public service commissioner, an employee of the Public Service Commission, or a member of the Public Service Commission Nominating Council.

(3) Notwithstanding Joint Rule 4.4(2), the Committee on Public Counsel Oversight shall not have any permanent staff but shall be served as needed by other legislative staff selected by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

Joint Rule Five—Auditor General

5.1-Rulemaking Authority

The Auditor General shall make and enforce reasonable rules and regulations necessary to facilitate audits that he or she is authorized to perform.

5.2—Budget and Accounting

(1) The Auditor General shall prepare and submit annually to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives for their joint approval a proposed budget for the ensuing fiscal year.

(2) Within the limitations of the approved operating budget, the salaries and expenses of the Auditor General and the staff of the Auditor General shall be paid from the appropriation for legislative expense or any other moneys appropriated by the Legislature for that purpose. The Auditor General shall approve all bills for salaries and expenses for his or her staff before the same shall be paid.

5.3—Audit Report Distribution

(1) A copy of each audit report shall be submitted to the Governor, to the Chief Financial Officer, and to the officer or person in charge of the state agency or political subdivision audited. One copy shall be filed as a permanent public record in the office of the Auditor General. In the case of county reports, one copy of the report of each county office, school district, or other district audited shall be submitted to the board of county commissioners of the county in which the audit was made and shall be filed in the office of the clerk of the circuit court of that county as a public record. When an audit is made of the records of the district school board, a copy of the audit report shall also be filed with the district school board, and thereupon such report shall become a part of the public records of such board.

(2) A copy of each audit report shall be made available to each member of the Legislative Auditing Committee.

(3) The Auditor General shall transmit a copy of each audit report to the appropriate substantive and fiscal committees of the Senate and House of Representatives.

(4) Other copies may be furnished to other persons who, in the opinion of the Auditor General, are directly interested in the audit or who have a duty to perform in connection therewith.

(5) The Auditor General shall transmit to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, by December 1 of each year, a list of statutory and fiscal changes recommended by audit reports. The recommendations shall be presented in two categories: one addressing substantive law and policy issues and the other addressing budget issues. The Auditor General may also transmit recommendations at other times of the year when the information would be timely and useful for the Legislature.

(6) A copy required to be provided under this rule may be provided in an electronic or other digital format if the Auditor General determines that the intended recipient has appropriate resources to review the copy. Copies to members, committees, and offices of the Legislature shall be provided in electronic format as may be provided in joint policies adopted under Joint Rule 3.2. Joint Rule Six-Joint Legislative Budget Commission

6.1—General Responsibilities

(1) The commission, as provided in chapter 216, Florida Statutes, shall receive and review notices of budget and personnel actions taken or proposed to be taken by the executive and judicial branches and shall approve or disapprove such actions.

(2) Through its chair, the commission shall advise the Governor and the Chief Justice of actions or proposed actions that exceed delegated authority or that are contrary to legislative policy and intent.

(3) To the extent possible, the commission shall inform members of the Legislature of budget amendments requested by the executive or judicial branches.

(4) The commission shall consult with the Chief Financial Officer and the Executive Office of the Governor on matters as required by chapter 216, Florida Statutes.

(5) The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives may jointly assign other responsibilities to the commission in addition to those assigned by law.

(6) The commission shall develop policies and procedures necessary to carry out its assigned responsibilities, subject to the joint approval of the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

(7) The commission, with the approval of the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, may appoint subcommittees as necessary to facilitate its work.

6.2—Organizational Structure

(1) The commission is not subject to Joint Rule Four. The commission shall be composed of seven members of the Senate appointed by the President of the Senate and seven members of the House of Representatives appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

(2) The commission shall be jointly staffed by the appropriations committees of both houses. The Senate shall provide the lead staff when the chair of the commission is a member of the Senate. The House of Representatives shall provide the lead staff when the chair of the commission is a member of the House of Representatives.

6.3—Notice of Commission Meetings

Not less than 7 days prior to a meeting of the commission, a notice of the meeting, stating the items to be considered, date, time, and place, shall be filed with the Secretary of the Senate when the chair of the commission is a member of the Senate or with the Clerk of the House when the chair of the commission is a member of the Senate or the House of Representatives. The Secretary of the Senate or the Clerk of the House shall distribute notice to the Legislature and the public, consistent with the rules and policies of their respective houses.

6.4-Effect of Adoption; Intent

This Joint Rule Six replaces all prior joint rules governing the Joint Legislative Budget Commission and is intended to implement constitutional provisions relating to the Joint Legislative Budget Commission existing as of the date of the rule's adoption.

Joint Rule Seven-Qualifications of Members

7.1-Residency

(1) A member shall be a legal resident and elector of his or her district at the time of election and shall maintain his or her legal residence within that district for the duration of his or her term of office. While a member may have multiple residences, he or she shall have only one legal residence. The legal residence of a member at a designated location is demonstrated by a totality of the circumstances. Factors to be considered include, but are not limited to:

(a) Where one claims to reside, as reflected in statements to others or in official documents;

(b) The abandonment of a prior legal residence, as evidenced by moving from or selling a prior legal residence;

(c) The abandonment of rights and privileges associated with a prior legal residence;

(d) Where one is registered as a voter;

(e) Where one claims a legal residence for a homestead exemption;

(f) Where one claims a legal residence for a driver license or other government privilege or benefit;

 $(g)\,$ The transfer of one's bank accounts to the district where one maintains a legal residence;

(h) Where one's spouse and minor children maintain a legal residence, work, and attend school;

(i) Where one receives mail and other correspondence;

(j) Where one customarily resides;

(k) Where one conducts business affairs;

(l) Where one rents or leases property; and

(m) Where one plans the construction of a new legal residence.

 $(2)\,$ In accordance with Section 3 of Article X of the Florida Constitution, a vacancy in office occurs when a member fails to maintain a legal residence within his or her district as required at the time of election.

(3) In accordance with Section 2 of Article III of the Florida Constitution, each house of the Legislature shall be the sole judge of the qualifications of its members, including whether a member no longer satisfies his or her qualifications for office.

(4) Each member shall affirm in writing that he or she is a legal resident and elector of his or her district based on the provisions of this Joint Rule. Each member shall file the written affirmation with the Secretary of the Senate or the Clerk of the House of Representatives before the convening of Organization Session following each general election. For a member who is elected pursuant to a special election, the member must execute the written affirmation before or concurrent with taking the oath of office and provide such affirmation to the Secretary of the Senate or the Clerk of the House of Representatives. The form of the written affirmation shall be prescribed by the Secretary of the Senate and the Clerk of the House of Representatives for members of their respective house of the Legislature.

Joint Rule Eight—Adjourning and Reconvening of Each House of the Legislature and Providing for Adjournment Sine Die

8.1-Adjourning and Reconvening

Pursuant to Section 3(e) of Article III of the Florida Constitution, during any legislative session, each house of the Legislature may, without consent from the other house, determine its respective dates and times for adjourning and reconvening daily sittings.

8.2—Adjournment Sine Die

(1) During regular sessions, both houses of the Legislature shall adjourn sine die by concurrent resolution or concurrent motions or on the 60th day at 11:59 p.m., unless extended.

(2) During special sessions, both houses shall adjourn sine die by concurrent resolution or concurrent motions or upon reaching the hour on which the special session is adjourned sine die by operation of the proclamation, unless extended.

-was introduced and read by title.

On motion by Senator Hooper, **SCR 2-Org.** was read the second time by title, adopted, and certified to the House.

President Simpson directed the Secretary to notify the House of Representatives that the Senate was convened for the purpose of organization, in lieu of appointing a committee.

SENATE MESSAGES

November 17, 2020

The Honorable Chris Sprowls, Speaker

I am directed to inform the House of Representatives that the public health crisis prevents the Senate from sending a committee to the House. Please accept this message as confirmation that the Senate is organized and ready to proceed with the business of the session.

Debbie Brown, Secretary

NOMINATIONS FOR PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE

The President announced that nominations would be received for President Pro Tempore of the Senate for a term of two years.

The President recognized Senator Brandes who placed in nomination the name of Senator Aaron Bean of the 4th Senatorial District.

Senator Brandes: I am excited to nominate my friend, Aaron Bean, to be the next President Pro Tempore of the Florida Senate. Navigating the ship of state is not a journey to be undertaken alone, and we are honored to be joined by Senator Bean's family.

I am someone who believes that God gives us all a finite amount of good luck in our lives, and Aaron spent all of his up front when he met Abby. Abby has the distinction of not only being Aaron's wife, but also the sister of Rob Bradley and sister-in-law of Jen Bradley, which means for her there is literally nowhere to turn without talking politics.

One of the great joys of the Florida Senate is watching our kids grow up. Aaron and Abby have three sons, and if you want Aaron to light up, start talking about his boys Gray, Walker, and Bradley.

Aaron has three qualities that make him the ideal person for the role as Pro Tempore of the Florida Senate:

Aaron has dedicated his life to public service. Like his father before him, he started in local government, rising to Mayor of Fernadina Beach. After an eight-year tour in the Florida House, Aaron joined the Florida Senate and quickly took on some of the most challenging committee assignments. Aaron has the experience to lead the Florida Senate as an auctioneer.

Aaron has a passion for people, whether it is in public service, working with his local hospital, or leading over 500 galas and events where he has raised over 30 million dollars for charity. Aaron's passion for people is the shining example of why he is the perfect person to help navigate the ship of the state.

Finally, Aaron has a joy and humor about him. You may not know this, but Aaron owned one of the finest golf courses in Florida: the Amelia Island Putt-Putt. He still holds the record of the lowest score on the nine holes with a ten. You will find as he helps lead the chamber that he will keep bills moving and the room filled with laughter as we work through the next few months.

His joy in this process and life overall makes me confident that no matter what happens over the next two years, we will enjoy the journey.

Senators, it is my honor to nominate my friend, Senator Aaron Bean, to be the next Pro Tempore of the Florida Senate.

The President recognized Senator Stargel who seconded the nomination of Senator Bean. **Senator Stargel**: You probably all remember the first time that you met the man, the myth, the legend that is Aaron Bean. "A-A-Ron" came into this process in 2000. You remember those recounts and all that happened. Now he's coming into his last term during the time of COVID—so, everything this man does is memorable.

I'm sure most of your minds go back to the first time you met him-his wit, his fun, flamboyant spirit that can make even the most ordinary occasion seem extraordinary. The enthusiasm and excitement that he brings to the most mundane pieces of legislation, like the time he stood up and said, "Hey, can you give me a 'U'? Can you give me a 'C'? Can you give me another 'C'? What is that ladies and gentlemen? That is the UCC!" That was a bill talking about the Uniform Commercial Codeone of the most boring pieces of legislation in the Florida Senate. Or how about the experience of having your bill before his committee and presenting and passing your bill without even having to say a word because Chairman Bean has presented it all for you. You might have thought to yourself over the years after seeing him pull this off dozens of times, "Aaron Bean has got to be the greatest cheerleader you could have" and he is. Just ask his wife, Abby. You see, they both were cheerleaders at Jacksonville University and once you get to know them, you won't find it hard to believe that at all.

So how did I meet Aaron Bean? In 2002, my husband had been elected to the Florida House, two years after Aaron, and who do you suppose the Speaker sat my husband next to? The one and the only Aaron Bean. I remember watching them on the floor in deep discussion and I came home and asked John, "What were y'all talking about?" and he said, "We were debating who was going to debate."

Some of our favorite memories of the Bean family were going to various events with the families. When we first met, we had five schoolage children and the Bean's had their three sons. Abby and I were legislative spouses who cared about the process and were frequently here in Tallahassee with our families. So, while some members would be going to dinner at nice restaurants, where you were more likely to find the Bean's and the Stargel's, we were having pizza and playing games at the family Fun Station, and quite honestly enjoying that much more than going to a great dinner at Shula's—or back in those days, the awesome Silver Slipper. Then there was the time where on our family vacation, our van broke down in Jacksonville. The Beans dropped what they were doing, had the car towed to Abby's family's car dealership, and spent the whole evening having dinner with our family. There's not many people who would do that for us.

If I had to pick one word to describe Aaron Bean, I would say it's commitment. Aaron has a deep commitment to his faith and it drives the person that he is. Aaron has a deep commitment to his wife, Abby, and to his sons, Bradley—or should I say Commissioner Bradley Bean— and Gray and Walker, as well as to their extended Bean family. I know that Aaron knows full well that he would not be where he is today if it were not for the hard work and dedication of his wife, Abby. Abby stands beside him every step of the way. Abby's truly a remarkable woman, and thank you for sharing Aaron Bean with us.

Aaron Bean is committed to his constituents. I have witnessed him writing happy letters over the years. You don't stay in this process long unless you make the commitment to reach out and to care for the community and your constituents. He takes time to honor those in his community who have done something special and I know there are thousands of those letters hanging on the walls in homes all over Fernandina Beach and the greater Jacksonville area.

Aaron was also a champion dancer at some of his local community events so you might want to look that up on YouTube. Finally, Aaron Bean is committed to those of us in this room and to this process. He would give this job 110% to make each of us better at what we do. He is one of the most down to earth people you will ever meet. This is why he is the perfect person to serve as the President Pro Tempore. You see, he will be the cheerleader to help you when you need encouragement. He will take the rostrum and keep things moving in a way that all of us, and the citizens of Florida, will enjoy watching. He will be the person who will take the most mundane days and tasks and put more life and fun into them than this process has ever seen before he came to Tallahassee and, I daresay, will ever see after he is done here. For those reasons, I am honored to second the nomination of Aaron Bean for President Pro Tempore of the Florida Senate.

MOTION

On motion by Senator Gruters, nominations for President Pro Tempore were closed.

ELECTION OF PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE

The roll was called on the election of the President Pro Tempore, and each Senator voted in the affirmative by saying, "Aaron Bean."

The vote was:

Yeas-37

Albritton	Diaz	Pizzo
Ausley	Farmer	Polsky
Baxley	Gainer	Powell
Berman	Garcia	Rodriguez
Book	Gibson	Rouson
Boyd	Gruters	Stargel
Bracy	Harrell	Stewart
Bradley	Hooper	Taddeo
Brandes	Hutson	Thurston
Braynon	Jones	Torres
Broxson	Mayfield	Mr. President
Burgess	Passidomo	
Cruz	Perry	

OATH OF OFFICE ADMINISTERED

Senator Bean was joined by his wife, Abby, at the bar of the Senate where the oath of office was administered by The Honorable Charles T. Canady, Florida Supreme Court Chief Justice.

The President invited President Pro Tempore Bean to join him at the rostrum.

President Simpson: It was an easy pick for Senator "A-A-Ron" Bean. I was gonna say, "A-A-Ron," during the official count, but I didn't want to throw anybody off because y'all know how that skit goes. Aaron and I have been roommates for at least the last six or seven years seems like maybe 20 years, right?

I want to tell one funny story because this is how me and Aaron go. So, we see each other very little, it is like ships passing in the dark. Depending on what night it is, I'll get in at 11:00 p.m., and I am leaving at 4:00, 5:00, 6:00, 7:00 in the morning, and Aaron is normally right behind me. So, we had our first year, maybe it was year two or three of service, we are there and we had a six pack of beer put in the refrigerator because if you have an apartment you might have guests over and you might have a wine or a beer at some point or some time. So, after about three or four years we looked at each other and said, "You know, nobody drinks beers." We hadn't had a guest or a beer drunk in three or four years, maybe we should just get rid of that out of the refrigerator since it expired two years ago. There was one beer in that entire timeframe that was drunk there and it was by former Senator Bradley. We should have invited him over at least five more times then we would have gotten that thing taken care of.

Aaron is a true leader amongst us. He has a bubbly personality. When we were elected and we got up here and I had never served before and Aaron would greet us, "Good morning, Senators!" Aaron has been an awesome partner in this process. He has been a good friend. His wife, Abby, has been a good friend. I am not going to tell stories that I could tell about her today. We are really very proud, Aaron, that you are going to be the next President Pro Tempore of the Florida Senate.

ADDRESS BY PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE AARON BEAN

Thank you President Simpson and Senators for this tremendous honor. Thank you Senator Brandes and Senator Stargel for your kind words. Fellow Senators, I stand before you today humbled for the opportunity to serve you and the citizens of the great State of Florida. When we first ran for the Legislature in 1999, our three sons Bradley, Gray, and Walker were known as the "Bean sprouts." Two were in diapers and our oldest, Bradley, was five. I am grateful to each of them for their support. All the sprouts are taller than me now, and Bradley was just elected to the City Commission of Fernandina Beach.

Just a moment ago, I talked about the importance of first times. Well, there are also last times. For the Senate class of 2012, including President Simpson, Senators Gibson, Stargel, and Brandes, this is our last two years in the Florida Senate. Senator Hukill was to be with us, but the Lord called her home earlier than we expected. Sometimes, we never know when the last time will be.

I am here before you today because my parents lived that uniquely American dream of moving to Florida. My parents moved from Kentucky to Florida in 1950. My dad had already served his country. He crossed the ocean and arrived on the beaches of Normandy on day five of the D-Day invasion and spent his 19th birthday carrying a machine gun across Europe while getting a Purple Heart. But, my mom had not traveled and had never even seen the ocean. So, when my dad was offered the opportunity to teach at Fernandina Beach Junior High School, they jumped at the chance to raise their family in the Sunshine State.

When my father arrived at his shop class, he was surprised to find that there were no class materials. Instead of thinking about what might have been, he decided, "Let's make the best with what we have." So, my dad had students bring in something broken from home, and together the class worked to fix each item. From kitchen chairs, vacuum cleaners, to a grandfather clock, students got a hands-on lesson on maintenance. So many of his former students would tell me that class was one of their favorites. I believe that the greatest lesson we can learn is making things work with what we have.

Now, when I say raise a family, I mean it. I am the last of nine children. Somehow they kept us all fed and clothed on a teacher's salary. We lost my 94-year-old mom in April of this year. What I said at her service—that no one was allowed to attend—was one of the reasons she was amazing was I never knew we were poor until I got to college.

My parents were part of the Greatest Generation. The generation that saved the world from tyranny, came home to build families and businesses, and made our country the greatest in the world. In those times, instead of complaining, people just forged on, knowing that if they worked hard and made the best out of what they had, the American Dream would be a reality for them and for their families.

My fellow Senators, those days are here again. We are in the midst of a pandemic that has wrought pain and suffering on families, businesses, and our American way of life. We have literally walked through the "valley of the shadow of death." So, for me, during my last term in the Senate, my focus will be on making the best out of what we have. We have a college and university system ranked as the best in the nation. As my parents knew, we have some of the most beautiful beaches and parks in the world. We have a diverse economy other states dream about. Just as it was for my parents and grandparents, Florida remains a beautiful dream for many across our country. Can you imagine how many people save all year long just to come and spend one week in Florida? And we live here. We have been through the valley, but now we will go to the mountain and climb it, as a team.

Just as it was for many of our parents and grandparents, Florida remains that beautiful dream for many across our country. Can you imagine how many people save all year long just to come and spend one week in Florida? And we live here.

As we embark on what for some is their first time, and for some will be their last time, let's work together with what we have. Let's keep Florida the symbol of the American Dream, the best place to enjoy our freedom as we live, work, raise a family, start a business, or retire. We are a resilient state, and the best is yet to come! I look forward to serving with you over the next two years, Senators. Let's go get 'em.

RECOGNITION OF SERGEANT AT ARMS

The President recognized Senator Book who introduced the Senate Sergeant at Arms, Damien Kelly.

Senator Book: It is with great honor I now recognize our brand new Sergeant at Arms, Damien Kelly. Sergeant Kelly comes to our Florida Senate during very, very challenging times as we've talked about this morning. He is without a doubt the right man—person—for this job to bring security to this chamber and to these halls.

During his time at FDLE, Sergeant Kelly led protective operations accepting both domestic and international assignments. He became an expert in firearm certification and proficiency, surveillance, and protective operations, as well as gang investigation and interrogation. And, if you're not already terribly impressed and maybe a little bit intimidated by our new Sergeant, he played Division I soccer for Eastern Illinois where he was inducted into their Hall of Fame. And he's a threetime All-American. He'll protect us physically, but our egos may get quite bruised if we try to challenge him on the soccer field.

Not only is Sergeant Kelly highly skilled and highly experienced, but he is true salt of the earth. I got to spend time with Sergeant Kelly when he became the Director of the Office of Safe Schools during the tragedy at the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School. I've never met a person more dedicated to keeping our children and our schools safe. He drove to every school, spoke to every administrator and every student that he could. He did more than what the job required, and he did it for the right reasons, bringing a steady calm and more commitment than I've ever seen. But doing more is a hallmark of this man that we now get to call Sergeant. Sergeant Kelly has served and protected the citizens of the State of Florida in many ways, for many years, always going above and beyond the call of duty, whether in the field of public safety or on the soccer field. He is what one would call "an overachiever," and we are very lucky to have him.

Mr. President, thank you for bringing Sergeant Kelly's leadership, precision, and commitment to the Florida Senate. He is undoubtedly the right person to protect this institution and each and every one of us during these very, very trying times.

Sergeant Kelly, it has been an honor to get to know you, and it's a pleasure to get to work with you again. Thank you for all that you've done, for all that you will do. We're not just lucky to have you, we are lucky and honored for your service.

COMMUNICATION

By direction of the President, the Secretary read the following communication by the Minority (Democratic) Office:

Debbie Brown, Secretary The Florida Senate November 16, 2020

Dear Madam Secretary:

This memo will certify that the Senate Democratic Caucus met today for the purpose of electing a Democratic Leader and Democratic Leader Pro Tempore. The Caucus has elected Senator Gary M. Farmer, Jr. as the Democratic Leader for the 2020-2022 term and Senator Bobby Powell as the Democratic Leader Pro Tempore for the 2020-2022 term.

The President recognized Senator Farmer for brief remarks.

Senator Farmer: Welcome Senators. There is an old Chinese proverb, ironically, that says, "May you live in interesting times." Certainly, we find ourselves in interesting times today. Even before January, we faced numerous challenges in this state, but then COVID arrived and the challenges became unprecedented. The prospect of containing a deadly disease while still operating a stable economy and providing essential services that so many Floridians need is not something that Florida has faced at this scale in our history. In the coming weeks and months, we will be charged with the daunting task of balancing our budget while also providing access to services so many people need and, simultaneously, ensuring the health and safety of, not only all Floridians, but those who visit this touristbased state. Only by putting aside partisan divisions and working together will we be able to strike the balance necessary to ensure that all Floridians are protected. As human beings, we are charged with caring for our communities, but as Senators, we are empowered to deliver that care. It is moments in history like this that we must come together.

Our Vice President-elect Harris recently said, "Our unity is our strength and diversity is our power." Certainly, we live in probably the most diverse state in this country, and we all bring diverse and different ideas and solutions for the problems and challenges we face. But, if we are united in the common goal of providing for the health, safety, and prosperity of all Floridians, we will find great success. Mr. President, I look forward to working with you. I look forward to working with all the Senators. I welcome all of our new Senators, welcome our returning Senators, and, together, I know we will do great things.

ADOPTION OF RULES

On motion by Senator Passidomo, the Rules were adopted to govern the Senate for the ensuing two years.

On motion by Senator Passidomo, the Secretary was authorized to make any technical and conforming changes to the 2020-2022 Senate Rules.

SENATE RULES

RULE ONE

OFFICERS, SENATORS, EMPLOYEES, AND ETHICS

PART ONE-SENATE OFFICERS

1.1—Election of the President, President Pro Tempore, President Designate, President Pro Tempore Designate, Minority Leader, and Minority Leader Pro Tempore; designation of Majority Leader

(1) A President and a President Pro Tempore shall be elected for a term of two (2) years at the organization session. They shall take an oath to support the *Constitution of the United States* and the *Constitution of the State of Florida*, and for the true and faithful discharge of the duties of office.

See Rule 5.6—Election by ballot. See FLA. CONST. art. II, s. 5 Public officers. See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 2 Members; officers. See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 3(a) Sessions of the legislature.

(2) The Majority Party may, by caucus called by the President, elect a President Designate and a President Pro Tempore Designate whose names shall be certified to the Secretary. The President may designate a Majority Leader whose name shall be certified to the Secretary.

(3) The Minority Party may, by caucus, elect a Minority Leader and a Minority Leader Pro Tempore whose names shall be certified to the Secretary at the organization session.

(4) All elected officers shall hold office until their successors are chosen and qualified or until the expiration of their term, whichever shall occur first.

See Rule 1.7(3)—Resignation of the President.

1.2-The President calls the Senate to order; informal recess

The President shall call the Senate to order at the hour provided by these Rules or at the hour established by the Senate at its last sitting. A quorum being present, the President shall direct the Senate to proceed with the Daily Order of Business. The President may informally recess the Senate for periods of time not to exceed **thirty (30) minutes**.

See Rule 6.2(1)(c)—Motion to recess.

1.3-The President's control of Chamber, corridors, and rooms

The President shall preserve order and decorum and shall have general control of the Chamber, corridors, passages, and rooms of the Senate whether in the Capitol or elsewhere. If there is a disturbance, the President may order the area cleared.

1.4—The President's authority and signature; questions of order; travel

(1) The President shall sign all acts, joint resolutions, resolutions, and memorials. No writ, warrant, subpoena, contract binding the Senate, authorization for payment, or other papers shall issue without the signature of the President. The President may delegate signing authority for the authorization of payments. The President shall approve vouchers.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 7 Passage of bills.

 $(2)\;$ The President shall decide all questions of order, subject to an appeal by any Senator.

See Rule 8.2—Presiding officer's power of recognition. See Rule 8.9—Appeals. See Rule 8.10—Appeals debatable. See Rule 11.1—Interpretation of Rules.

(3) The President is authorized to incur and approve travel and per diem expenses for sessions of the Legislature. The President shall assign duties and sign requisitions pertaining to legislative expenses incurred in transacting Senate business as authorized. The President shall have responsibility for Senate property and may delegate specific duties or authority pertaining thereto.

(4) The President may authorize or retain counsel to initiate, defend, intervene in, or otherwise participate in any suit on behalf of the Senate, a Senate committee, a Senator (whether in the legal capacity of Senator or taxpayer), a former Senator, or a Senate officer or employee when such suit is determined by the President to be of significant interest to the Senate and when it is determined by the President that the interests of the Senate would not otherwise be adequately represented. Expenses incurred for legal services in such proceedings may be paid upon approval of the President.

1.5—The President's appointment of committees

(1) The President appoints members to all standing committees, standing subcommittees, ad hoc committees, and select committees. The President also appoints the Senate members of conference committees, joint committees, and joint select committees.

See Rule 2.1—Standing committees; standing subcommittees; select subcommittees.

See Rule 2.19—Conference committee in deliberation; reports.

See Rule 2.20—Appointment of chair and vice chair.

See Rule 2.26—Vice chair's duties.

(2) Any member removed from a committee without his or her consent shall have the right to appeal such removal to the Rules Committee. Findings or recommendations from the Rules Committee regarding an appeal may be reported to the President.

1.6-The President's vote

The President or temporary presiding Senator shall not be required to vote in legislative proceedings, except on final passage of a measure. In all yea and nay votes, the President's name shall be called last.

See Rule 1.39—Disclosure of conflict of interest and prohibition on voting thereon.

1.7—The President's absence from the chair; duties of President Pro Tempore

(1) The President may name any Senator to perform the duties of the chair during a sitting.

 $(2)\,$ If for any reason the President is absent and fails to name a Senator, the President Pro Tempore shall assume the duties of the chair.

(3) If the President resigns, he or she may, prior to resignation, designate a member of his or her party to assume the duties of the chair until a permanent successor is elected.

See Rule 1.1(4)—Part One—Senate Officers.

(4) In the event the chair is vacated permanently, nothing herein shall preclude the Senate from electing a presiding officer. If the chair is vacated permanently during a session of the Legislature, a new presiding officer must be elected within seven (7) days of the vacancy. If the chair is vacated permanently while the Legislature is not in session, the President's designee shall, by proclamation, convene the Senate independently no later than thirty (30) days after the vacancy for the sole purpose of electing a new presiding officer. The election shall be the Senate's first order of business. In the event that a designation is not made pursuant to subsection (3) of this Rule, the President Pro Tempore shall assume the duties of the designee in convening the Senate to elect a new presiding officer.

1.8-Election of the Senate Secretary

(1) The Senate shall elect a Secretary to serve at its pleasure. A staff of assistants shall be employed to regularly transact such business as required by law, by Senate Rules, or as assigned by the President. The Secretary shall take an oath to support the *Constitution of the United States* and the *Constitution of the State of Florida*, and for the true and faithful discharge of the duties of office.

See FLA. CONST. art. II, s. 5(b) Public officers. See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 2 Members; officers.

(2) The Secretary shall be under the supervision of the President, who may assign additional duties to the Secretary. In the event of a vacancy in the position of Secretary, the President may appoint someone to perform the duties of the office until the Senate, by its vote, fills the vacancy.

(3) The Secretary shall be the Senate enrolling and engrossing clerk and may designate staff to assist with the duties of the office.

1.9-Duties of the Secretary at organization session

If the President and the President Pro Tempore of the preceding session are absent or are no longer members, the Secretary shall, at the organization session of the Legislature, call the Senate to order. Pending the election of a President or a President Pro Tempore, the Secretary shall preserve order and decorum, and decide all questions of order subject to appeal by any Senator. The duties prescribed by this section may be delegated by the Secretary to any Senator or to the immediate past President or immediate past President Pro Tempore.

1.10-Duties of the Secretary generally; keeps Journal

(1) The Secretary shall keep a correct daily Journal of Senate proceedings. The Journal shall be numbered serially from the first (1st) day of each session of the Legislature and shall be made available by the Secretary for the information of the Legislature and the public.

(2) The Secretary shall superintend the engrossing, enrolling, and transmitting of bills, resolutions, and memorials.

(3) The Secretary shall keep under seal a separate Journal of the proceedings of the executive sessions of the Senate.

(4) The Secretary shall not permit any official records or papers belonging to the Senate to be removed from the custody of the Secretary other than in the regular course of business and with proper receipt.

1.11-The Secretary prepares daily calendar

The Secretary shall prepare a daily calendar that shall set forth:
(a) The order of business;

- (b) The committee report on each bill, i.e., whether favorable, favorable with committee amendments, or favorable with committee substitute;
- (c) The status of each bill, i.e., whether on second (2nd) reading, third (3rd) reading, or unfinished business;
- (d) Notices of committee meetings; and
- (e) Notices of meetings required pursuant to Rule 1.45.

(2) The Secretary shall publish the daily calendar for the information of the Legislature and the public.

See Rule 1.45—Written notice required for certain meetings.

1.12—The Secretary reads papers; calls roll; records votes

The Secretary shall have read to the Senate all papers ordered to be read; note responses of Senators when the roll is called to determine the presence of a quorum; call the roll verbally or by electronic roll call and record the votes when a question is taken by yeas and nays; and assist, under the direction of the President, in taking the count when any Senate vote is taken by a show of hands or otherwise.

See Rule 5.1—Taking the yeas and nays; objection to voting conflicts.

1.13—The Secretary attests to warrants, subpoenas, and the passage of all measures

The Secretary shall attest to all writs, warrants, and subpoenas issued by order of the Senate and shall attest to the passage of all bills, resolutions, and memorials.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 7 Passage of bills.

1.14—The Secretary prepares forms

The Secretary shall prepare all forms used by the Senate.

1.15—The Secretary examines legal form of bills for introduction and reference

 $(\underline{1})$ Before issuing a bill number, the Secretary shall examine measures on their tender for introduction and shall determine whether they meet the requirements of law and of these Rules. The Secretary shall direct the attention of the introducer to apparent defects, but the introducer shall be exclusively responsible for the constitutional and legal correctness of the bill.

(2) The review of a bill that appears to be local in nature shall be performed by the Secretary to determine whether such measure is local in nature for reference purposes and whether it responds to the legal requirements of a local bill.

(3) A bill is local in nature for referencing purposes if it does not substantially alter a law of general application throughout the state and it either affects no more than one (1) county or relates to a special district that is located wholly within no more than two (2) counties.

(4) When the Secretary, through staff review, has determined that the bill is not local in nature for referencing purposes, the Secretary shall report such determination to the President, who shall refer such bill to an appropriate standing committee for hearing. Such report shall be made within fifteen (15) days from date of receipt by the Secretary. When the Secretary, through staff review, has determined that a bill is local in nature for referencing purposes and that it responds to the legal requirements of a local bill, the bill shall be available for the calendar on local bills notwithstanding Rule 4.31.

See Rule 3.1—Form of bills.

See Rule 3.7—Bill filing deadline during regular session; bill filing between regular sessions; exceptions.

1.16—The Secretary supervises information technology operations; indexes bills

The Secretary shall supervise Senate information technology operations and maintain a numerical index of bills and a cumulative index by introducers.

1.17—The Secretary transmits bills to the House of Representatives

Unless otherwise directed by the President, the Secretary shall transmit all bills, joint resolutions, concurrent resolutions, and appropriate memorials to the House of Representatives without delay. Each measure shall be accompanied by a message stating the title to the measure being transmitted and requesting the concurrence of the House.

See Rule 6.8-Reconsideration; Secretary to hold for period.

1.18—The Secretary receives and delivers for reading messages from the House of Representatives; summaries of House amendments to Senate bills

(1) The Secretary shall receive all messages from the House of Representatives and shall be responsible for their security. The Secretary shall have them available for reading to the Senate during the appropriate order of business.

(2) All messages reflecting House amendments to Senate bills shall be reviewed by the appropriate committees for research and summary. Special notice of the summaries shall be made available to each Senator.

(3) The President shall be informed by the Chair of the Rules Committee when a House amendment to a Senate bill substantially changes or materially alters the bill as passed by the Senate. The President may refer such bill and House amendments to an appropriate committee or committees for hearing and further report to the Senate. Upon such reference by the President, committee or committees of reference shall meet on a date and at a time set by the President and shall make a report to the Senate recommending action on the relevant House amendments. The report may be received when the message is reached under Messages from the House of Representatives.

PART TWO-SENATORS

1.20-Attendance, voting, and disclosure of conflicts

(1) Unless excused for just cause or necessarily prevented, every Senator shall be within the Senate Chamber during its sittings and in attendance at all assigned committee meetings.

(2) A Senator who is in the Chamber or in a committee meeting shall vote on each question, except as provided in Rule 1.6.

(3) However, a Senator shall abstain from voting if, in the Senator's judgment, a vote on a question would constitute a conflict of interest as defined in Rule 1.39. A Senator who abstains from voting shall file the disclosure required by Rule 1.39.

See Rule 1.39—Disclosure of conflict of interest and prohibition on voting thereon.

See Rule 2.27—Members' attendance, voting; proxy and poll votes prohibited.

See Rule 2.28-Taking the vote; post-meeting record of missed vote.

1.21—Excused absence

The President may excuse a Senator from attending a sitting of the Senate or any meetings of Senate committees for any stated period. An excused absence from a sitting of the Senate shall be noted in the Journal.

1.22—Senate papers left with Secretary

A Senator necessarily absent from a sitting of the Senate or meeting of its committees and having in his or her possession official papers relating to Senate business shall leave such papers with the Secretary before leaving the Capitol.

1.23-Senators deemed present unless excused

A Senator who answers the quorum roll call at the opening of a sitting or who enters after such roll call and announces his or her presence to the Senate shall thereafter be considered present unless excused by the President.

1.24—Contested seat

If a Senate seat is contested, notice stating the grounds of such contest shall be delivered by the contestant to the Senate Secretary prior to the day of the organization session of the Legislature; and the contest shall be determined by **majority vote** as soon as reasonably possible. The President shall appoint a Credentials Committee to be composed of not more than ten (10) members who shall consider the question and report their recommendations to the President, who shall inform the Senate. If a Credentials Committee submits its final report and recommendations to the President when the Legislature is not in session, the President may convene the Senate independently for the sole purpose of deciding a seating contest.

See Rule 1.7—The President's absence from the chair; duties of President Pro Tempore.

1.25—Facilities for Senators

Each Senator shall be entitled to facilities and expenses that are necessary and expedient to the fulfillment of the duties of the office, the location and sufficiency of which shall be determined by the President.

1.26-Nonlegislative activities; approval of the President

No Senator shall accept appointments to nonlegislative committees, commissions, or task forces without prior approval of the President if travel and per diem expenses are to be taken from Senate funds.

PART THREE—SENATE EMPLOYEES

1.28—Dismissal of employees; employment of a spouse or immediate relative

(1) The President shall resolve disputes involving the competency or decorum of a Senate employee, and may terminate the services of an employee. At the President's discretion, the issue may be referred to the Rules Committee for its recommendation. The pay of an employee so terminated shall stop on the termination date.

(2) A Senator's spouse or immediate relatives may serve in any authorized position. However, they shall not receive compensation for services performed, except as a participant in the Florida Senate Page Program.

1.29-Employees forbidden to lobby

No employee of the Senate shall directly or indirectly interest or concern himself or herself with the passage or consideration of any matter whatsoever. Violation of this Rule by an employee shall be grounds for summary dismissal. This Rule shall not preclude the performance of duties that may be properly delegated to a Senator's legislative assistant.

1.30-Duties and hours

Employees shall perform the duties assigned to them by the President and required of them by Rule and policy of the Senate. When the Senate is in session, employees shall remain on duty as required. When the Senate is not in session, permanent staff of the Senate shall observe the hours of employment set by the President. Part-time employees and Senators' district staff shall observe hours that are prescribed by their respective department head or Senator.

1.31—Absence without permission

If employees are absent without prior permission, except for just cause, their employment shall be terminated or their compensation forfeited for the period of absence as determined by the President.

1.32—Employee political activity

The political activity of Senate employees shall be regulated pursuant to Senate Administrative Policies and Procedures promulgated by the President.

PART FOUR-LEGISLATIVE CONDUCT AND ETHICS

1.35-Legislative conduct; the public trust

Every Senator shall conduct himself or herself in a manner that promotes respect for the law, upholds the honor, integrity, and independence of the Senate, and justifies the confidence placed in him or her by the people.

(1) By personal example and admonition to his or her colleagues, every Senator shall avoid unethical or illegal conduct.

(2) Every Senator shall maintain his or her offices and the Senate generally as safe professional environments that are free from unlawful employment discrimination, including but not limited to harassment or retaliation.

1.36—Improper influence

A Senator shall not accept anything that will improperly influence his or her official act, decision, or vote.

1.361—Solicitation or acceptance of contributions; registration and disclosure requirements

(1) During any regular legislative session, extended session, or special session, a Senator may not directly or indirectly solicit, cause to be solicited, or accept any contribution on behalf of either the Senator's own campaign, any organization described under section 527 or section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code, any political committee, any political party, or the campaign of any candidate for the Senate; however, a Senator may contribute to his or her own campaign.

(2) Any fundraising activity otherwise prohibited during an extended or special session by subsection (1) shall not be considered a violation of this Rule and may take place provided that it can be shown that the event was already scheduled prior to the issuance of the proclamation, resolution, or other communiqué extending the session or convening a special session.

(3) Any Senator who directly or indirectly solicits, causes to be solicited, or accepts any contribution on behalf of any organization described under section 527 or section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code, or any political committee must immediately disclose such activity to, and register with, the Rules Committee. However, no registration is required as a result of a Senator's solicitation or acceptance of contributions on behalf of his or her own campaign, a campaign for any other office, or a political party. A Senator shall promptly create a public website that contains a mission statement for such organization, the names of the Senators associated with that organization, and disclosure of contributions received by and expenditures made by the organization.

(4) Upon a determination that a Senator has violated this Rule, the President may refer the question of disciplinary action to the Rules Committee for a recommendation. Upon receipt of the Rules Committee recommendation, the President shall decide upon appropriate action.

1.37—Conflicting employment

A Senator shall not allow his or her personal employment to impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of his or her official duties.

1.38—Undue influence

A Senator shall not use his or her influence as a Senator in any issue that involves substantial conflict between his or her personal interest and his or her duties in the public interest.

1.39—Disclosure of conflict of interest and prohibition on voting thereon

(1) Abstention on matters of special private gain or loss.—A Senator may not vote on any matter that the Senator knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of the Senator. The Senator must disclose the nature of the interest in the matter from which the Senator is required to abstain. (2) Disclosure on matters of special private gain or loss to family or principals.—When voting on any matter that the Senator knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of:

- (a) 1. Any principal by whom the Senator or the Senator's spouse, parent, or child is retained or employed;
 - Any parent organization or subsidiary of a corporate principal by which the Senator is retained or employed; or
 - 3. An immediate family member or business associate of the Senator,

the Senator must disclose the nature of the interest of such person in the outcome of the vote.

- (b) For the purpose of this Rule, the term:
 - 1. "Immediate family member" means any father, mother, son, daughter, husband, wife, brother, sister, father-inlaw, mother-in-law, son-in-law, or daughter-in-law.
 - 2. "Business associate" means any person or entity engaged in or carrying on a business enterprise with the Senator as a partner, joint venturer, corporate shareholder where the shares of such corporation are not listed on any national or regional stock exchange, or coowner of property.

(3) Methods of disclosure.—If the vote is taken on the floor, disclosure under this Rule or under any related law shall be accomplished by filing with the Secretary a memorandum the substance of which shall be printed in the Journal. If the vote is taken in a committee or subcommittee, the memorandum shall be filed with the committee or subcommittee administrative assistant, who shall file such memorandum in the committee or subcommittee files and with the Secretary. A Senator shall make every reasonable effort to file a memorandum pursuant to this Rule prior to the vote. If it is not possible to file the memorandum prior to the vote, then the memorandum must be filed immediately but not more than fifteen (15) days after the vote. The Secretary shall also make all memoranda filed pursuant to this Rule available online.

(4) Exception.—Notwithstanding this Rule, a Senator may vote on the General Appropriations Act or related implementing legislation without providing any disclosure. However, a Senator must follow the provisions of this Rule when specific appropriations or amendments are considered for inclusion in the General Appropriations Act or related implementing legislation.

See Rule 1.20-Attendance, voting, and disclosure of conflicts.

1.40-Ethics and conduct training

Prior to the opening day of a regular session in odd-numbered years, all Senators shall complete a course of at least four (4) hours in length which addresses the requirements of law under the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees, open meetings, public records, and any other subject approved by the President. Prior to the opening day of every regular session, all Senators shall complete a course of at least one (1) hour in length which addresses workplace harassment, sexual harassment, sensitivity, and the proper handling of such issues in the workplace. Senators filling a vacant seat at a special election after opening day shall complete the course within fourteen (14) days of election.

1.41-Senate employees and conflicts

Senate employees shall conduct themselves consistent with the intent of these Rules regulating legislative conduct and ethics.

1.42—Advisory opinions

Questions from Senators relating to the interpretation and enforcement of Rules regulating legislative conduct and ethics shall be referred to the Senate General Counsel and shall emanate therefrom. A Senator may submit a factual situation to the Senate General Counsel with a request for an advisory opinion establishing the standard of public duty. The Senate General Counsel shall enter an opinion responding to each inquiry on which a Senator may reasonably rely. No opinion shall identify the requesting Senator without the Senator's consent.

1.43-Violations; investigations, penalties

(1) Any person may file a sworn complaint with the Rules Chair, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair, alleging a violation by a Senator of the Rules regulating legislative conduct and ethics. The complainant shall also file a copy of the sworn complaint with the Senate General Counsel.

The complaint shall be based on personal knowledge, shall state detailed facts, shall specify the actions of the named Senator which form the basis for the complaint, shall attach all documentation on which the complaint is based, and shall identify the specific Rule alleged by the complainant to have been violated by the Senator.

See Rule 1.48(8)(b)-Legislative records.

- (a) Upon a determination by the Rules Chair, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair, that the complaint fails to state facts supporting a finding of a violation of the Senate Rules, the complaint shall be dismissed.
- (b) Upon a determination by the Rules Chair, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair, that the complaint states facts that, if true, would be a violation of the Senate Rules, the complaint shall be referred to a special master or select committee to determine probable cause. If a select committee is appointed, it shall be comprised of an odd number of members.
 - 1. The special master or select committee shall give reasonable notice to the Senator who is alleged to have violated the Rules, shall conduct an investigation, and shall grant the Senator an opportunity to be heard. A report and recommendation shall then be prepared.
 - 2. The report and recommendation is advisory only and shall be presented to the Rules Chair and the President as soon as practicable after the close of the investigation.
 - 3. If the report and recommendation conclude that the facts do not support a finding of probable cause, the complaint shall be dismissed by the Rules Chair, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair.
 - 4. If the complaint is not dismissed, another select committee will be appointed and shall consider the report and recommendation, shall grant the Senator an opportunity to be heard, and shall develop its own recommendation.
 - 5. If the select committee votes to dismiss the complaint, the chair shall dismiss the complaint.
 - 6. Otherwise, the report and recommendation and the recommendation of the select committee shall be presented to the President.
 - 7. The President shall present the committee's recommendation, along with the report and recommendation, to the Senate for final action.
- (c) The Rules Chair, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair, shall act within thirty (30) days of receipt of a complaint, unless a concurrent jurisdiction is conducting an investigation, in which case a decision may be deferred until such investigation is complete.
- (d) Nothing in this Rule prohibits a Rules Chair, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair, from allowing a Senator to correct or prevent an inadvertent, technical, or otherwise *de minimis* violation by informal means.
- (e) Nothing in this Rule prohibits the Rules Chair, a select committee appointed pursuant to this Rule, or the President when the complaint is against the Rules Chair, from recommending a consent decree if agreed to by the Senator. The decree shall state findings of fact and set forth an appropriate penalty. If the Senate accepts the consent decree, the complaint shall be deemed resolved.

(2) Separately from any prosecutions or penalties otherwise provided by law, a Senator determined to have violated the requirements of the Rules regulating legislative conduct and ethics may be admonished, censured, reprimanded, or expelled. Such determination and disciplinary action shall be taken by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of the Senate. (3) <u>Because</u> Since they may be asked to sit in judgment on an alleged violation of a Senate Rule, Senators should refrain from speaking <u>publicly publically</u> about the merits or substance of any such complaint.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(d) Quorum and procedure.

PART FIVE—PUBLIC MEETINGS AND RECORDS

1.44—Open meetings

(1) All meetings at which legislative business is discussed between more than two (2) members of the Legislature shall be open to the public except:

(a) At the sole discretion of the President:

- 1. After consultation with appropriate law enforcement, public health, emergency management, or security authorities, those portions of meetings of a select committee, ad hoc committee, committee, or subcommittee concerning measures to address security, espionage, sabotage, attack, and other acts of terrorism, or
- 2. For protection of a witness as required by law.
- (b) Discussions on the floor while the Senate is sitting and discussions among Senators in a committee room during committee meetings shall be deemed to comply with this Rule.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

(2) All meetings shall be subject to appropriate order and decorum at the discretion of the person conducting the meeting.

(3) For purposes of this Rule, "legislative business" is defined as issues pending before, or upon which foreseeable action is reasonably expected to be taken by, the Senate, a Senate committee, or a Senate subcommittee.

1.45-Written notice required for certain meetings

(1) A written notice of the following meetings at which legislative business is to be discussed shall be filed with the Secretary. While the Legislature is not in regular or special session and during the first fifty (50) days of a regular session, the notice shall be filed at least four (4) hours before the scheduled time of the meeting. After the fiftieth (50th) day of a regular session and during a special session, the notice shall be filed at least two (2) hours before the scheduled time of the meeting:

- (a) Meetings of the President (or a Senator designated to represent the President) with the Governor or with the Speaker (or a Representative designated to represent the Speaker);
- (b) Meetings of a **majority** of the Senators who constitute the membership of any Senate committee or subcommittee; and
- (c) Meetings called by the President or the President's designee of a majority of the chairs of the Senate's standing committees.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

(2) Notices of meetings required by Rule 1.45(1) shall be filed by or at the direction of the person at whose call the meeting is convened; shall state the date, time, and place of the meeting; shall contain a brief description of the general subject matter scheduled to be discussed. In the case of a meeting required to be noticed pursuant to this Rule, if the meeting is to take place at or after 10:00 p.m., then the notice must be delivered to the Secretary by 5:00 p.m. Notices of such meetings shall appear in the daily calendar.

(3) In the event the times required for notice under Rule 1.45(1) are not sufficient to permit publication in a daily or interim calendar, the Secretary shall publish on the Senate website and post on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda. The Secretary shall make a diligent effort to give actual notice to members of the media of all noncalendared meeting notices.

(4) Political caucuses shall be open to the public in accordance with Rule 1.44 and noticed in accordance with this Rule when legislative business then pending before, or upon which foreseeable action is reasonably expected to be taken by, the Senate, a Senate committee, or a Senate subcommittee are discussed. Political caucuses held for the sole purpose of designating a President, a President Pro Tempore, a Minority Leader, or a Minority Leader Pro Tempore need not be open or noticed.

1.46—Constitutional requirements concerning open meetings

(1) All legislative committee and subcommittee meetings and joint conference committee meetings shall be open and noticed to the public.

(2) All prearranged gatherings between more than two (2) members of the Legislature, or between the Governor, the President, or the Speaker, the purpose of which is to agree upon formal legislative action that will be taken at a subsequent time, or at which formal legislative action is taken, regarding pending legislation or amendments shall be reasonably open to the public.

(3) In the event of conflict between this Rule and any other Senate Rule, the Rule providing greater notice or public access shall prevail.

See Rule 2.13—Open meetings. See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

1.47—Reapportionment information

All Senators shall have equal access to the Senate electronic redistricting system, census data, and all other information promulgated by, maintained by, or available to any Senate standing committee or subcommittee appointed for the analysis of legislative and congressional redistricting plans.

1.48—Legislative records; maintenance, control, destruction, disposal, fee for copies, and disposition

(1) Public records, not exempted from public disclosure, may be inspected by any person desiring to do so at reasonable times, under reasonable conditions, and under supervision of the person who has custody of the records, or that person's designee.

See FLA. CONST. art. I, s. 24(a) Access to public records and meetings.

(2) The following standing committee, standing subcommittee, ad hoc committee, and select committee public records, not exempted from public disclosure, shall be retained electronically by each staff director until transferred by the Secretary to the Division of Library and Information Services of the Department of State via its Legislative Library Division: copies of bills, amendments, vote sheets, bill analyses, and fiscal notes; meeting files including agendas and appearance cards; files relating to assigned projects; final staff reports submitted to subcommittees or committees; final reports submitted by subcommittees or committees; correspondence sent or received; and audio recordings of committee meetings. At the time of transfer, the actual correspondence to be sent to the Department of State shall consist only of correspondence which relates to other committee public records required by this Rule to be transferred. Records not transferred may be otherwise disposed of or destroyed.

(3) Except for records specifically required by law or Senate Rule to be filed or retained, district office records and constituents' records may be retained by the district office until those records become obsolete, at which point they may be otherwise disposed of or destroyed.

(4) Public records, not exempted from public disclosure, created or received by the President, President Pro Tempore, or Secretary shall be retained by that officer as specifically required by law or Senate Rule until transferred to the Division of Library and Information Services of the Department of State via its Legislative Library Division. Records not transferred may be otherwise disposed of or destroyed.

(5) The Secretary shall, with the approval of the President, establish a reasonable fee for copies of public legislative records not exempted from public disclosure. Such fees shall be based upon the actual cost of duplication of the record and shall include the material and supplies used to duplicate the record but not the labor cost or overhead cost associated with such duplication. If the nature or volume of records requested to be inspected or copied is such as to require extensive use of information technology resources or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance by employees of the Senate, a special service charge in addition to the actual cost of duplication may be imposed. Such special service charge shall be reasonable and based on the cost incurred for the extensive use of information technology resources or the labor cost of employees providing the service that is actually incurred by the Senate or attributable to the Senate for the clerical and supervisory assistance required.

(6) Once the retention period for a public record, not exempted from public disclosure, has expired, the public record may be otherwise disposed of or destroyed. A public record need not be retained if it is published or retained by another legislative office. Only one (1) copy of a public record need be retained; additional copies of that record may be destroyed at any time. In the case of mass mailings, only one (1) sample copy of the mailing, or an abstract, need be retained.

(7) For the purpose of this Rule, a Senator's district office shall include the offices each Senator retains for the transaction of official legislative business in his or her respective district and the assigned offices located in the Senate Building or the Capitol in Tallahassee.

(8) The following public records are exempt from inspection and copying:

- (a) Records, or information contained therein, held by the legislative branch of government which, if held by an agency as defined in section 119.011, *Florida Statutes*, or any other unit of government, would be confidential or exempt from the provisions of section 119.07(1), *Florida Statutes*, or otherwise exempt from public disclosure, and records or information of the same type held by the Legislature.
- (b) A formal complaint about a member or officer of the Legislature or about a lobbyist and the records relating to the complaint, until the complaint is dismissed, a determination as to probable cause has been made, a determination that there are sufficient grounds for review has been made and no probable cause panel is to be appointed, or the respondent has requested in writing that the President of the Senate or the Speaker of the House of Representatives make public the complaint or other records relating to the complaint, whichever occurs first.

See Rule 1.43—Violations; investigations, penalties.

- (c) A legislatively produced draft, and a legislative request for a draft, of a bill, resolution, memorial, or legislative rule, and an amendment thereto, which is not provided to any person other than the member or members who requested the draft, an employee of the Legislature, a contract employee or consultant retained by the Legislature, or an officer of the Legislature.
- (d) A draft of a report, bill analysis, fiscal note, report prepared by a contract employee or consultant retained by the Legislature or the Senate and materials in support thereof until the draft is provided to a person other than an employee of the Legislature, a contract employee or consultant retained by the Legislature, or an officer of the Legislature.
- (e) A draft, and a request for a draft, of a reapportionment plan or redistricting plan and an amendment thereto. Any supporting documents associated with such plan or amendment until a bill implementing the plan, or the amendment, is filed.
- (f) Records prepared for or used in executive sessions of the Senate until ten (10) years after the date on which the executive session was held.
- (g) Portions of records of former legislative investigating committees whose records are sealed or confidential as of June 30, 1993, which may reveal the identity of any witness, any person who was a subject of the inquiry, or any person referred to in testimony, documents, or evidence retained in the committees' records; however, this exemption does not apply to a member of the committee, its staff, or any public official who was not a subject of the inquiry.
- (h) Requests by members for an advisory opinion concerning the application of the rules of either house pertaining to ethics, unless the member requesting the opinion authorizes in writing the release of such information. All advisory opinions shall be open to inspection except that the identity of the member shall not be disclosed in the opinion unless

the member requesting the opinion authorizes in writing the release of such information.

(i) Portions of correspondence held by the legislative branch which, if disclosed, would reveal: information otherwise exempt from disclosure by law; an individual's medical treatment, history, or condition; the identity or location of an individual if there is a substantial likelihood that releasing such information would jeopardize the health or safety of that individual; or information regarding physical abuse, child abuse, spouse abuse, or abuse of the elderly.

(9) Any Senate record created prior to July 1, 1993, which was so designated by the President on June 30, 1993, shall remain exempt from inspection and copying after July 1, 1993. Records held by joint committees, commissions or offices of the Legislature, that were jointly determined by the presiding officers of both houses to remain exempt from inspection and copying after July 1, 1993, remain exempt.

(10) For purposes of this Rule, "public record" means all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, or other material, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by the legislative branch.

(11) All records, research, information, remarks, and staff work products, made or received during or in preparation for a closed meeting of a select committee, committee, or subcommittee, shall be confidential and exempt from inspection and copying for a period of thirty (30) days after the closed meeting, at which time they will automatically become legislative public records open to inspection and copying, unless the confidentiality and the prohibition against inspection and copying has, within the thirty-day (30) period, been extended by the President. Unless the above-listed confidential and exempt items have been earlier released by operation of this Rule, they shall automatically become available for public inspection and copying five (5) years after the date of the closed meeting, unless this confidentiality and exemption is further extended by the President for subsequent five-year (5) periods.

1.49-Violations of Rules on open meetings and notice

Violations of Rules 1.44 and 1.45 constitute violations of the Rules regulating legislative conduct and ethics and shall be subject to the procedures and penalties prescribed in Rule 1.43.

See Rule 1.43-Violations; investigations, penalties.

RULE TWO

COMMITTEES, OFFICERS, MEMBERS, VOTING, MOTIONS, DECORUM, AND DEBATE

PART ONE—COMMITTEES—ORGANIZATION, DUTIES, AND RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1—Standing committees; standing subcommittees; select subcommittees

(1) The following standing committees with standing subcommittees are created:

(a) Agriculture

- (b) Appropriations
 - 1. Appropriations Subcommittee on Agriculture, Environment, and General Government
 - 2. Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and Civil Justice
 - 3. Appropriations Subcommittee on Education
 - 4. Appropriations Subcommittee on Health and Human Services
 - 5. Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, Tourism, and Economic Development
- (c) Banking and Insurance
- (d) Children, Families, and Elder Affairs
- (e) Commerce and Tourism
- (f) Community Affairs
- (g) Criminal Justice
- (h) Education
- (i) Environment and Natural Resources
- (j) Ethics and Elections

(k) Finance and Tax

- (1) Governmental Oversight and Accountability
- (m) Health Policy
- (n) Infrastructure and Security
- (o) Innovation, Industry, and Technology
- (p) Judiciary
- (q) Military and Veterans Affairs and Space
- (r) Reapportionment
- (s) Rules

(2) Permanent standing committees and standing subcommittees, when created and designated by Senate Rule, shall exist and operate both during and between sessions. The President is authorized to create and designate permanent standing committees and standing subcommittees prior to the 2021 2019 Regular Session. The President shall inform the Minority Leader of the creation and designation of said committees. The Secretary of the Senate is directed to include the names of such committees in the published Senate Rules.

See Rule 1.5—The President's appointment of committees.

 $(3)\,$ No standing committee shall consist of fewer than five $(5)\,$ members.

(4) A select subcommittee may be appointed by a standing committee or the chair thereof, with prior approval of the President.

- (a) A select subcommittee may study or investigate a specific issue falling within the jurisdiction of the standing committee.
- (b) The President and the Secretary shall be promptly notified of the appointment of a select subcommittee, its assignment, and the time allowed for the assignment, and shall be notified on completion of the assignment.
- (c) Select subcommittees shall be governed by the Rules regulating standing subcommittees, except that a select subcommittee shall exist only for the time necessary to complete its assignment or thirty (30) days, whichever is less, unless extended by the President.
- (d) The advisory report by a select subcommittee whether favorable or unfavorable shall be reviewed by the standing committee and accepted, amended, or rejected by **majority vote** of those committee members present.

2.2—Powers and responsibilities of committees

(1) Permanent standing committees and standing subcommittees are authorized:

- (a) To maintain a continuous review of the work of the state agencies concerned with their subject areas and the performance of the functions of government within each subject area;
- (b) To invite public officials, employees, and private individuals to appear before the committees or subcommittees to submit information;
- (c) To request reports from departments performing functions reasonably related to the committees' jurisdictions; and
- (d) To complete the interim work assigned by the President.

(2) In order to carry out its duties, each standing committee or standing subcommittee has the reasonable right and authority to inspect and investigate the books, records, papers, documents, data, operation, and physical plant of any public agency in this state.

(3) In order to carry out the committee's duties, the chair of each standing committee, standing subcommittee, and select committee may request the President to issue subpoenas, subpoenas *duces tecum*, and other necessary process to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of any books, letters, or other documentary evidence required by such committee. The President may issue said process at the request of the committee chair. Any member of a standing committee, standing subcommittee, or select committee may administer all oaths and affirmations, in the manner prescribed by law, to witnesses who appear before such committees to testify in any matter requiring evidence.

2.4—Committee staffing

A committee shall be staffed with personnel, subject to guidelines and criteria authorized by the President. The staff shall also be subject to the pay and classification code of the Senate. The President may authorize joint utilization of personnel with the House of Representatives and may authorize the Senate to share in the cost.

2.6—Committee meeting notices; regular session and interim; day fifty (50) rule

(1) Senate committees shall submit a notice of meetings (including site visits and public hearings) as provided herein. Reference to committee meeting notices in these Rules shall include all standing committees, standing subcommittees, select committees, select subcommittees, and such other committees or subcommittees as may be created by the Senate.

(2) Committee meeting notices shall include the date, time, amendment deadline, and place of the meeting together with the name of the introducer, subject, and number of each bill to be taken up and other subjects to be considered.

(3) Notice of committee meetings shall be published in the daily calendar. No committee shall consider any bill during the first fifty (50) days of a regular session until proper notice has been published in three (3) weekday calendars, including the calendar published on the day of such committee meeting.

(4) If a weekend meeting is scheduled, notice of such meeting shall appear in three (3) daily calendars, including those published on the weekend days on which the meeting is held. However, a calendar published on a weekend shall not be included in the calculation of publication days for meetings taking place on Monday through Friday.

(5) Calendars published on the Friday and Monday immediately preceding the opening day of a regular session may be included in the calculation of the three-day (3) notice requirement for meetings held on the first (1st) and second (2nd) days of a regular session.

(6) After day fifty (50) of a regular session, meetings of standing committees, standing subcommittees, and select committees scheduled in accordance with Rule 2.10 may be held following an announcement by the chair of the committee or subcommittee or, in the chair's absence, the vice chair while the Senate is sitting. Notice shall be published on the Senate website and posted on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda four (4) hours in advance of the meeting. A committee meeting announced during a sitting may occur four (4) hours after notice of the meeting has been published on the Senate website and posted on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda. Such notices may be posted in advance of the oral announcement during the sitting.

(7) When the Legislature is not in session, committee meeting notices shall be filed with the Secretary at least seven (7) days prior to the meeting. The Secretary shall make the notice available to the membership and the public.

See Rule 2.9—Committee meetings; committee meetings after fiftieth (50th) day.

2.7-Bills recommitted for failure to provide proper notice

(1) A bill reported by a standing committee without proper notice shall be recommitted to the committee reporting the same on the point of order being made within two (2) sittings after such report is printed in the Journal, or the President may recommit such bill at any time. Once recommitted, the bill is available for consideration by the committee as if it had never been reported.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

(2) A bill reported by a standing subcommittee without proper notice shall be recommitted to the subcommittee reporting same on the point of order made during the standing committee meeting at which the bill was reported by the subcommittee. Once recommitted, the bill is available for consideration by the subcommittee as if it had never been reported.

2.8—Filing and publication of meeting notices

For publication in the daily calendar, notice of committee meetings shall be delivered to the Secretary's office in writing by $\frac{2:30}{2:30}$ p.m. on the day preceding its intended publication. If such day is a Friday, delivery shall be by 2:30 p.m.

2.9—Committee meetings; committee meetings after fiftieth (50th) day

(1) Each standing committee, standing subcommittee, and select committee shall consider the public business assigned to it as expeditiously as possible and proper.

(2) Unless approved by the President, no committee shall meet after the fiftieth (50th) day of a regular session except the Rules Committee.

2.10-Committee meeting schedules; time limits on meetings

(1) The President shall provide a schedule of days, hours, and places for the meeting of committees for the regular session and during the interim, and deliver a copy of same to each Senator. However, no committee shall meet before 7:00 a.m. or meet or continue to meet after 6:00 p.m.

(2) Each committee or subcommittee, standing or select, shall meet in the place and within the time assigned for its use by the President. Notice of such assignment shall be published on the Senate website and posted on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda. However, the President may authorize a committee or subcommittee to continue the meeting on the same day at a time and place determined by the President. The President may further authorize the meeting to go beyond 6:00 p.m. notwithstanding subsection (1).

(3) No committee except the Rules Committee shall meet while the Senate is sitting without the consent of the **majority** of the Senate present.

2.11—Presentation of bills introduced by Senators before committees; staff presentation of committee bills

(1) The introducer of a bill shall attend the meeting of the committee or subcommittee before which such bill is noticed as provided in these Rules. The introducer or the first- or second-named co-introducer may present a bill; however, with prior written request of the introducer to the chair, a member of the committee or subcommittee may present a bill.

(2) Senate committee professional staff shall be limited to presenting committee bills at meetings of the committee introducing the bill.

2.12-Order of consideration of bills; exception

Bills shall be considered in the order appearing in the notice required by these Rules, except that the chair may <u>take up</u>, in the chair's sole discretion, consider a bill out of its order to accommodate the presence of a Senator or Representative who is the introducer thereof.

2.13—Open meetings

Except as otherwise provided in these Rules, all committee meetings shall be open to the public, subject always to the powers and authority of the chair to maintain order and decorum.

See Rule 1.44—Open meetings.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

2.15-Standing committee reports; committee substitutes

(1) If reporting a matter referred to it, a standing committee shall report the matter either:

- (a) Favorably,
- (b) Favorably with committee amendment,
- (c) Favorably with committee substitute as defined in these Rules, or
- (d) Unfavorably.

The vote of the members present of a standing committee or subcommittee on final passage of any measure shall be recorded. Upon the request of any two (2) members of a committee or subcommittee, the vote on any other matter or motion properly before the committee shall be recorded. After such report has been received by the Secretary, no matter so reported shall be recommitted to a committee except by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present at a sitting or except as provided in Rule 2.7, Rule 4.7(2), or Rule 4.8(4).

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

- (2) Such reports shall also reflect:
 - (a) The date, time, and place of the meeting at which the action was taken, and
 - (b) The vote of each member present of the committee on final passage of each bill.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

The Secretary shall enter in the Journal the recommended action of the committee on each bill reported, but shall not include that portion of the report relating to the date, time, and place of the meeting or the vote of each member on final passage of a measure. Reports of committees shall be preserved pursuant to law.

(3) In reporting a Senate measure, a standing committee may draft a new measure embracing the same or related subject matter to be returned to the Senate with the recommendation that the substitute be considered in lieu of the original measure. If one or more amendments are adopted, a measure shall, without motion, be reported as a committee substitute unless the committee by **majority vote** decides otherwise.

- (a) The substitute measure must be accompanied by the original measure referred to the committee and returned to the Secretary in the same manner as a favorable report.
- (b) No other standing committee of reference shall consider the original measure but shall direct its attention to the substitute measure.
- (c) A committee receiving a committee substitute from a prior committee of reference may also report a committee substitute and shall not be precluded from doing so with the substance of the bill as originally introduced.
- (d) When reported, the substitute shall be read a first (1st) time by title, the original proposition shall be automatically tabled, and the substitute considered in lieu thereof without motion. The substitute shall carry the identifying number of the original and shall be returned to the Secretary in the same number of copies required for first (1st) introduction of a similar measure.
- (e) The names of the introducer and each co-introducer of the original measure shall be shown by the committee administrative assistant on the committee substitute unless an introducer or co-introducer requests that it be omitted.
- (f) A Senate committee may not recommend a Senate committee substitute for a House bill.

(4) All standing committee reports shall be filed with the Secretary's office as soon as practicable, but not later than 4:30 p.m. on the next day that is not a weekend or state holiday, except a committee drafting and recommending a committee substitute shall file such committee report no later than 4:30 p.m. on the second (2nd) such weekday. These reports must be accompanied by the original bill. Each report by a committee must set forth the identifying number of the bill. If amendments are proposed by the committee, the words "with amendments" shall follow the identifying number. Committee amendments shall be identified by barcode in the report. All bills reported unfavorably shall be laid on the table.

2.16—Standing subcommittee reports

(1) If reporting a matter referred to it, a standing subcommittee must report the matter directly to the standing committee, which shall promptly certify a copy of the report to the Secretary. The standing subcommittee shall report a matter either:

- (a) Favorably,
- (b) Favorably with committee amendment,
- (c) Favorably with committee substitute as defined in these Rules, or

- (2) Such reports shall also reflect:
 - (a) The date, time, and place of the meeting at which the action was taken, and
 - (b) The vote of each member of the subcommittee on final passage of each bill.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

(3) In reporting a bill to the standing committee, a standing subcommittee may draft a new measure, embracing the same or related subject matter, to be returned to the standing committee with the recommendation that the substitute be considered in lieu of the original measure. The substitute measure must be accompanied by the original measure referred to the standing subcommittee and returned to the standing committee in the same manner as a favorable report.

(4) All standing subcommittee reports shall be promptly transmitted to the standing committee. Each report by a standing subcommittee must set forth the identifying number of the measure. If amendments are proposed by the standing subcommittee, the words "with amendments" shall follow the identifying number. Standing subcommittee amendments shall accompany the report.

(5) All bills reported unfavorably by a subcommittee shall be laid on the table by roll call vote when the standing committee considers the standing subcommittee's report unless, on motion by any member adopted by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those standing committee members present, the same report shall be rejected.

(6) When a subcommittee report is rejected by a standing committee, the bill shall receive a hearing *de novo* and witnesses shall be permitted to testify.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

(7) When a bill with a favorable report by a standing subcommittee is considered by the standing committee, debate and further amendment by members of the standing committee shall be allowed prior to a vote on final passage.

2.17—Quorum requirement

(1) A standing committee, standing subcommittee, or select committee is assembled only when a quorum constituting a **majority** of the members of that committee is present in person.

(2)~~A committee member may question the presence of a quorum at any time.

(3) No committee business of any type shall be conducted in the absence of a quorum. Any matter reported in violation of this Rule shall be recommitted by the President when it is called to the President's attention by a Senator.

2.19—Conference committee in deliberation; reports

(1) All meetings of Senate conferees with House conferees at which the business of the conference committee is discussed shall be open to the public subject to proper order and decorum. A meeting of the Senate and House conferees is a meeting of the two (2) groups; therefore, the rules governing each respective house apply. Meetings between a **majority** of the members of a conference committee may be held following a notice being filed with the Secretary by or at the direction of the person calling the meeting, at least one (1) hour in advance of the meeting. The notice shall indicate the names of the conferees and scheduled participants, the date, the time, and the place of the meeting. Conference committees may meet at any time with proper notice.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

(2) A conference committee, other than a conference committee on a general or special appropriations bill and its related legislation, shall consider and report only on the differences existing between the Senate and the House, and no substance foreign to the bills before the conferees shall be included in the report or considered by the Senate.

(3) A conference committee may only report by recommending the adoption of a series of amendments to the House or Senate bill that was the subject of the conference, or it may offer an amendment deleting everything after the enacting clause of any such bill referred to the committee. Such amendments shall accompany the conference committee report. In any event, the conference committee may recommend, as part of its report, the adoption or rejection of any or all of the amendments theretofore adopted by either house. Conference committee reports must be approved and signed by a **majority** of the conference on the part of each house. All final actions taken in a conference committee shall be by motion.

(4) Each conference committee report shall contain a statement sufficiently explicit to inform the Senate of the effect of the report on the measure to which it relates.

(5) When the President appoints a conference committee, a notice of the following meetings to discuss matters relating to the conference, stating the names of the conference and scheduled participants, and the date, time, and place for the meeting, shall be filed with the Secretary by or at the direction of the person at whose call the meeting is convened, not less than one (1) hour preceding the time for the meeting:

- (a) Meetings between the President (or a Senator designated to represent the President), the Governor, and the Speaker (or a Representative designated to represent the Speaker);
- (b) Meetings between a **majority** of the members of any subcommittee of the conference committee;
- (c) Meetings between the President or any Senator designated to represent the President and a conferee from the House of Representatives, or any meeting between a conferee from the Senate with the Speaker or any Representative designated to represent the Speaker; and
- (d) Meetings of a **majority** of the Senate conferees; and when the bill that is the subject of the conference committee deals primarily with the general appropriations act or revenue matters, any meeting of three (3) or more conferees on the part of the Senate.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(e) Quorum and procedure.

(6) Notice of meetings, as scheduled, between the chair of the Senate's conferees with the chair of the House's conferees, or between respective Senate and House committee chairs with each other, shall be published on the Senate website and posted on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda. In the case of the appropriations conference, said notice shall also be posted outside the door of the offices of the appropriations committees.

(7) All meetings for which notice is required pursuant to this Rule shall be held in the Capitol Complex, but shall not be held in the Chamber of either house while it is sitting.

(8) When conferees on the part of the Senate report an inability to agree, any action of the Senate taken prior to such reference to a conference committee shall not preclude further action on the measure as the Senate may determine.

(9) After Senate conferees have been appointed for seven (7) calendar days and have failed to make a report, it is a motion of the highest privilege to move to discharge said conferees and to appoint new conferees, or to instruct said conferees. This motion shall have precedence over all other questions except motions to adjourn or recess and questions of privilege. Further, during the last six (6) calendar days allowed under the *State Constitution* for any regular session, it shall be a privileged motion to move to discharge, appoint, or instruct Senate conferees after the Senate conferees have been appointed thirty-six (36) hours without having made a report.

PART TWO-COMMITTEES-OFFICERS

2.20-Appointment of chair and vice chair

A chair and a vice chair of each standing committee shall be appointed by the President and shall continue in office at the pleasure of the President. The President shall also appoint a chair for each standing subcommittee and select committee authorized by these Rules and may designate a vice chair, both of whom shall continue in office at the pleasure of the President.

2.21-Call to order

The chair or, in the chair's absence, the vice chair, shall call the committee to order at the hour provided by these Rules. A quorum being present, the committee shall proceed with consideration of its agenda.

2.22—Chair's control

The chair shall preserve order and decorum and shall have general control of the committee room. If there is a disturbance or disorderly conduct in the committee room, the chair may require participants in the disturbance to clear the room.

2.23—Chair's authority; appeals

(1) The chair shall approve all notices, subpoenas, or reports required or permitted by these Rules.

(2) The chair shall decide all questions of order, subject to an appeal by any Senator, and the appeal shall be certified by the chair to the Senate for a decision by the President during its next sitting following such certification. If not in session, the President may make a ruling by letter. Rulings shall be entered in the Journal, shall constitute binding precedent on all committees of the Senate, and shall be subject to appeal as any other question; however, rulings by letter are subject to appeal at the first or second sitting of the next regular session.

(3) The proper method of taking exception to a ruling of the chair is by appeal. An appeal of a decision of the chair must be made promptly before debate has concluded or other business has intervened. A point of order on any other question is not in order while an appeal is pending, but a point of order relating to the appeal may be raised; if the determination of the appeal is dependent on this point, it may be decided by the chair. This second (2nd) decision is also subject to appeal.

(4) An appeal of a decision of the chair on a point of order is debatable even though the question from which it arose was not debatable.

(5) The chair may, or on the vote of a **majority** of the committee members present shall, certify a question of parliamentary procedure to the President as contemplated by the Rule without a formal appeal. Such certified question shall be disposed of by the President as if it had been on appeal.

(6) Final action on an appeal or the certification of a procedural question pursuant to this Rule shall not constitute an automatic stay to further legislative action on the measure under consideration.

2.24—Chair, vice chair; vote

The chair and vice chair shall vote on all matters before such committee. The name of the chair shall be called last.

See Rule 1.39—Disclosure of conflict of interest and prohibition on voting thereon.

2.25—Temporary alternate to chair

The chair may name any member of the committee to perform the duties of the chair. This delegation shall not extend beyond adjournment of such meeting. If for any reason the chair is absent and fails to name a member, the vice chair shall assume the duties of the chair during the chair's absence.

2.26-Vice chair's duties

On the death, incapacitation, or resignation of the chair, the vice chair shall perform the duties of the office until the President appoints a successor. In the absence of the chair, the vice chair shall act as chair.

PART THREE—COMMITTEES—MEMBERS

2.27-Members' attendance, voting; proxy and poll votes prohibited

(1) Unless excused or necessarily prevented, every member of a committee shall be in attendance during each of its meetings.

(2) The chair may excuse any member for just cause from attendance at meetings of his or her committee for any stated period. This excused absence shall be noted on the committee's records.

(3) Failure to attend two (2) consecutive regular meetings, unless excused from attendance in the Senate on those days as provided in these Rules or by the chair of the committee, shall be reported to the President who may take appropriate action.

(4) No member of any committee shall be allowed to vote by proxy nor shall a vote be conducted by poll.

(5) A **majority** of all the committee members present shall agree by their votes on the disposition of any matter considered by the committee.

See Rule 11.4-Majority action.

PART FOUR—COMMITTEES—VOTING

2.28-Taking the vote; post-meeting record of missed vote

(1) The chair shall declare the result of all votes and shall cause same to be entered on the records of the committee, but if any member questions the declared result of a voice vote, then by a show of hands by two (2) members the chair shall count the yeas and nays. When the committee is equally divided, the question shall be lost.

See Rule 1.20—Attendance, voting, and disclosure of conflicts. See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

(2) A member may request to:

- (a) Vote, or
- (b) Change his or her vote

before the results of a roll call are announced.

(3) After the result of a vote has been announced, a member with unanimous consent of those committee members present may record a vote or change his or her vote. If the vote alters the final action of the committee, no vote or change of vote shall be permitted unless the matter has been reconsidered by the committee. On request of a member prior to consideration of other business, the chair shall order a verification of a vote.

(4) After a committee meeting, an absent Senator may file with the committee an indication of how he or she would have voted if present. Such filing is for information only and shall have no effect upon the committee's meeting report.

2.29—Pair voting prohibited

No pair voting shall be permitted in a committee.

2.30—Casting vote for another

No Senator shall cast a vote for another Senator, nor shall any person not a Senator cast a vote for a Senator. In addition to such penalties as may be prescribed by law, any Senator who shall vote or attempt to vote for another Senator may be punished as the Senate may deem proper. Also, any person not a Senator who shall vote in the place of a Senator shall be excluded from the committee for the remainder of the session.

2.31-Explanation of vote; deferring a vote prohibited

No member shall be permitted to defer or explain his or her vote during a roll call, but may submit his or her explanation in writing and file it with the chair. This explanation shall be kept as part of the committee record and a copy filed with the Secretary.

PART FIVE—COMMITTEES—MOTIONS AND PRECEDENCE

2.32-Motions; how made, withdrawn

(1) Every procedural motion may be made orally. On request of the chair, a member shall submit his or her motion in writing.

(2) After a motion has been stated or read by the chair, it shall be deemed to be in possession of the committee without a second, and shall be disposed of by vote of the committee members present.

(3) The mover may withdraw a motion at any time before the same has been amended, or before a vote shall have commenced.

(4) The mover of a motion to reconsider may withdraw that motion only with the unanimous consent of those committee members present.

2.33—Motions; precedence

(1) When a question is under debate, the chair shall receive no motion except:

- (a) To adjourn
- (b) To take a recess
- (c) To reconsider instanter passage of a main question
- See Rule 2.35—Reconsideration generally. (d) To reconsider
- See Rule 2.35—Reconsideration generally.
- (e) To limit debate or vote at a time certain
- See Rule 2.50—Limitation on debate; vote at a time certain. (f) To temporarily postpone
- See Rule 6.11—Temporarily postpone.
- (g) To amend See Rule 2.39—Amendments, proposed committee substitutes, and proposed committee bills; form, deadlines, notice, manner of consideration; germanity.

which shall have precedence in the descending order given.

(2) The chair shall present all questions in the order in which they are moved unless the subsequent motion is of a higher precedence or a substitute of equal precedence.

(3) When a motion is under consideration, but prior to the commencement of the vote, a substitute motion shall be in order. Only one (1) substitute may be pending and the substitute shall be in the same order of precedence. If a substitute fails, another substitute of equal degree may be offered.

2.34—Division of question

A member may move for a division of a question when the sense will admit of it, which shall be decided by a **majority vote**. A motion to delete and insert shall be deemed indivisible; a motion to delete, being lost, shall neither preclude amendment nor a motion to delete and insert.

See Rule 6.3—Division of question.

2.35—Reconsideration generally

(1) When a question has been decided by a committee, any member voting with the prevailing side may move for reconsideration of the question.

(2) If a question has been decided by voice vote, any member may move for reconsideration, but such motion shall be out of order after the committee has moved on to other business.

See Rule 2.38—Reconsideration; collateral matters.

(3) A motion to reconsider final passage of a measure or the confirmation of an executive appointment may be made prior to or pending a motion to adjourn. It shall not be taken up or voted on when made but shall be a special and continuing order of business for the succeeding committee meeting. During such succeeding meeting, the mover of the original motion to reconsider may withdraw that motion by a **twothirds (2/3) vote** of the members present. Unless taken up during such meeting, the motion to reconsider shall be considered abandoned.

(4) If the committee shall refuse to reconsider or, upon reconsideration, shall confirm its first decision, no further motion to reconsider shall be in order except upon unanimous consent of those committee members present.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

(5) At the next succeeding meeting, the reconsideration of such motion may be made by any member prior to a motion to adjourn.

(6) During the last fourteen (14) days of a regular session, a motion to reconsider shall be made and taken up during the meeting at which the original vote was taken.

(7) A motion to reconsider instanter may be offered by a member voting on the prevailing side at the original meeting and shall be of a higher precedence than a motion to reconsider.

- (a) If the motion to reconsider instanter is agreed to by a twothirds (2/3) vote of the members present, it shall supersede a motion to reconsider and place the main question again before the committee for further consideration, amendment, and debate.
- (b) If a motion to reconsider instanter is not agreed to, a motion to reconsider, if offered or pending as provided in subsection (3) of this Rule, shall be a special and continuing item on the committee agenda for the next meeting.

2.36-Reconsideration; vote required

The affirmative votes of a **majority** of the committee members present shall be required to adopt a motion to reconsider.

2.37-Reconsideration; debate allowed

Debate shall be allowed on a motion to reconsider only when the question proposed for reconsideration is debatable. When debate on a motion to reconsider is in order, no Senator shall speak thereon more than once nor longer than **five (5) minutes**.

2.38—Reconsideration; collateral matters

A motion to reconsider a collateral matter must be disposed of during the course of the consideration of the main subject to which it is related, and such motion shall be out of order after the committee has passed to other business.

PART SIX-COMMITTEES-AMENDMENTS

2.39—Amendments, proposed committee substitutes, and proposed committee bills; form, deadlines, notice, manner of consideration; germanity

(1) No amendment or proposed committee substitute to any measure, or no proposed committee bill on any committee agenda shall be considered by that committee unless the amendment, proposed committee substitute, or proposed committee bill was prepared in proper form as prescribed by the Secretary and filed with the committee administrative assistant at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the noticed meeting time. For the purpose of this Rule, office hours are the weekdays of Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m.-5:00 p.m. Copies of such amendment, proposed committee substitute, or proposed committee bill shall be made reasonably available by the committee administrative assistant before the meeting to the members of the committee and to the public.

- (a) After distribution of all timely filed amendments, amendments to amendments or substitute amendments may be filed to any measure to which an amendment was timely filed. Such amendments must be filed with the committee administrative assistant at least two (2) hours prior to the noticed meeting time.
- (b) After distribution of all timely filed proposed committee substitutes and proposed committee bills, amendments, amendments to amendments, or substitute amendments to any proposed committee substitute or proposed committee bill must be filed with the committee administrative assistant at least two (2) hours prior to the noticed meeting time.
- (c) Amendments to late-filed amendments, proposed committee substitutes, or proposed committee bills shall be considered timely filed if filed at least two (2) hours prior to the noticed meeting time.
- (d) After day fifty (50) of a regular session, an amendment, proposed committee bill, or proposed committee substitute to any measure prepared prior to a committee meeting at which it is offered shall be filed with the committee administrative assistant at least two (2) hours prior to the noticed meeting time.

(e) The consideration of any amendment, proposed committee bill, or proposed committee substitute not timely filed in accordance with this Rule, including any filed during a committee meeting in which it is to be offered, requires a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those committee members present, if any member requests that such a vote be taken. These time requirements do not apply to a committee's recommendation during a meeting to make a committee substitute which is merely a combination of the noticed bill and amendment.

(2) An amendment shall be considered only after its sponsor, who is a member of the committee or the introducer of the pending bill, gains recognition from the chair to move its adoption. The first- or secondnamed co-introducer, or a member of the committee presenting the bill with permission of the chair, may move and explain an amendment sponsored by the introducer.

(3) An amendment shall be deemed pending only after its sponsor has been recognized by the chair and has moved its adoption. Amendments that have been filed but have not been formally moved for adoption shall not be deemed to be pending.

(4) No proposition on a subject different from that under consideration shall be admitted in the form of an amendment.

2.40—Sequence of amendments to amendments

(1) An amendment to a pending amendment may be received, but until it is disposed of, no other motion to amend will be in order, except a substitute amendment or an amendment to the substitute. Such amendments are to be disposed of in the following order:

- (a) Amendments to the amendment are acted on before the substitute is taken up.
- (b) Amendments to the substitute are next voted on.
- $(c) \quad The \ substitute \ then \ is \ voted \ on.$

(2) If a substitute amendment is adopted, it supersedes the main amendment and shall be treated as an amendment to the bill itself.

- $(3) \quad \text{The following third (3rd) degree amendments are out of order:} \\$
 - (a) A substitute amendment for an amendment to the amendment.
 - (b) A substitute amendment for an amendment to the substitute.
 - (c) An amendment to an amendment to the amendment.
 - (d) An amendment to an amendment to the substitute amendment.

See Rule 7.3—Sequence of amendments to amendments.

2.41—Deleting everything after enacting clause

A proposal to delete everything after the enacting clause of a bill, or the resolving clause of a resolution, and insert new language of the same or related subject as stated in the original title shall be deemed proper and germane and shall be treated as an amendment.

2.42—Amendment by section

The adoption of an amendment to a section shall not preclude further amendment of that section. If a bill is being considered section by section or item by item, only amendments to the section or item under consideration shall be in order. The chair, in recognizing members for the purpose of moving the adoption of amendments, shall endeavor to cause all amendments to section 1 to be considered first, then all those in section 2, and so on. After all sections have been considered separately, the entire bill shall be open for amendment.

2.43-Senate amendments to House bills

A House bill may be amended in the same manner as a Senate bill except that it may not be reported as a committee substitute.

2.44—Amendments by previous committees

Amendments recommended by all committees of reference shall accompany a bill when filed with the Secretary. No committee shall remove an amendment by another committee but may recommend an amendment to an amendment, or a substitute for an amendment, by another committee. Any accompanying amendment shall be included in a subsequent committee substitute unless altered or negated by committee action. Amendments adopted by a committee to be incorporated in a committee substitute need not be filed with the Secretary as part of the reports required in Rules 2.15 and 2.16.

PART SEVEN—COMMITTEES—DECORUM AND DEBATE

2.45-Decorum and debate; proper forms of address

When a member desires to speak or present a matter to the committee, the member shall address himself or herself to "Mr. or Madam Chair" and, on being recognized, may address the committee and shall confine any remarks to the question under debate, avoiding personality. A member shall not address or refer to another member by his or her first name. A member shall use the appellation of "Senator" or such appellation and the surname of the member referred to or addressed.

2.46—Chair's power to recognize

When two (2) or more members request to speak at once, the chair shall recognize the member who is to speak first.

2.47-Interruptions; when allowed

(1) No member shall be interrupted by another without the consent of the member who has the floor, except by:

- (a) Rising to a question of privilege;
- (b) Rising to a point of order requiring an immediate ruling;
- (c) Rising to appeal a decision of the chair concerning a point of order (provided the appeal is made immediately following the decision);
- (d) Rising to make a parliamentary inquiry requiring an immediate reply; or
- (e) Rising to question the existence of a quorum.
- (2) The chair shall strictly enforce this Rule.

2.48—Speaking rights

(1) When a member is speaking and another member interrupts to request recognition, the chair may permit the person rising to state why he or she desires recognition. If the question the member desires to raise is entitled to precedence, the member originally speaking shall relinquish the floor until the question having precedence is disposed of. The member is then entitled to resume the floor.

(2) The member making a debatable motion or the introducer of a bill, whether or not a member of the committee, shall have **five (5) minutes** in order to close debate.

2.49—Time allowed for debate

No Senator shall speak longer than **ten (10) minutes** without yielding the floor, except by consent of a **majority** of those committee members present.

2.50-Limitation on debate; vote at a time certain

When a matter is under debate by the committee, a member may move to limit debate or vote at a time certain, and the motion shall be decided without debate. If time permits, the introducer of the pending matter on which debate would be limited shall have **five (5) minutes** to discuss the motion, and the introducer may divide such time with, or waive it in favor of, another member. If the question is decided in the affirmative by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those committee members present, the debate shall be limited accordingly. The time allotted by such limitation shall be apportioned by the chair. Once limited, debate may be extended beyond the original debate time limit by a **majority vote** of the committee members present.

See Rule 8.6-Limitation on debate.

2.51-Priority of business; debate thereon

All questions relating to the priority of business shall be acted on and shall be decided without debate.

RULE THREE

BILLS, RESOLUTIONS, AND MEMORIALS

3.1—Form of bills

(1) All bills shall contain a proper title, as required by Article III, Section 6 of the *State Constitution*, and the enacting clause, "Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida.." The title of each bill shall be prefaced by the words, "A bill to be entitled An act." Standard rules of capitalization shall apply.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 6 Laws.

(2) The original must be approved by the introducer and backed in a folder-jacket. On these jackets shall be inscribed the name and district number of the introducer and any co-introducers or the introducing committee and its chair, and enough of the title for identification.

See Rule 2.11—Presentation of bills introduced by Senators before committees; staff presentation of committee bills. See Rule 11.6—General; definitions.

(3) Bills that propose to amend existing provisions of the *Florida Statutes* (as described in Article III, Section 6 of the *State Constitution*) or the *Laws of Florida* shall contain the full text of the section, subsection, or paragraph to be amended. Joint resolutions that propose to amend the *State Constitution* shall contain the full text of the section to be amended.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 6 Laws.

(4) In general bills and joint resolutions that propose to create or amend existing provisions of the *Florida Statutes*, *Laws of Florida*, or the *State Constitution*, new words shall be inserted underlined, and words to be deleted shall be lined through, except that the text of the General Appropriations Act shall not be underlined.

(5) When the change in language is so general that the use of these procedures would hinder, rather than assist, the understanding of the amendment, it shall not be necessary to use the coded indicators of words added or deleted but, in lieu thereof, a notation similar to the following shall be inserted immediately preceding the text of the provision being amended: "Substantial rewording of section. See s. [number], F.S., for present text." When such notation is used, the notation as well as the substantially reworded text shall be underlined.

(6) The words to be deleted and the above-described indicators of such words and of new material are for information and guidance and shall not be considered to constitute a part of the bill under consideration.

 $(7)\;$ Section catchlines of existing text shall not be typed with underlining.

3.2—Bills for introduction

A bill may not be introduced until properly filed with the Secretary.

See Rule 1.15—The Secretary examines legal form of bills for introduction <u>and reference</u>.

See Rule 3.7—Bill filing deadline during regular session; bill filing between regular sessions; exceptions.

See Rule 13.4—Delivery for introduction.

3.3—Form of local bills

As required by Article III, Section 10 of the *State Constitution*, all local bills must either embody provision for ratifying referenda (stated in the title as well as in the text of the bill) or be accompanied by an affidavit of proper advertisement. A form of affidavit may be found in section 11.03, *Florida Statutes*. All local bills that require publication shall, when introduced, have proof of publication securely attached to the original copy of the bill and the words "Proof of Publication Attached" clearly typed or stamped on the Senate side of the bill jacket or cover, or the same shall be rejected by the Secretary.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 10 Special laws.

3.4—Form of joint resolutions

Joint resolutions shall contain a proper title, as required by Article III, Section 6 of the *State Constitution*. Standard rules of capitalization shall apply. They shall contain the resolving clause, "Be It Resolved by the Legislature of the State of Florida:." Each joint resolution shall be prefaced by the words: "A joint resolution."

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 6 Laws.

3.5—Form of memorials

Memorials shall contain a proper title, as required by Article III, Section 6 of the *State Constitution*. Standard rules of capitalization shall apply. They shall contain the resolving clause, "Be It Resolved by the Legislature of the State of Florida:."

3.6-Form of resolutions; Senate and concurrent

(1) Senate resolutions and all concurrent resolutions shall contain a proper title, as required by Article III, Section 6 of the *State Constitution*. Standard rules of capitalization shall apply. Senate resolutions shall contain the resolving clause: "Be It Resolved by the Senate of the State of Florida:." Concurrent resolutions shall contain the resolving clause: "Be It Resolved by the Senate of Florida, the House of Representatives Concurring.."

(2) Only the Secretary shall prepare copies of Senate resolutions that are to be furnished to any person after the resolution's adoption.

3.7—Bill filing deadline during regular session; bill filing between regular sessions; exceptions

(1) All bills shall be filed for introduction with the Secretary no later than 12:00 noon of the first (1st) day of the regular session except:

- (a) general appropriations bills,
- (b) appropriations implementing bills,
- (c) appropriations conforming bills,
- (d) local bills.
- (e) Senate resolutions,
- (f) concurrent resolutions pertaining to a legislative joint session, a session extension, joint rules, procedure, organization, recalling a bill from the Governor, or setting an effective date for a bill passed over the Governor's veto,
- (g) committee bills,(h) trust fund bills, and
- h) trust fund bills, and
- (i) public record exemptions that are linked to timely filed general bills.

(2) Claim bills shall be filed in accordance with the requirements of Rule 4.81(2).

(3) A motion to waive this Rule shall be referred to the Rules Committee for a hearing and its advisory recommendation as to the existence of an emergency reasonably compelling consideration of a bill notwithstanding this Rule and a recommendation shall be reported back to the Senate. The Secretary shall number each bill to provide identity and control until a permanent number can be affixed. See Rule 1.15—The Secretary examines legal form of bills for introduction <u>and reference</u>.

 $(4)\;\;$ Between regular sessions of the Legislature, bills may be filed by delivery to the Secretary.

3.8-Filed bills; consideration between regular sessions

(1) A filed bill complying with these Rules shall, in anticipation of the next regular session, be serially numbered in accordance with the permanent system required by these Rules.

(2) The Secretary shall provide each such numbered bill to the President for reference to a committee or committees pursuant to these Rules. The Secretary shall promptly forward each referenced bill to the first (1st) or only committee of reference. The Secretary shall make all filed bills available to each Senator, including the referencing data for each bill, and a calendar of all committee hearings, including the bills noticed for hearing by each.

(3) Each bill considered by a committee and reported to the Secretary during the interim shall be introduced and read on the first (1st) day of the regular session, pursuant to the *State Constitution, Laws of Florida,* and these Rules. The Journal shall show the committee reference and the report of the committee.

(4) Prior to the introduction of a bill on the first (1st) day of the regular session, a Senator may give written notification to the Secretary to withdraw his or her bill from further consideration of the Senate.

3.9-Copies of bills

When filed, bills (including committee bills and committee substitute bills) shall be published by the Secretary for the information of the Senate and the public. The absence of a published copy shall not delay the progress of a measure at any stage of the legislative process. Sufficient copies of the general appropriations bill proposed to be introduced by the Appropriations Committee shall be made available to the members and, upon request, to the public, at the Office of the Secretary and at the committee's office, no less than two (2) hours prior to the time the Appropriations Committee meets to consider the proposed committee bill.

3.10-Identification of bills

Bills and other measures requiring legislative action shall be introduced in the order they are received by the Secretary. They shall be serially numbered with even numbers as introduced, without differentiation in number as to type. The Secretary shall mark the original copy of each measure to ensure its identification, and each page thereof, as the item introduced in order to prevent unauthorized or improper substitutions. This identification may be made by any device to accomplish the purpose of this Rule. Such device shall be in the custody of the Secretary, and its use by any person not authorized by this Rule is prohibited.

3.11—Companion measures; defined; substitution of House bills for Senate bills

(1) A companion measure shall be substantially the same and identical as to specific intent and purpose as the measure for which it is being substituted.

(2) When a Senate bill is reached on the calendar of the Senate for consideration, either on second (2nd) or third (3rd) reading, and there is also pending on the calendar of the Senate a companion measure already passed by the House, it shall be in order to move that the House companion measure be substituted and considered in lieu of the Senate measure.

- (a) Before a vote is taken on a substitution motion, the mover shall explain the differences between the Senate bill and the House bill.
- (b) A substitution motion may be adopted by a majority vote of those Senators present if the House measure is on the same reading; otherwise, the motion shall be to waive the Rules by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of those Senators present and read such House measure.

(3) A House bill residing in a Senate committee that is a companion of a bill under consideration in the Senate may be withdrawn from the committees of reference without motion, unless any Senator requests a vote on such withdrawal action. A withdrawal action shall require a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present for adoption.

(4) At the moment the Senate passes a House companion measure, the original Senate measure shall be regarded as automatically tabled. Recommitment of a Senate bill shall automatically carry with it any House companion measure then on the calendar.

3.12—Introducers of bills; co-introducers; introducers no longer Senators

(1) Bills shall be approved for introduction by a Senator whose name is affixed to the original, or by any committee with the name of the committee and the name of the chair of the committee affixed to the original.

(2) A bill may be co-introduced by any Senator whose name is affixed to the original.

(3) A Senator who is not seeking or is ineligible for reelection and, therefore, will not be a Senator at the next regular session of the Legislature may not file a bill for that session. Once a Senator is no longer in office, any bill filed by that Senator for a current or future session of the Legislature shall be deemed withdrawn from further consideration of the Senate unless the bill has a co-introducer who, within seven (7) days, agrees to become the introducer of the bill.

3.13—Fiscal notes

(1) Upon being favorably reported by a committee, all general bills or joint resolutions affecting revenues, expenditures, or fiscal liabilities of state or local governments shall be accompanied by a fiscal note. Fiscal notes shall reflect the estimated increase or decrease in revenues or expenditures. The estimated economic impact, which calculates the present and future fiscal effects of the bill or joint resolution, must be considered. The fiscal note shall not express opinion relative to the merits of the measure, but may identify technical defects.

(2) Fiscal notes on bills affecting any state retirement system shall be prepared after consultation with an actuary who is a member of the Society of Actuaries, and the cooperation of appropriate state agencies for necessary data shall be solicited.

(3) Fiscal notes shall be regarded as memoranda of factual information and shall be made available to Senators.

(4) If a bill or joint resolution is reported favorably by a committee without a fiscal note or economic impact statement, as defined in this Rule, a Senator may at any time prior to final passage raise a point of order, and the President shall order return of the bill or joint resolution to the committee. A fiscal note prepared for a Senate bill or joint resolution shall be presumed as prepared also for its House companion for the purposes of point of order.

RULE FOUR

ORDER OF BUSINESS AND CALENDAR

4.1—Sittings of the Senate

The Senate shall convene pursuant to a schedule provided by the President or at the hour established by the Senate at its last sitting. This schedule shall set forth hours to convene and adjourn and may contain a schedule for the Special Order Calendars submitted by the Rules Chair, Majority Leader, and Minority Leader. The Senate shall not convene before 7:00 a.m. nor meet or continue to meet after 6:00 p.m. However, a sitting may be extended beyond these hours or the scheduled or previously agreed to time of adjournment by a **majority vote**.

See Rule 1.2—The President calls the Senate to order; informal recess.

4.2—Quorum

A **majority** of the Senate shall constitute a quorum, but a smaller number may adjourn from day to day and compel the attendance of absent members, in such manner and under such penalties as it may prescribe. A Senator at any time may question the existence of a quorum.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4 Quorum and procedure.

4.3—Daily Order of Business

- (1) The Daily Order of Business shall be as follows:
 - (a) Roll Call
 - (b) Prayer
 - (c) Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America
 - (d) Reports of Committees
 - (e) Motions Relating to Committee Reference
 - (f) Messages from the Governor and Other Executive Communications
 - (g) Messages from the House of Representatives
 - (h) Matters on Reconsideration
 - (i) Consideration of Bills on Third (3rd) Reading
 - (j) Special Order Calendars
 - (k) Consideration of Bills on Second (2nd) Reading
 - (l) Correction and Approval of Journal
 - (m) Unfinished Business

(2) The Secretary shall prepare and distribute, on each session weekday, a calendar corresponding to the Daily Order of Business; and within each order of business, matters shall be considered in the order in which they appear on such daily calendar. Local bills may be omitted from the formal calendar and may be distributed to Senators by the Secretary separately. Weekend calendars may be prepared when necessary to provide notice of meetings on Saturday or Sunday.

See Rule 4.16-Consideration out of regular order.

(3) Certain messages from the House of Representatives may be withheld from the Daily Order of Business pursuant to Rule 1.18 or on order of the President. Notwithstanding Rule 4.3(1), the Senate may, at the direction of the President, take up messages from the House at any time.

See Rule 1.18—The Secretary receives and delivers for reading messages from the House of Representatives; summaries of House amendments to Senate bills.

(4) Unless read during a sitting, first (1st) reading of a bill shall be accomplished by publication of the title thereof in the Journal pursuant to Article III, Section 7 of the *State Constitution*.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 7 Passage of bills.

4.31-Unanimous consent required

Except by unanimous consent of those Senators present at a sitting, no bill shall be considered by the Senate if the bill or a companion measure has not been first reported favorably by at least one (1) Senate committee.

See Rule <u>1.15(4)4.6(6)</u>—The Secretary examines legal form of bills for introduction and reference. Reference generally; reference of local bills.

4.5—Conference committee report

(1) $\,$ The report of a conference committee shall be read to the Senate after which the vote shall be:

- (a) on adoption or rejection of the conference report and, if adopted, the vote shall then be
- (b) on final passage of the measure as amended by the conference report.

Copies of conference committee reports shall be available to the membership twelve (12) hours prior to the time such report is scheduled to be taken up on the Senate floor. $(2)\;$ The report must be acted on as a whole, being adopted or rejected.

(3) Each report shall include a statement sufficiently explicit to inform the Senate of the effect of the report on the measure to which it relates.

(4) Except when the Senate is voting on a proposition, reports of conference committees shall always be in order.

4.6-Reference generally; reference of local bills

(1) All bills, including those that are strictly local in nature, shall be referred by the President to appropriate committees and standing subcommittees. General appropriations bills, appropriations implementing bills, trust fund bills, and appropriations conforming bills introduced by the Appropriations Committee may be placed on the calendar without reference.

(2) Bills received by the President during a regular session and within three (3) weeks next preceding the convening of a regular session shall be referred within seven (7) days. Upon failure of the President to reference such bills within this limitation, they shall be referred to committees recommended by the introducer. In the event of extended absence of the President or the President's disability or incapacity, the President Pro Tempore shall assume the duty of referring bills.

 $(3)\;$ When the Legislature is not in session, the President may change or correct a bill reference by notice to the Secretary and the bill introducer.

<u>See Rule 1.15—The Secretary examines legal form of bills for in-</u> <u>troduction and reference.(4)</u>—The review of a bill that appears to be local in nature shall be performed by the Secretary to determine whether such measure is local in nature for reference purposes and whether it responds to the legal requirements of a local bill.

(5) A bill is local in nature for referencing purposes if it does not substantially alter a law of general application throughout the state and it either affects no more than one (1) county or relates to a special district that is located wholly within no more than two (2) counties.

(6) When the Secretary, through staff review, has determined that the bill is not local in nature for referencing purposes, the Secretary shall report such determination to the President, who shall refer such bill to an appropriate standing committee for hearing. Such report shall be made within fifteen (15) days from date of receipt by the Secretary. When the Secretary, through staff review, has determined that a bill is local in nature for referencing purposes and that it responds to the legal requirements of a local bill, the bill shall be available for the calendar on local bills notwithstanding Rule 4.31.

4.7-Reference to more than one committee; effect

(1) When a bill receives more than one (1) reference, it shall be considered by each committee separately in the order in which the references are made. However, if any committee to which the bill is referred makes an unfavorable report on said bill, that report shall be filed with the Senate and no further consideration given by other committees except by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present while sitting.

(2) If a committee reports a bill favorably with committee substitute or with any amendment that substantially amends the bill, the President may change or correct the reference of the reported bill within seven (7) days after the filing of the report. Notice of a reference change shall be given to the Secretary and the introducer of the bill.

4.8—Review and reference of bills affecting appropriations, revenue, retirement, or county or municipal spending

(1) All bills authorizing or substantially affecting appropriations or tax revenue shall be referred to the appropriate revenue or appropriations committee.

(2) All bills substantially affecting a state-funded or state-administered retirement system shall be referred to the Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee. (3) A bill containing a local mandate as described in Article VII, Section 18 of the *State Constitution* shall be referred to the Community Affairs Committee.

(4) A bill that is amended to substantially affect appropriations or tax revenue, a state retirement program, or expenditures or revenues as set forth in Article VII, Section 18 of the *State Constitution* may, before being placed before the Senate for final passage, be referred by the President along with all amendments to the appropriate revenue or appropriations committee.

4.81—Claim bills

(1) Claim bills are of two (2) types: excess judgment claims filed pursuant to section 768.28(5), *Florida Statutes*, and equitable claims filed without an underlying excess judgment.

(2) A claim bill filed by a current serving Senator must be filed by August 1 to be considered by the Senate during the next regular session. A claim bill filed by a newly elected Senator must be filed within thirty (30) days after election or before the first scheduled interim committee meeting, whichever is later. The deadline for newly elected Senators to file claim bills for the 2019 Regular Session shall be thirty (30) days from adoption of these Rules. Thereafter, claim bills must be filed as provided above. A claim bill that is filed after the deadline may not be considered by the Senate without approval of the Rules Committee. A motion to introduce a claim bill notwithstanding the claim bill filing deadline shall be referred to the Rules Committee for a hearing and a determination as to the existence of an emergency reasonably compelling consideration of a claim bill notwithstanding the claim bill filing deadline. A House claim bill that does not have a Senate companion claim bill timely filed under this Rule shall not be considered by the Senate. Any motion to consider a House claim bill that does not have a timely filed Senate companion bill shall be referred to the Rules Committee for a hearing and a determination as to the existence of an emergency reasonably compelling consideration of a claim bill notwithstanding the claim bill filing deadline. The determination by the Rules Committee shall be reported back to the Senate. Upon a determination by the committee that an emergency does exist, the motion may be considered by the Senate and must be adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of those Senators present.

(3) If the President determines that a hearing is necessary to determine liability, proximate cause, and damages, a special master shall conduct a *de novo* hearing pursuant to reasonable notice.

In order to carry out the special master's duties, a special master may request the President to issue subpoenas, subpoenas duces tecum, and other necessary process to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of any books, letters, or other documentary evidence which the special master deems relevant to the evaluation of a claim. The President may issue said process at the request of the special master.

The special master shall administer an oath to all witnesses, accept relevant documentary and tangible evidence properly offered, record the proceedings, and prepare a final report containing findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations. The report shall be signed by the special master who shall be available, in person, to explain his or her report to the committees and to the Senate.

(4) All claim bills shall be referred by the President to one (1) or more committees for review. The Secretary shall deliver each claim bill and the special master's report and recommendations, if any, to the committees of reference when the bill is placed on an agenda.

(5) Stipulations entered into by the parties are not binding on the special master, the Senate, or its committees.

(6) The hearing and consideration of a claim bill shall be held in abeyance until all available administrative and judicial remedies have been exhausted; except that the hearing and consideration of a claim that is still within the judicial or administrative systems may proceed where the parties have executed a written settlement agreement. This subsection does not apply to a bill which relates to a claim of wrongful incarceration. (7) All materials provided by litigants and others in connection with claim bills shall be submitted in a digital form prescribed by the Secretary.

 $See \ {\rm Rule} \ 3.12 {\rm --Introducers}$ of bills; co-introducers; introducers no longer Senators.

4.9—Reference of resolutions

(1) Substantive resolutions shall be referred by the President to a standing committee.

(2) Resolutions that may be considered without reference to a committee include those addressing:

- (a) Senate organization,
- (b) condolence and commemoration that are of a statewide nonpolitical significance, and
- (c) concurrent resolutions pertaining to a legislative joint session, a session extension, joint rules, procedure, organization, recalling a bill from the Governor, or setting an effective date for a bill passed over the Governor's veto.

The resolutions listed in subsection (2) may be considered and read twice on the same day on motion and adopted at time of introduction without reference, except that resolutions of condolence or commemoration that are of a statewide nonpolitical significance may be shown as introduced, read, and adopted by publication in full in the Journal.

4.10—Reference of a bill to different committee or removal from committee

(1) After the President has referred a bill, the Rules Chair may move for reference to a different committee or for removal from any committee after the introducer of the bill has filed a request with the Rules Chair signed by the chair of the affected committee, the Rules Chair, and the President. This motion may be adopted by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present.

(2) Notwithstanding these Rules, a Senator may, during the day of introduction of filed bills, but no later than under the Order of Business of "Motions Relating to Committee Reference" on the second (2nd) day on which the Senate sits, move for reference to a different committee or for removal from a committee. This motion may be adopted by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present.

4.11—Papers of miscellaneous nature; spreading remarks on the Journal

(1) Papers of a miscellaneous nature addressed to the Senate may, at the discretion of the President, be read, noted in the Journal, or filed with an appropriate committee. When there is a demand to read a paper other than one on which the Senate is called to give a final vote and the same is objected to by any Senator, it shall be determined by a **majority vote** of those Senators present.

(2) A two-thirds (2/3) vote shall be required to spread remarks upon the Journal.

4.12-Reading of bills and joint resolutions

Each bill or joint resolution shall be read on three (3) separate days before a vote on final passage unless decided otherwise by a **two-thirds** (2/3) vote of those Senators present as provided in Article III, Section 7 of the *State Constitution*.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 7 Passage of bills. See FLA. CONST. art. XI, s. 1 Proposal by legislature.

4.13-Reading of concurrent resolutions and memorials

(1) Each concurrent resolution or memorial shall be read by title on two (2) separate days before a voice vote on adoption, unless decided otherwise by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present.

(2) Concurrent resolutions pertaining to a joint legislative session, a session extension, joint rules, procedure, organization, recalling a bill from the Governor, or setting an effective date for a bill passed over the

Governor's veto may be read a first (1st) and second (2nd) time, and adopted on the same day.

4.14—Reading of Senate resolutions

Unless referred to a standing committee, on introduction, each Senate resolution shall be read two (2) times on the same day by title only before the question is put on adoption by voice vote.

4.15-Referral or postponement on third (3rd) reading

After its third (3rd) reading, a bill or joint resolution shall not be referred or committed (except as provided under Rule 4.8) or amended (except a corrective or title amendment) except by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present, nor shall the vote on passage be postponed to a day certain without the consent of a **majority** of those Senators present.

See Rule 6.2-Motions; precedence.

4.16-Consideration out of regular order

A bill shall be considered out of regular order on the calendar on unanimous consent of those Senators present obtained in the following manner: prior to the consideration of the motion, the Senator moving for unanimous consent of those Senators present shall orally give the membership not fewer than **fifteen (15) minutes** notice of his or her intention to move and shall specify the number of the bill and its position on the calendar. On entertainment of the motion, the moving Senator shall be allowed **one (1) minute** to explain his or her purpose, and unanimous consent of those Senators present shall be given or refused without further debate.

See Rule 4.3(2)—Daily Order of Business.

4.17—Procedure to establish Special Order Calendars and Consent Calendars

(1) Commencing fifteen (15) days prior to a regular session and continuing through any extension thereof, the Rules Chair, Majority Leader, and Minority Leader shall together submit a Special Order Calendar determining the list of bills for consideration by the Senate. The President shall determine the order in which such bills appear on the published Special Order Calendar.

(2) A Special Order Calendar submitted for the first (1st) day, second (2nd) day, or last fourteen (14) days of a regular session shall be published in one (1) daily calendar and may be considered on the day of publication. A Special Order Calendar for any other day during a regular session shall be published in two (2) daily calendars and may be considered on the second (2nd) day of publication.

- (a) Bills that had been scheduled for a Special Order Calendar for a previous sitting may be included in the next Special Order Calendar.
- (b) A bill appearing on a Special Order Calendar may be stricken by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of those Senators present.
- (c) A bill appearing on the calendar of bills on second (2nd) reading may be added to the end of the Special Order Calendar by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of Senators present.
- (d) All bills set as Special Orders for consideration at the same hour shall take precedence in the order in which they were given preference.
- (e) A Special Order Calendar may not be submitted by the Rules Chair, Majority Leader, and Minority Leader and considered by the Senate on the same day.

(3) A **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present shall be required to establish a Special Order except as provided in this Rule.

(4) Notice of date, time, and place for the establishment of the Special Order Calendars shall be published in at least one (1) Senate calendar or by announcement from the floor.

(5) With the approval of the President, the Rules Chair may submit a Consent Calendar to be presented in conjunction with the Special Order Calendars.

- (a) When such a day is designated, all bills appearing on the Consent Calendar shall be considered in their order of appearance.
- (b) Amendments shall be limited to accompanying committee amendments, noncontroversial and technical amendments, and amendments required to conform a House companion bill to the Senate bill.
- (c) When a Senator objects to consideration of a bill on a Consent Calendar, the bill shall be removed from the Consent Calendar but retain its order on the Second (2nd) Reading Calendar.
- (d) All Consent Calendar bills must have appeared in at least one (1) daily calendar.

4.18-Local Bill Calendar

Local bills shall be disposed of according to the calendar of bills of a local nature and shall be considered only at such time as determined by the Rules Chair and approved by the President. Any Senator from the delegation for the local area affected by a bill on the Local Bill Calendar may object to consideration of the bill and the bill shall be removed from such calendar.

4.19-Order after second (2nd) reading

(1) After a Senate bill has been read a second (2nd) time and amended and all questions relative to it have been disposed of, it shall be referred to the engrossing clerk to be immediately engrossed. It shall then be placed on the calendar of bills on third (3rd) reading to be considered during the next Senate sitting.

(2) Amendments filed with the Secretary, but not formally moved, shall not be construed as pending and shall not deter advancement of a bill to third (3rd) reading.

 $(3)\;$ A bill shall be available for its third (3rd) reading when it has been read a second (2nd) time on a previous day and no motion left pending.

(4) Bills calendared for second (2nd) or third (3rd) reading shall not be considered on such reading until reached in the proper order and read by title as directed by the President.

4.20—Enrolling

The Secretary shall be responsible for the enrolling of Senate bills. After enrollment, all bills shall be signed by the President and the Secretary and the enrolling report shall be published in the Journal.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 7 Passage of bills.

4.21-Veto messages

Veto messages shall be referred to the Rules Committee.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 8 Executive approval and veto.

RULE FIVE

VOTING

5.1—Taking the yeas and nays; objection to voting conflicts

(1) The President shall declare all votes, but, if five (5) Senators immediately question the declared result of a voice vote by a show of hands, the President shall take the vote by yeas and nays or electronic roll call. When taking yeas and nays on any question, the electronic roll call system may be used and shall have the force and effect of a roll call taken as provided in these Rules. This system may also be used to determine the presence of a quorum. When the Senate is ready to vote on a question requiring roll call and the vote is by electronic roll call, the President shall state: "The Secretary will unlock the board and Senators prepare to vote." When sufficient time has elapsed for each Senator to vote, the President shall say: "Have all Senators voted?" And, after a short pause, shall state: "The Secretary will now lock the board and record the vote." When the vote is completely recorded, the President shall announce the result to the Senate; and the Secretary shall enter the result in the Journal. When the Senate is equally divided, the question shall be lost.

(2) A point of order questioning the decision of a Senator not to abstain from voting on account of a conflict of interest may be raised after the vote has been recorded and before the result is announced.

See Rule 1.20—Attendance, voting, and disclosure of conflicts.

 $See \ {\rm Rule} \ 1.39 {\rm -Disclosure}$ of conflict of interest and prohibition on voting thereon.

See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 4(c) Quorum and procedure.

5.2—Change of vote; votes after a roll call; vote verification

(1) After the result of the vote has been announced by the President, a Senator with unanimous consent of those Senators present may change his or her vote or cast a late vote on the matter.

(2) Records of vote change and after the roll call requests shall be available at the Secretary's desk throughout the day's sitting.

(3) An original roll call shall not be altered, but, if no objection is raised before the close of business that day, timely filed changes of votes and votes after the roll call shall be accepted and recorded under the original roll call in the Journal.

(4) No such change of vote or vote after the roll call request shall be accepted if such vote would alter the result of the vote on final passage of the matter until the matter shall first have been returned to the desk and reconsidered.

(5) On request of a Senator before considering other business, the President shall order a verification of a vote.

5.3—Casting vote for another; quorum

(1) No Senator shall cast a vote for another Senator unless the Senator is present in the Chamber area and requests the casting of said vote, nor shall a person not a Senator cast a vote for a Senator. <u>No</u> Senator shall cast a vote for another Senator during a quorum call.

(2) A Senator who shall, without such authorization, vote or attempt to vote for another Senator may be punished as the Senate may deem proper.

(3) A person not a Senator who votes in the place of a Senator shall be excluded from the Chamber for the remainder of the session.

5.5—Explanation of vote

No Senator shall be permitted to explain his or her vote during a roll call but may submit a brief explanation in writing to the Secretary, who shall enter it in the Journal.

See Rule 2.31-Explanation of vote; deferring a vote prohibited.

5.6—Election by ballot

In all cases of ballot, a **majority** of the votes cast shall be necessary to an election. If, however, no one is elected on the first three (3) ballots, the names after the top two (2) in number of votes received on the third (3rd) tally shall be dropped, and the Senate shall ballot on the two (2) names remaining.

RULE SIX

MOTIONS AND PRECEDENCE

6.1-Motions; how made, withdrawn

(1) Procedural motions may be made orally. On request of the President, a Senator shall submit his or her motion in writing. After a motion has been stated or read by the President, it shall be deemed to be in possession of the Senate and, without a second, shall be disposed of by vote of the Senate.

(2) The mover may withdraw a motion, except a motion to reconsider, as hereinafter provided, at any time before the same has been amended or before the vote shall have commenced.

6.2—Motions; precedence

 $(1) \quad \mbox{When a question is under debate, the President shall receive no motion except:}$

- (a) To reconsider and leave pending a main question *See* Rule 6.4—Reconsideration generally.
- (b) To adjourn
 - 1. At a time certain
 - 2. Instanter
 - See FLA. CONST. art. III, s. 3(e) Sessions of the legislature.
- (c) To recess See Rule 1.2—The President calls the Senate to order; informal recess.
- (d) Questions of privilege
 - See Rule 8.11—Questions of privilege.
- (e) To proceed to the consideration of executive business
- (f) To reconsider
- See Rule 6.4—Reconsideration generally.
- (g) To limit debate
- See Rule 8.6—Limitation on debate.
- (h) To temporarily postpone
 - See Rule 6.11—Temporarily postpone.
- (i) To postpone to a day certain(j) To commit to a standing commit
- To commit to a standing committee See Rule 4.15—Referral or postponement on third (3rd) reading.
- (k) To commit to a select committee See Rule 4.15—Referral or postponement on third (3rd) reading.
- (l) To amend
- (m) See Rule 7—Amendments.
 - To postpone indefinitely

See Rule 6.9—Motion to indefinitely postpone.

which shall have precedence in the descending order given.

(2) The President shall present all questions in the order in which they are moved unless the subsequent motion is of a higher precedence.

(3) Motions for the previous question and to lay on the table shall not be entertained.

(4) When a motion is under consideration, but prior to the commencement of the vote, a substitute motion shall be in order. Only one (1) substitute shall be considered concurrently and the substitute shall be in the same order of precedence.

(5) A motion to discharge Senate conferees and to appoint or instruct said conferees as set forth in Rule 2.19 is a motion of the highest privilege and this motion shall have precedence over all other questions except motions to adjourn or recess and questions of privilege.

6.3—Division of question

(1) A Senator may move for a division of a question when the sense will admit of it, which shall be decided by a **majority vote**.

(2) A motion to delete and insert shall be deemed indivisible; a motion to delete, being lost, shall neither preclude amendment nor a motion to delete and insert.

6.4—Reconsideration generally

(1) When a main question (the vote on passage of a measure, including a vote on a veto message, confirmation of executive appointments, removal or suspension from office) has been decided by the Senate, a Senator voting with the prevailing side may move for reconsideration of the question on the day the matter was decided or on the next day on which the Senate sits.

- (a) If the question has been decided by voice vote, any Senator may move for reconsideration thereof.
- (b) When a **majority** of those Senators present vote in the affirmative on the question but the proposition is lost because it is one in which the concurrence of more than a **majority** of those Senators present is necessary for adoption or passage, any Senator may move for reconsideration.

 $(2)\;$ Such motion to reconsider may be made prior to or pending a motion to recess or adjourn.

(3) Consideration of a motion to reconsider shall be a special and continuing order of business for the Senate at its next sitting and, unless taken up under the proper order of business on that day by motion of any Senator, shall be deemed abandoned. If the Senate shall refuse to reconsider or, on reconsideration, shall confirm its first decision, no further motion to reconsider shall be in order except on unanimous consent of those Senators present.

(4) During the last fourteen (14) days of a regular session, a motion to reconsider shall be considered when made.

6.5-Reconsideration; vote required

The affirmative votes of a **majority** of those Senators present shall be required to adopt a motion to reconsider.

6.6-Reconsideration; debate; time limits

Debate shall be allowed on a motion to reconsider only when the question which it is proposed to reconsider is debatable. When the question is debatable, no Senator shall speak thereon more than once or longer than **five (5) minutes**.

6.7—Reconsideration; collateral matters and procedural motions

A motion to reconsider a collateral matter must be disposed of during the course of the consideration of the main subject to which it is related, and such motion shall be out of order after the Senate has passed to other business. Reconsideration of a procedural motion shall be considered on the same day and at the same time it is made.

6.8-Reconsideration; Secretary to hold for period

The Secretary shall hold all bills for the period after passage during which reconsideration may be moved. The adoption of a motion to waive the Rules by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present and immediately certify any bill to the House shall be construed as releasing the measure from the Secretary's possession for the period of reconsideration and shall, thereafter, preclude reconsideration. Unless otherwise directed by the President, during the last fourteen (14) days of a regular session and during any extension thereof, or during a special session, bills shall be immediately transmitted to the House. Messages relating to Senate action on House amendments or to conference committee reports shall be transmitted by the Secretary forthwith.

See Rule 1.17—The Secretary transmits bills to the House of Representatives.

See Rule 6.4—Reconsideration generally.

6.9—Motion to indefinitely postpone

A motion to indefinitely postpone is debatable and, if approved, shall dispose of a measure for the duration of the legislative session and all extensions thereof. A motion to postpone consideration to a time beyond the last day allowed under the *State Constitution* for the current legislative session shall be construed as a motion to indefinitely postpone. Motions to indefinitely postpone shall not be applicable to collateral matters.

6.10-Committee substitute; withdrawn

Once a bill has been reported as a committee substitute, it may be withdrawn from further consideration only by motion of the introducer and unanimous consent of the Senators present.

6.11—Temporarily postpone

(1) The motion to temporarily postpone shall be decided without debate and shall cause a measure to be set aside but retained on the desk.

(2) If a main question has been temporarily postponed after having been debated or after motions have been applied and is not brought back up during the same sitting, it shall be placed under the order of unfinished business on the Senate calendar. If a main question is temporarily postponed before debate has commenced or motions have been applied, its reading shall be considered a nullity and the bill shall retain its original position on the order of business during that sitting; otherwise, the bill reverts to the status of bills on second (2nd) or third (3rd) reading, as applicable.

(3) The motion to return to consideration of a temporarily postponed main question shall be made under the proper order of business when no other matter is pending.

(4) If applied to a collateral matter, the motion to temporarily postpone shall not cause the main question to be carried with it. After having been temporarily postponed, if a collateral matter is not brought back before the Senate in the course of consideration of the adhering or main question, it shall be deemed abandoned.

RULE SEVEN

AMENDMENTS

7.1—General form; germanity requirement; notice; manner of consideration; filing deadlines

(1) No main amendment to a bill on any Senate calendar shall be considered by the Senate unless the amendment was prepared in proper form and filed with the Secretary no later than 2:00 p.m. the day before it is to be offered at a sitting.

(2) Substitutes for main amendments shall be filed by 4:00 p.m. and amendments to main amendments and amendments to substitute amendments by 5:00 p.m.

(3) No proposition on a subject different from that under consideration shall be admitted in the form of an amendment.

(4) Copies of such amendments shall be made reasonably available by the Secretary before the sitting, upon request, to the Senators and to the public.

(5) Consideration of all amendments not timely filed in accordance with this Rule requires a **two-thirds** (2/3) vote of those Senators present, if any Senator requests that such vote be taken.

(6) Amendments shall be filed with the Secretary on forms prescribed by the Secretary but shall be considered only after sponsors gain recognition from the President to move their adoption, except that the chair of the committee (or, in the chair's absence, the vice chair or any member thereof) reporting the measure under consideration shall have preference for the presentation of committee amendments.

(7) An amendment shall be deemed pending only after its sponsor has been recognized by the President and has moved its adoption. Amendments that have been filed with the Secretary but have not been formally moved for adoption shall not be deemed to be pending.

(8) The following bills are out of order and shall not be admitted or considered in the form of an amendment to a bill on the calendar and under consideration by the Senate:

- (a) Bills that have received an unfavorable committee report.
- (b) Bills that have been withdrawn from further consideration by the introducer.
- (c) Bills the substance of which have not been reported favorably by all committees of reference.
- (d) Bills that have not been published in at least one (1) daily calendar under Bills on Second (2nd) Reading.

Amendments covered by this Rule shall be substantially the same and identical as to specific intent and purpose as the measures described in paragraphs (a), (b), (c), or (d).

(9) Reviser's bills may be amended only by making deletions.

7.2—Adoption

(1) On second (2nd) reading, amendments may be adopted by a **majority vote** of those Senators present.

(2) On third (3rd) reading, amendments and amendments to a mendments, including substitute amendments and amendments to a substitute amendment, shall be adopted by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present.

(3) On third (3rd) reading, amendments to the title or corrective amendments may be decided, without debate, by a **majority vote** of those Senators present.

See Rule 4.15-Referral or postponement on third (3rd) reading.

7.3—Sequence of amendments to amendments

(1) An amendment to a pending amendment may be received, but until it is disposed of, no other motion to amend will be in order, except a substitute amendment or an amendment to the substitute. Such amendments are to be disposed of in the following order:

- (a) Amendments to the amendment are acted on before the substitute is taken up. Only one (1) amendment to the amendment may be pending.
- (b) Amendments to the substitute are next voted on.
- (c) The substitute then is voted on.

(2) If a substitute amendment is adopted in place of an original main amendment, it shall be treated as an amendment to the bill itself.

- (3) The following third (3rd) degree amendments are out of order:
 - (a) A substitute amendment for an amendment to the amendment.
 - (b) A substitute amendment for an amendment to the substitute.
 - (c) An amendment to an amendment to the amendment.
 - (d) An amendment to an amendment to the substitute amendment.

7.4—Deleting everything after enacting clause

An amendment deleting everything after the enacting clause of a bill, or the resolving clause of a resolution, and inserting new language of the same or related subject as stated in the original title shall be deemed proper and germane.

7.5—Amendment by section

Adoption of an amendment to a section shall not preclude further amendment of that section. If a bill is being considered section by section or item by item, only amendments to the section or item under consideration shall be in order. The President, in recognizing Senators for the purpose of moving the adoption of amendments, shall endeavor to cause all amendments to section 1 to be considered first, then all those in section 2, and so on. After all sections have been considered separately, the entire bill shall be open for amendment.

7.6—Printing in Journal

All amendments taken up by the Senate unless withdrawn shall be printed in the Journal, except that an amendment to the general appropriations bill constituting an entirely new bill shall not be printed until the filing of the conference committee report. All item amendments to the general appropriations bill shall be printed.

7.7—Senate amendments to House bills

A House bill may be amended in the same manner as a Senate bill. If a House bill is amended, this action shall be noted by the Secretary on the jacket before it is transmitted to the House.

7.8-House amendments to Senate bills

(1) After the reading of a House amendment to a Senate bill, the Senate may consider the following motions in order of their precedence:

- (a) Amend the House amendment,
- (b) Concur in the House amendment,
- (c) Refuse to concur in the House amendment and ask the House to recede, or
- (d) Request a conference committee.

(2) The adoption of any of the foregoing motions shall be by **majority vote** of those Senators present.

7.9-House refusal to concur in Senate amendment

(1) If the House shall refuse to concur in a Senate amendment to a House bill, the Senate may consider the following motions in order of their precedence:

- (a) Recede,
- (b) Insist that the House concur and request a conference committee, or
- $(c) \quad Insist \ that \ the \ House \ concur.$

(2) The adoption of any of the foregoing motions shall be by **majority vote** of those Senators present.

RULE EIGHT

DECORUM AND DEBATE

8.1—Decorum and debate

(1) When a Senator desires to speak or present a matter to the Senate, the Senator shall rise at his or her seat and address himself or herself to "Mr. or Madam President" and, on being recognized, may address the Senate from his or her desk or from the well of the Senate and shall confine any remarks to the question under debate, avoiding personality.

(2) A Senator shall not address or refer to another Senator by his or her first name. A Senator shall use the appellation of "Senator" or such appellation and the district number of the Senator being addressed, or a Senator may also use such appellation and the surname of the Senator referred to or addressed.

8.2—Presiding officer's power of recognition

When two (2) or more Senators rise at once, the presiding officer shall recognize the Senator who is to speak first.

8.3—Interruptions; when allowed

(1) No Senator shall be interrupted by another without the consent of the Senator who has the floor, except by:

- (a) Rising to a question of privilege;
- (b) Rising to a point of order requiring an immediate ruling;
- (c) Rising to appeal a decision of the presiding officer concerning a point of order (if the appeal is made immediately following the decision);
- (d) Rising to make a parliamentary inquiry requiring an immediate reply; or
- (e) Rising to question the existence of a quorum.
- (2) The presiding officer shall strictly enforce this Rule.

8.4—Senator speaking, rights

(1) When a Senator is speaking and another Senator interrupts to request recognition, the presiding officer may ask the person rising to state why he or she desires the floor. If the question the Senator desires to raise is of higher precedence than the pending question, the Senator originally speaking shall relinquish the floor until the question having precedence is disposed of. The Senator then is entitled to resume the floor.

(2) The Senator making a debatable motion or the introducer of a bill shall have **five (5) minutes** in order to close debate.

8.5—Limit on speaking

No Senator shall speak longer than **thirty (30) minutes** without yielding the floor, except by consent of a **majority** of those Senators present.

8.6—Limitation on debate

When a matter is under debate by the Senate, a Senator may move to limit debate, and such motion shall be decided without debate, except the introducer of the matter on which debate would be limited shall have **five (5) minutes** to discuss said motion. If, by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present, the question is decided in the affirmative, debate shall be limited accordingly. Debate may be further extended by a **majority vote**.

8.7-Points of order, parliamentary inquiry, definitions

(1) A "point of order" is the parliamentary device used to require a deliberative body to observe its own rules and to follow established parliamentary practice.

(2) A "parliamentary inquiry" is a request for information from the presiding officer:

- (a) About business pending or soon to be pending before the Senate; or
- (b) A device for obtaining a predetermination of a rule or a clarification thereof which may be presented in hypothetical form.

8.9—Appeals

The ruling of a presiding officer may be appealed. The appeal of a decision of the presiding officer must be made promptly before debate has concluded or other business has intervened. A point of order on any other question is not in order while an appeal is pending, but a point of order relating to the appeal may be raised; and, if the determination of the appeal is dependent on this point, it may be decided by the presiding officer. This second (2nd) decision is also subject to appeal.

8.10—Appeals debatable

An appeal of a decision of the presiding officer on a point of order is debatable even though the question from which it arose was not debatable.

8.11—Questions of privilege

- (1) Questions of privilege have two (2) forms:
 - (a) Privilege of the Senate—Those affecting the rights of the Senate collectively, its safety, dignity, and the integrity of its proceedings; and
 - (b) Privilege of a Senator—The rights, reputation, and conduct of Senators individually, in their representative capacity only.

(2) These shall have precedence over all other questions except motions to adjourn or recess. A question of privilege affecting the Senate takes precedence over a question of privilege affecting an individual Senator.

RULE NINE

LOBBYING

9.1—Those required to register

All persons (except those specifically exempted) who seek to encourage the passage, defeat, or modification of legislation in the Senate or before its committees shall, before engaging in such activity, register as prescribed by law and the Joint Rules of the Florida Legislature.

9.2—Obligations of lobbyist

(1) A lobbyist shall supply facts, information, and opinions of principals to legislators from the point of view from which he or she openly declares. A lobbyist shall not offer or propose anything to improperly influence the official act, decision, or vote of a legislator.

(2) A lobbyist, by personal example and admonition to colleagues, shall uphold the honor <u>and dignity of the Chamber in all of his or her</u> <u>dealings with the Senate of the legislative process by the integrity of his</u> or her relationship with legislators.

(3) A lobbyist shall not knowingly and willfully falsify a material fact or make any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation or make or use any writing or document knowing the same contains any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or entry.

(4) A lobby ist may not make any expenditure prohibited by section 11.045(4)(a), Florida Statutes, or by law.

9.3-Lobbyists' requirements

A lobbyist shall adhere to the statutory requirements for lobbyists provided by law and the Joint Rules.

9.35—Contributions during sessions

During a regular legislative session, and during an extended or special session as further provided for in Rule 1.361(2), a lobbyist may not directly or indirectly contribute to a Senator's own campaign, or to any organization that is registered, or should have been registered, with the Rules Committee pursuant to Rule 1.361(3).

9.4—Advisory opinions

(1) A lobbyist, when in doubt about the applicability and interpretation of Rule Nine in a particular context, may submit in writing a statement of the facts involved to the Rules Committee and may appear in person before said committee.

(2) The Rules Committee may render advisory opinions to any lobbyist who seeks advice as to whether or not the facts in a particular case will constitute a violation of these Rules. All opinions shall delete names and be numbered, dated, and published in the Journal.

9.5—Compilation of opinions

The Secretary shall compile all advisory opinions of the Rules Committee.

9.6-Violations; investigations, penalties

(1) Any person may file a sworn complaint with the Rules Chair alleging a violation of the Rules regulating the conduct and ethics of lobbyists. The complainant shall also file a copy of the sworn complaint with the Senate General Counsel.

The complaint shall be based on personal knowledge, shall state detailed facts, shall specify the actions of the named lobbyist which form the basis for the complaint, shall attach all documentation on which the complaint is based, and shall identify the specific Rule alleged by the complainant to have been violated by the lobbyist.

- (a) Upon a determination by the Rules Chair that the complaint fails to state facts supporting a finding of a violation of the Senate Rules, the complaint shall be dismissed.
- (b) Upon a determination by the Rules Chair that the complaint states facts that, if true, would be a violation of the Senate Rules, the complaint shall be referred to a special master or select committee to determine probable cause. If a select committee is appointed, it shall be comprised of an odd number of members.
 - 1. The special master or select committee shall give reasonable notice to the lobbyist who is alleged to have violated the Rules, shall conduct an investigation, and shall grant the lobbyist an opportunity to be heard. A report and recommendation shall then be prepared.

- 2. The report and recommendation is advisory only and shall be presented to the Rules Chair and the President as soon as practicable after the close of the investigation.
- 3. If the report and recommendation conclude that the facts do not support a finding of probable cause, the complaint shall be dismissed by the Rules Chair.
- 4. If the complaint is not dismissed, another select committee will be appointed and shall consider the report and recommendation, shall grant the lobbyist an opportunity to be heard, and shall develop its own recommendation.
- 5. If the select committee votes to dismiss the complaint, the chair shall dismiss the complaint.
- 6. Otherwise, the report and recommendation and the recommendation of the select committee shall be presented to the President.
- 7. The President shall present the committee's recommendation, along with the report and recommendation, to the Senate for final action.

(2) The Rules Chair shall act within thirty (30) days of receipt of a complaint, unless a concurrent jurisdiction is conducting an investigation, in which case a decision may be deferred until such investigation is complete.

(3) Nothing in this Rule prohibits a Rules Chair from allowing a lobbyist to correct or prevent an inadvertent, technical, or otherwise *de minimis* violation by informal means.

(4) Nothing in this Rule prohibits the Rules Chair or a select committee appointed pursuant to this Rule from recommending a consent decree if agreed to by the lobbyist. The decree shall state findings of fact and set forth an appropriate penalty. If the Senate accepts the consent decree, the complaint shall be deemed resolved.

(5) Separately from any prosecutions or penalties otherwise provided by law, any person determined to have violated the requirements of Rule Nine shall be admonished, censured, reprimanded, placed on probation, or prohibited from lobbying for the duration of the session and from appearing before any Senate committee. Such determination shall be made by a **majority vote** of the Senate.

9.7—Committees to be diligent

Committees shall be diligent to ascertain whether those who appear before them, in other than an obviously individual capacity, have conformed to the requirements of Rule Nine, the Joint Rules, and any other applicable law, and shall report violations. No committee member shall knowingly permit an unregistered lobbyist to be heard.

9.8-Lobbyist expenditures and compensation

See Senate Rules Appendix A for lobbyist expenditures and compensation requirements. The appendix is hereby incorporated by reference as a Rule.

RULE TEN

CHAMBER OF THE SENATE

10.1-Persons entitled to admission

(1) No person shall be admitted to the main floor of the Senate Chamber while the Senate is sitting except present members of the Senate, all officers and employees of the Senate in the performance of their duties, and persons charged with messages or papers to the Senate. Also entitled to admission are the Governor or one (1) representative designated by the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, Cabinet officers, former Governors, present and former United States Senators, present and former members of the House of Representatives of the United States and of this State, Justices of the Supreme Court, former State Senators of Florida, and persons by invitation of the President.

(2) A special section of the gallery shall be reserved for members of the families of Senators.

10.2—Exception to Chamber admission Rule

Except at the discretion of the President, no person entitled to admission shall be admitted if registered pursuant to Rule Nine. During a sitting, no person admitted under this Rule shall engage in any lobbying activity involving a measure pending before the Legislature during the legislative session.

10.3-Admission of media by President

Members of the media, in performance of their duties, shall be assigned to a section specifically set aside for them, and shall not be allowed on the Senate floor while the Senate is sitting, except with the approval of the President.

10.4—Attire

All persons on the main floor of the Senate Chamber and in the gallery (with the exception of visitors in that portion of the gallery set aside for the general public) shall wear appropriate business attire at all times while the Senate is sitting.

10.5—Gallery

No food or beverages shall be allowed in the gallery at any time.

RULE ELEVEN

CONSTRUCTION AND WAIVER OF RULES

11.1—Interpretation of Rules

It shall be the duty of the President, or the temporary presiding officer, to interpret all Rules.

11.2-Waiver and suspension of Rules

(1) These Rules shall not be waived or suspended except by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present. The motion, when made, shall be decided without debate.

(2) A motion to waive a Rule requiring unanimous consent of the Senate shall require unanimous consent of those Senators present for approval.

11.3—Changes in Rules

(1) All proposed revisions of the Senate Rules shall be first referred to the Rules Committee, which shall report as soon thereafter as practicable. Consideration of such a report shall always be in order.

(2) The Rules Committee may originate reports and resolutions dealing with the Senate Rules and the Order of Business which may be approved by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote**, and such power shall be exclusive, provided, however, that any report made pursuant to this Rule may be amended by a **two-thirds (2/3) vote** of those Senators present.

11.4—Majority action

Unless otherwise indicated by the Senate Rules or the *State Constitution*, all action by the Senate or any of its committees or subcommittees, including references to "members present" or "Senators present," shall be by **majority vote** of those Senators present and voting.

See FLA. CONST. art. X, s. 12(e) Rules of construction.

11.5—Uniform construction

When in the Senate Rules reference is made to a "two-thirds (2/3) vote," it shall be construed to mean two-thirds (2/3) of those Senators present and voting except that two-thirds (2/3) of the entire membership of the Senate shall be required when so indicated.

11.6—General; definitions

When used in the Senate Rules, the following words shall, unless the text otherwise indicates, have the following respective meaning:

(1) The singular always includes the plural.

(2) Except where specifically provided or where the context indicates otherwise, the use of the word "bill," "measure," "question," or "matter" means a bill, joint resolution, concurrent resolution, resolution, or memorial.

(3) In addition to the definition in subsection (2), "matter" also means an amendment, an appointment, or a suspension.

(4) "Introducer" shall mean the first-named Senator on a bill. In the case of a bill originally introduced by a committee, the committee shall be the introducer.

11.7—Sources of procedural authority

The latest edition of *Mason's Manual of Legislative Procedure, Jef ferson's Manual*, or other manuals of comparable legislative application may be consulted, but shall not be binding, when a question of parliamentary procedure is not addressed by the *State Constitution*, these Rules, Joint Rules, or prior rulings of the presidents.

RULE TWELVE

EXECUTIVE SESSIONS, APPOINTMENTS, SUSPENSIONS, AND REMOVALS

PART ONE-EXECUTIVE SESSIONS

12.1-Executive session; authority

The business of the Senate shall be transacted openly and not in executive session except under conditions pursuant to Article III, Section 4(b) of the *State Constitution*.

12.2—Executive session; purpose

Pursuant to Article III, Section 4(b) of the *State Constitution*, the Senate may resolve itself into executive session for the sole purpose of considering appointment, removal, or suspension. No one shall be in attendance except Senators, the Secretary, and staff as approved by the President, who shall be sworn not to disclose any executive business without consent of the Senate.

12.3-Executive session; vote required

When the Senate agrees, by a **majority** of those Senators present, that specified appointments, removals, or suspensions shall be considered in executive session, such shall be calendared for formal consideration by the Senate.

12.4—Executive session; work product confidentiality

All information and remarks including committee work product concerning the character and qualification, together with the vote on each appointment, removal, or suspension considered in executive session shall be kept confidential except information on which the bans of confidentiality were lifted by the Senate while in executive session.

12.5-Executive session; separate Journal

A separate Journal shall be kept of executive proceedings of the Senate, and no information regarding same shall be made public except by order of the Senate or by order of a court of competent jurisdiction.

12.6—Violation of Rule

Violation of the above Rules as to the confidentiality of the proceedings of executive sessions shall be considered by the Senate as sufficient grounds for unseating the offending Senator.

PART TWO—APPOINTMENTS, SUSPENSIONS, AND REMOVALS

12.7—Procedure; generally

Except as otherwise herein provided, on receipt by the Senate of appointments or suspensions on which action by the Senate is required, the President shall refer each to the Ethics and Elections Committee, other appropriate committee or committees, or a special master appointed by the President. Any such committee, subcommittee, or special master shall make inquiry or investigation and hold hearings, as appropriate, and advise the President and the Senate with a recommendation and the necessity for deliberating the subject in executive session. Reports and findings of the committee, subcommittee, or special master appointed pursuant hereto are advisory only and shall be made to the President. The report of the committee, subcommittee, or special master may be privileged and confidential. The President may order the report presented to the Senate in either open or executive session, or the President may refer it to the Rules Committee for its consideration and report. When the report is presented to the Senate during an open sitting or received by the Rules Committee, the report shall lose its privileged and confidential character.

12.8—Procedure on executive appointments

(1) Upon receipt of a request from the Governor or other appointing official or authority for the return of the documentation of an appointment, which appointment has not been acted upon by the Senate, the Secretary, upon consultation with the President, shall return the appointment documentation and the return shall be noted in the Journal. The appointee whose appointment was returned continues in office until the end of the next ensuing regular session of the Legislature or until the Senate confirms a successor, whichever occurs first.

(2) If the appointment returned was made by the Governor, official or authority's predecessor, the appointee shall not be subject to the provisions of section 114.05(1)(e) or (f), *Florida Statutes*, during the period of withdrawal.

(3) If the appointment returned was made by the Governor, official or authority requesting the return, for purposes of section 114.05(1)(e) and (f), *Florida Statutes*, the returned appointment shall be treated as if the Senate failed to consider the appointment.

12.9-Procedure upon receipt of an executive suspension

(1) Unless suspension proceedings are held in abeyance, the committee, subcommittee, or special master shall institute action by transmitting a notice of hearing for a prehearing conference or a hearing on the merits within <u>ninety (90) days three (3) months</u> after the Secretary of the Senate receives the suspension order. The Governor and the suspended official shall be given reasonable notice in writing of any hearing or prehearing conference before the committee, subcommittee, or special master. If the Governor files an amended suspension order, the attention of the Senate, committee, subcommittee, or special master shall be directed to at the amended suspension order.

(2) An executive suspension of a public official who has pending against him or her criminal charges, or an executive suspension of a public official that is challenged in a court shall be referred to the Ethics and Elections Committee, other appropriate committee, or special master; however, all inquiry or investigation or hearings thereon shall be held in abeyance and the matter shall not be considered by the Senate, committee, subcommittee, or special master until the pending charges have been dismissed, or until final determination of the criminal charges at the trial court level, or until the final determination of a court challenge, if any, and the exhaustion of all appellate remedies for any of the above. The committee, subcommittee, or special master shall institute action within ninety (90) days three (3) months after the conclusion of any pending proceedings. Notwithstanding an abeyance, the committee, subcommittee, or special master and the Senate may proceed if the written consent of counsel for the Governor and of the suspended official is obtained. Nothing in this Rule shall be interpreted as preventing the Senate from proceeding if the Senate President determines due process so requires.

(3) The committee, subcommittee, or special master may provide for a prehearing conference with counsel for the Governor and the suspended official to narrow the issues involved in the suspension. At such conference, both the Governor and the suspended official shall set forth the names and addresses of all the witnesses they intend to call, the nature of their testimony, photocopies of all documentary evidence, and a description of all physical evidence that will be relied on by the parties at the hearing. Each shall state briefly what each expects to prove by such testimony and evidence. The suspended official may file with the Secretary, no later than ten (10) days prior to the first (1st) prehearing conference, or no later than the date set by the committee, subcommittee, or special master if no prehearing conference is held, all written defenses or matters in avoidance of the charges contained in the suspension order.

(4) When it is advisable, the committee, subcommittee, or special master may request that the Governor file a bill of particulars containing a statement of further facts and circumstances supporting the suspension order. Within twenty (20) days after receipt of the Governor's bill of particulars, the suspended officer shall file a response with the committee, subcommittee, or special master. Such response shall specifically admit or deny the facts or circumstances set forth in the Governor's bill of particulars, and may further make such representation of fact and circumstances or assert such further defenses as are responsive to the bill of particulars or as may bear on the matter of the suspension.

(5) The Senate may act on the recommendations of the committee, subcommittee, or special master at any time it is sitting but shall do so no later than the end of the next regular session of the Legislature.

(6) Within sixty (60) days after the Senate has completed final action on the recommendation of the committee, subcommittee, or special master, any party to the suspension matter may request the return, at that party's expense, of any exhibit, document, or other evidence introduced by that party. After the expiration of sixty (60) days from the date the Senate has completed final action, the committee, subcommittee, or special master may dispose of such exhibits or other evidence.

See FLA. CONST. art. IV, s. 7(b) Suspensions; filling office during suspensions.

12.10—Adjudication of guilt not required to remove suspended officer

For the purposes of Article IV, Section 7(b) of the *State Constitution*, the Senate may find that the suspended official has committed a felony notwithstanding that a court may have withheld adjudication of guilt upon which the suspension order is based in whole or in part.

12.11-Special master; appointment

The President may appoint and contract for the services of a special master to perform such duties and make such reports in relation to suspensions and removals as he or she shall prescribe.

12.12-Special master; floor privilege

With consent of the President, the special master may have the privilege of the Senate floor to present and explain the report and answer questions as to the law and facts involved.

12.13—Issuance of subpoenas and process

The committee, subcommittee, and special master shall each have the authority to request the issuance of subpoenas, subpoenas *duces tecum*, and other necessary process under Rule 2.2. The committee chair, subcommittee chair, and special master may each administer all oaths and affirmations in the manner prescribed by law to witnesses who shall appear to testify on matters pending before the committee, subcommittee, or special master.

12.14—Rule takes precedence

In any situation where there is a direct conflict between the provisions of Rule Twelve and part V of chapter 112, *Florida Statutes*, Rule Twelve, derived from Article III, Section 4(a) of the *State Constitution*, shall take precedence.

12.15—Standard of evidence

A preponderance of the evidence standard shall be used by each Senator when determining whether the suspended official warrants removal based on the grounds alleged by the Governor.

<u>12.16—Senators speaking publicly</u>

Because they may be asked to sit in judgment of an executive suspension order, Senators should refrain from speaking publicly about the merits or substance of any suspension order prior to the vote.

RULE THIRTEEN

SPECIAL SESSION

13.1—Applicability of Senate Rules

All Senate Rules shall apply and govern during special sessions except to the extent expressly modified or specified herein.

13.2—Sittings of the Senate

(1) The Senate shall convene pursuant to a schedule provided by the President or at the hour established by the Senate at its last sitting.

(2) A calendar may be published before a special session convenes.

13.3—Committee meetings; schedule, notice, amendment deadline

- (1) Committee meetings shall be scheduled by the President.
 - (a) Meetings of committees may be held after notice is published on the Senate website and posted on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda for two (2) hours in advance of the meeting. If possible, such notice shall appear in the daily calendar.
 - (b) A committee may meet less than two (2) hours after the convening of a special session if a notice is filed with the Secretary at least two (2) hours before the scheduled meeting time.

(2) The notice shall include the date, time, and place of the meeting together with the name of the introducer, subject, number of each bill or proposed committee bill to be considered, and the amendment deadline for the meeting as provided herein. All other provisions for publication of notice of committee meetings are suspended.

(3) Main amendments shall be filed no later than one (1) hour before the scheduled convening of a committee meeting. Amendments adhering to main amendments shall be filed not later than **thirty (30) minutes** thereafter.

13.4—Delivery for introduction

Bills for introduction may be delivered to the Secretary at any time.

13.5—Committee reports

(1) Standing committee reports shall be filed with the Secretary's office as soon as practicable, but not later than 4:30 p.m. on the day after the meeting that is not a weekend or state holiday, except a committee drafting and recommending a committee substitute shall file such committee report no later than 4:30 p.m. on the second (2nd) such weekday. These reports must be accompanied by the original bill. Each report by a committee must set forth the identifying number of the bill. If amendments' shall follow the identifying number. Committee amendments' shall follow the identifying number. All bills reported unfavorably shall be laid on the table.

 $(2)\ \ \, Bills$ referred to a standing subcommittee shall be reported to the standing committee.

13.6—Conference committee reports

(1) The report of a conference committee shall be read to the Senate. Upon completion of the reading and subsequent debate, the vote shall first be:

- (a) on adoption or rejection of the conference report and, if adopted, the vote shall then be
- (b) on final passage of the measure as amended by the conference report.

Copies of conference committee reports shall be available to the membership two (2) hours prior to the time such report is scheduled to be taken up on the Senate floor.

(2) The report must be acted on as a whole, being adopted or rejected.

(3) Each report shall include a statement sufficiently explicit to inform the Senate of the effect of the report on the measure to which it relates.

(4) Conference committees, other than a conference committee on a general or special appropriations bill and its related legislation, shall consider and report only on the differences existing between the Senate and the House, and no substance foreign to the bills before the conferees shall be included in the report or considered by the Senate.

(5) A conference committee may only report by recommending the adoption of a series of amendments to the House or Senate bill that was the subject of the conference, or it may offer an amendment deleting everything after the enacting clause of any such bill referred to the committee. In any event, the conference committee may recommend, as part of its report, the adoption or rejection of any or all of the amendments theretofore adopted by either house. Conference committee reports must be approved and signed by a **majority** of the conference son the part of each house. All final actions taken in a conference committee shall be by motion.

(6) When conferees on the part of the Senate report an inability to agree, any action of the Senate taken prior to such reference to a conference committee shall not preclude further action on said measure as the Senate may determine.

(7) After Senate conferees have been appointed for thirty-six (36) hours and have failed to make a report, it is a motion of the highest privilege to move to discharge said Senate conferees and to appoint new conferees, or to instruct said Senate conferees.

13.7—Reconsideration

A motion to reconsider shall be considered when made.

13.8-Procedure to establish Special Order Calendars

(1) The Rules Chair, Majority Leader, and Minority Leader shall meet and submit a Special Order Calendar determining the list of bills for consideration by the Senate. The President shall determine the order in which such bills appear on the published Special Order Calendar.

See Rule 4.16—Consideration out of regular order.

(2) Such Special Order Calendar shall be published in one (1) daily calendar and may be considered on the day published. The amendment deadline for bills on the Special Order Calendar shall be 5:00 p.m. or two (2) hours after the Special Order Calendar is announced, or as provided in the Special Order Calendar, whichever occurs later.

(3) Notice of the date, time, and place for the establishment of the Special Order Calendar shall be published on the Senate website and posted on the Senate side of the fourth (4th) floor Capitol rotunda two (2) hours in advance of the meeting. If possible, such notice shall appear in the daily calendar.

RULE FOURTEEN

SEAL AND INSIGNIA

14.1-Seal and insignia

(1) There shall be an official seal of the Senate. The seal shall be the size of a circle of two and one-half inches diameter having in the center thereof the current Florida state flag and the current United States flag above a disc containing the words: "In God We Trust" arched above a gavel, quill, and scroll. At the top of the field of flags shall be the word: "Seal." At the bottom shall be the date: "1838." The perimeter of the seal shall contain the words: "Senate" and "State of Florida."

(2) There shall be an official coat of arms for the Senate. The coat of arms shall contain the current Florida state flag and the current United States flag above the Great Seal of Florida. At the base of the coat of arms shall be the words: "The Florida Senate."

(3) All versions of the Senate Seal, the Senate Coat of Arms, official Senate stationery, calling cards, and facsimiles thereof may be used only in connection with official Senate business.

Senate Rules Appendix A

This document may be consulted by persons seeking to comply with the lobbyist expenditure ban set forth in section 11.045(4)(a), *Florida Statutes*, in the legislative context by refining the law and providing Lobbying Guidelines and answers to 25 Frequently Asked Questions.

Part One of the Guidelines refines and applies the prohibition, with ten clearly stated exceptions, so that Senators and Senate employees cannot directly or indirectly take any "expenditure" from a lobbyist or principal in either the public or private sector.

Part Two of the Guidelines refines and applies the underlying core requirement that "lobbying firms" must publicly disclose the compensation they receive for lobbying activities, and does so in a way that is narrowly tailored, furthers the state's compelling governmental interest in regulating legislative lobbying at the state level, and employs the least intrusive means available to do so.

This document sets out general principles. Outcomes depend heavily on underlying fact patterns that can vary greatly from case to case. Full disclosure of the operative facts must be provided and considered before a proper and correct answer can be derived.

A Senator may request an informal advisory opinion from the Senate General Counsel regarding the application of the law and Rule to a specific situation, on which the legislator may reasonably rely.

The houses of the Legislature are responsible for the administration and enforcement of the legislative lobbying portions of the law. The legislative lobbying expenditure prohibitions are not part of the Florida Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees. Neither the Florida Commission on Ethics nor the Florida courts have jurisdiction to interpret these internal matters of the Legislature.

Part One - Expenditures

(1) General Guidelines

a) The Expenditure Prohibition

The law contains a prohibition against lobbyists and principals making direct or *indirect* lobbying expenditures for legislators and legislative employees. It provides:

[N]o lobbyist or principal shall make, directly or indirectly, and no member or employee of the Legislature shall knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any *expenditure*.... (emphasis added).

The expenditure prohibition applies only to expenditures made by lobbyists and principals. It applies whether or not the lobbyist, principal, legislator, or legislative employee is in Florida. Florida's gift law, section 112.3148, *Florida Statutes*, continues to apply to gifts to legislators and legislative employees from others.

Example: A legislator may accept a subscription to a newspaper or periodical that is neither published by, nor paid for, nor provided by a lobbyist or a principal.

Example: A legislator may not accept a free health screening or other personal service provided on behalf of an association that is a principal.

Example: A legislator may, as either a member or an invited guest, participate in meetings of, and partake of the food and beverage provided by a civic organization if the organization is not a principal.

The practical effect of this law is to prohibit expenditures for attempting to obtain the goodwill of a member or employee of the Legislature, and it is not designed to prohibit expenditures made in attempting to influence legislative action or non-action through oral or written communication.

b) Definitions

"Expenditure" is defined, essentially, as anything of value made by a lobbyist or principal *for the purpose of lobbying*.

"Lobbying," in turn, means: (1) influencing or attempting to influence legislative action through oral or written communication (*"active lobbying"*); or, (2) attempting to obtain the *goodwill* of a member or employee of the Legislature (*"goodwill"*).

"Goodwill expenditure" is a gift, an entertainment, any food or beverage, lodging, travel, or any other item or service of personal benefit to a legislator or legislative employee.

Goodwill expenditures include contributions or donations from a lobbyist or a principal to a charitable organization that is, directly or indirectly, established by, organized by, operated primarily by, or controlled by a legislator or legislative employee, or any combination thereof.

A *"lobbyist"* is a person who is employed and receives payment, or who contracts for economic consideration, for the purpose of lobbying, or a person who is principally employed for governmental affairs by another person or governmental entity to lobby on behalf of that other person or governmental entity.

"Personal benefit" means a profit or gain pertaining to, directed toward, or affecting a person.

A "principal" means the person, firm, corporation, or other entity that has employed or retained a lobbyist. When an association has employed or retained a lobbyist, the association is the principal; the individual members of the association are not principals merely because of their membership in the association.

c) Honorarium-related Expenses

It is not permissible to accept from a lobbyist or principal, directly or indirectly, payment or reimbursement of expenses for travel, food, lodging, or beverage, related to speaking engagements or other honorarium-type events.

d) Indirect Expenditures

An indirect expenditure is an expenditure that is not made directly to a legislator or legislative employee, but is made to another with the purpose that the expenditure be used for the personal benefit of a legislator or legislative employee.

The expenditure prohibition *expressly* prohibits any lobbyist or principal from directing prohibited lobbying expenditures through a surrogate or through any person who by his or her actions or activities is obligated to register as a lobbyist but has failed to do so. Third-party intermediaries, such as employees, members of associations and others, cannot be used to make prohibited expenditures.

Where an item or service (anything of value) is provided to a person *other* than a legislator or legislative employee by a lobbyist or principal and the item or service or the benefit attributable to the item or service ultimately is received by the legislator or employee, and where the item or service is provided with the intent to benefit the legislator or employee, such item or service constitutes a prohibited indirect expenditure to the legislator or employee.

Factors to be considered in determining whether a prohibited indirect expenditure has been made are set out on the following page in the joint functionality test:

TEST FOR DETERMINING LEGALITY OF AN INDIRECT EXPENDITURE

(1) The existence or nonexistence of communications by the lobbyist or principal indicating the lobbyist's or principal's intent to make or convey the item or service, or a personal benefit attributable to the item or service, to a legislator or employee rather than to the intervening third person;

(2) The existence or nonexistence of communications by the intervening third person indicating the intent to make or convey the lobbyist's or principal's item or service, or a personal benefit attributable to the item or service, to a legislator or employee rather than to the third person;

(3) The existence or nonexistence of any relationship between the lobbyist or principal and the third person, independent of the relationship between the lobbyist or principal and a legislator or employee, that would motivate the transfer to the third person;

(4) The existence or nonexistence of any relationship between the third person and a legislator or employee that would motivate the transfer;

(5) Whether the same or similar items or services have been or are being provided to other persons having the same relationship to the lobbyist or principal as the third person;

(6) Whether, under the circumstances, the third person had full and independent decision-making authority to determine whether a legislator or employee, or another, would receive the items or services, or a personal benefit attributable to the items or services;

(7) Whether the third person was acting with the knowledge or consent of, or under the direction of, the lobbyist or principal;

(8) Whether there were payments or the intention for any payments or bookkeeping transactions between the third person and the lobbyist or principal, reimbursing the third person for the items or services;

(9) The degree of ownership or control the lobbyist or principal had over the third person; and

(10) Whether a lobbyist or principal knew, or should have known, that an item or service provided to a third party would be used to provide a personal benefit to a legislator or employee, such as for the funding of a legislative reception or an event to be attended by legislators or employees.

The following examples illustrate some of the applications of the foregoing indirect expenditure criteria:

Example 1: A law firm which lobbies the Legislature invites all of its attorneys to attend a weekend retreat. The attorneys are encouraged to bring their spouses or significant others at the firm's expense. Legislator C is married to an attorney in the firm and has been asked by her spouse to attend the retreat. The lodging provided to Legislator C for the retreat, food and drink, firm t-shirts, and the like would be considered a gift to her from her spouse and thus not a prohibited indirect expenditure, because the firm's invitation was extended to Legislator C's spouse by virtue of his employment with the firm.

Example 2: Legislator D hosts a fox hunt attended by legislators and lobbyists. Lobbyists give money to a third person, who is not a legislator or a legislative employee, to pay for the food and beverages which will be served at the fox hunt. The third party orders and prepares the food and beverages. The money provided to the third person by the lobbyists would be a prohibited indirect expenditure to Legislator D because it was given with the intent of benefiting him and his guests at the fox hunt.

Example 3: Legislator N and spouse have arranged to take a vacation trip together. A legislative lobbyist meets with Legislator N's spouse and offers to pay for the spouse's travel expenses. The lobbyist and Legislator N's spouse know each other only through the lobbyist's involvement with the legislator. This would constitute a prohibited indirect expenditure to Legislator N.

e) Equal or Greater Compensation

An expenditure is not prohibited when equal or greater value is given contemporaneously by the recipient to the donor.

Therefore, it is not an expenditure if:

1. The fair market value of the event, meeting, or other activity, including any food, beverage, transportation, lodging, or any other thing of value, can readily be determined, and

2. The legislator or legislative employee pays his or her pro rata share of the total fair market value to the person or organization hosting the event contemporaneously with the time of attending or participating in the event.

Thus, if a lobbyist or principal provides \$35 worth of goods or services to a legislator or legislative employee but the legislator or legislative employee *contemporaneously* provides *equal or greater consideration*, the lobbyist or principal has not provided *anything of value*, thus, there is no "expenditure."

f) Valuation

The law is silent as to the *valuation* of goods and services. *Fair market value* is the proper and applicable standard of valuation.

The retail price of an item or service is presumed to be its fair market value so long as it is reasonable in relation to the value of the item or service and the amount is not subsidized by a lobbyist or principal.

In valuing an expenditure, you may exclude the amount of additional expenses that are regularly required as a condition precedent to the donor's eligibility to make the expenditure if the amount expended for the condition precedent is primarily intended to be for a purpose other than lobbying, and is either primarily for the benefit of the donor or is paid to a charitable organization. Initiation fees and membership fees are examples of additional expenses that are regularly required as conditions precedent for eligibility to make an expenditure. Transportation expenses incurred to bring a member to an out-of-town event are not.

Entrance fees, admission fees, or tickets are normally valued on the face value or on a daily or per event basis. The portion of a ticket attributable to a charitable contribution is not included in the value. Conversely, if the ticket is subsidized by contributions of lobbyists or principals, the pro rata subsidized amount must be attributed to the face value.

A person providing transportation in a private automobile shall be considered to be making an expenditure at the then-current statutory reimbursement rate. The value of transportation provided in other private conveyances must be calculated on its fair market value.

- g) Exceptions
- 1. Relatives

A relative is an individual who is related to the member or employee as father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sonin-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, grandparent, grandchild, great grandparent, great grandchild, step grandparent, step great grandparent, step grandchild, or step great grandchild; any person who is engaged to be married to the member or employee or who otherwise holds himself or herself out as or is generally known as the person whom the member or employee intends to marry or with whom the member or employee intends to form a household; or any other natural person having the same legal residence as the member or employee.

This definition of "relative" is taken from former Joint Rule 1.4(4)(b), and has operated historically as an exception to the presumption that things of value given to a legislator or employee by a lobbyist or principal are intended for the purpose of engendering goodwill.

Example: A legislator is permitted to accept a Christmas gift from an aunt, even if she is a lobbyist. The gift is not deemed an expenditure

made for the purpose of lobbying because of the family relationship between the donor and the donee.

2. Employment-related Compensation and Benefits

Salary, benefits, services, fees, commissions, gifts, or expenses associated primarily with the recipient's employment, business, or service as an officer or director of a corporation or organization are not prohibited expenditures so long as they are given in an amount commensurate with other similarly situated employees, officers, or directors.

These sorts of expenditures are currently also excepted from the definition of a gift in section 112.312(12)(b), *Florida Statutes*, and are a necessary exception in order for many legislators to continue their employment or continue their service on boards and continue to serve in Florida's citizen Legislature.

Example: A legislator who is on the board of directors of an organization that has a lobbyist is nevertheless permitted to partake of food and beverage provided to the board members by the organization at its board meetings.

3. Political Organizations and Entities

An expenditure does not include contributions or expenditures reported pursuant to chapter 106, *Florida Statutes*, or its federal law counterpart; campaign-related personal services provided without compensation by individuals volunteering their time; any other contribution or expenditure made by a chapter 106 entity such as a candidate campaign, political committee, organization making election neering communications, political party, or an entity qualified under section 501(c)(4) or section 527 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Members are cautioned that these organizations or entities may not be used as a vehicle for skirting the lobbying expenditure law. To the extent that funds come from lobbyists or principals, one should exercise great care that the expenditures are legal and appropriate for that particular organization or entity.

4. Communications Expenses

The expenditure prohibitions in the law do not reach expenditures made by a lobbyist or principal for items such as "media advertising," "publications," "communications," and "research."

Expenditures for researching, gathering, collating, organizing, providing, or disseminating information for the *exclusive* purpose of "active lobbying" (influencing or attempting to influence legislative action through oral or written communication) are necessary for Floridians to be able to "instruct their representatives."

5. Office and Personal Expenses of Lobbyists and Principals

"Office expenses" and personal expenses of the lobbyist or principal for "travel," "lodging," and "food and beverages" as those items were defined in former Joint Rule 1.4(4)(c) are exempt from the prohibition on lobbying expenditures. This category does not include any expenses for legislators, legislative employees, or persons whose expenses would be attributed to them.

6. Government to Government Expenditures

Real property or a facility owned or operated by a state or local public agency or entity that is a lobbying principal and transportation to, from, and at the location provided by that agency or entity may, with the prior approval of the respective state legislative presiding officer or his or her designee, be used without payment, by a member, committee, or staff of the Legislature for a public legislative purpose. Such purposes include publicly noticed legislative committee meetings and site visits to operations conducted by the public agency or entity. Allowable free uses also specifically include legislative district offices and sub-offices and the normally attendant utilities, parking, janitorial services, building maintenance, and telecommunications equipment and services common to a government building in which the office is located. Allowable free use does not extend to sports or entertainment venues; does not include food, beverages, or entertainment; and does not include free parking privileges at any location other than a district office or sub-office.

7. Free and Open Public Events

Expenditures directly associated with events that are held within the Capitol complex, out-of-doors or under temporary shelter, open to the general public, widely and publicly noticed, free to all, not ticketed, and for which equal and totally unobstructed access to the general public is provided, are not prohibited expenditures made by lobbyists or principals, or when accepted by legislators or legislative employees.

Example: Atlas County, Florida, is holding Atlas Day in the plaza between the Capitol and the Historic Capitol. Lunch is served to all comers. The event was widely publicized and access to the event and the food and beverage is totally unobstructed. Legislators may partake as well.

8. Regional and National Legislative Organizations

The prohibition does not apply to expenditures made directly or indirectly by a state, regional, or national organization that promotes the exchange of ideas between, or the professional development of, governmental officials or employees, and whose membership is primarily composed of elected or appointed public officials or staff to members of that organization or to officials or staff of the Legislature. This exception does not include extracurricular activities, entertainments, or items or services provided at conferences that are paid for or provided by a lobbyist or principal.

9. Monetary Value Impossible to Ascertain

The value of some items is *truly impossible* to quantify at the time of the expenditure. Expenditures for which a monetary value is not ascertainable at the time of the expenditure are not prohibited. Examples are: appearing on a news show or having a feature article about a legislator in a trade magazine or other medium, applause received by a legislator at an event, obtaining priority seating in a crowded restaurant or priority for obtaining services where there is an established queue, or the pro-rata portion of a host's monthly or annual membership in an exclusive supper club.

10. Plaques and Certificates

The prohibition does not apply to personalized wall plaques, personalized photographs, or personalized certificates that have no substantial inherent value other than recognizing the donee's public, civic, charitable, or professional service.

h) Effect of Other Laws and Rules

To the extent that an expenditure is excluded or exempt from the lobbying prohibition in section 11.045, *Florida Statutes, it is still subject to the restrictions and requirements in other statutes: most notably, the gift law (section 112.3148, Florida Statutes) and the campaign finance law (chapter 106, Florida Statutes).*

(2) Frequently Asked Questions

LEGISLATIVE EVENTS/RECEPTIONS

1. Question: Can a county legislative delegation or delegation office sponsor an annual event in Tallahassee on public grounds or in quarters belonging to either the Senate or the House of Representatives (i.e., "Flavors of Hillsborough")?

ANSWER: A county legislative delegation may host an annual event in Tallahassee *provided* that no free food, beverages, or other personal benefits to a legislator or legislative employee are paid for or provided by a lobbyist or principal, either directly or indirectly.

Legislators and legislative staff may pay an amount established and published by the delegation as the per-person cost of the event, or they may "pop in" and not partake of any food, beverage, or other personal benefit at the event. Alternatively, the delegation may make the event a free, open public event as described in Paragraph (1)g)7. above. 2. Question: Can a legislator or legislative employee go up to the 22nd floor of the Capitol and partake of free food and drink provided by an organization hosting a luncheon or event at the Capitol?

ANSWER: It depends. Yes, provided the organization hosting the event is not a principal *and* none of the food and beverages are paid for or provided by a lobbyist or principal. Otherwise, the legislator or legislative employee could attend the event but could not partake of the free food or beverages or they can pay the fair market value of what they consume.

3. Question: Can "legislative days" that provide food, beverages, entertainment, and other personal benefits to legislators or legislative employees during the session and are hosted by counties, cities, universities, and others that employ a lobbyist continue?

ANSWER: "Legislative days" and other legislative events funded by lobbyist or principal dollars may continue *provided* no free food, drink, entertainment, or other personal benefit is provided to a legislator or legislative employee, either directly or indirectly. Any such benefit would be a prohibited goodwill expenditure.

Legislators and legislative staff may pay an amount established and published by the sponsor as the per-person cost of the event, or they may "pop in" and not partake of any food, beverage, or other personal benefit at the event. Alternatively, the sponsor may make the event a free, open public event as described in Paragraph (1)g)7. above.

4. Question: Can a not-for-profit organization host receptions and events for legislators that provide food, beverages, entertainment, and other personal benefits to legislators or legislative employees through contributions solicited from lobbyists or principals who sponsor the reception or event?

ANSWER: The charity may host a reception or event for legislators and legislative employees *provided* that no free food, beverages, entertainment, or other personal benefit is provided to a legislator or legislative employee from the funds of lobbyists or principals.

Legislators and legislative employees may pay an amount established and published by the sponsor as the per-person cost of the event, or they may "pop in" and not partake of any food, beverage, or other personal benefit at the event. Alternatively, the sponsor may make the event a free, open public event as described in Paragraph (1)g)7. above.

5. Question: Can a lobbyist or principal host an event with food, beverages, entertainment, or other personal benefit for legislators or legislative employees and collect from each legislator or legislative employee, a flat, per-person entrance fee based on the total cost to plan, produce, stage, and clean up after the event, divided by the number of persons reasonably expected to attend?

ANSWER: Yes.

6. Question: Each year, a few associations host legislative receptions/BBQs and invite their members as well as legislators. They usually pass out campaign funds at these events to those who support their industry. Would it now be legal to host this event if it were called a "fundraiser?" Could legislators then accept free food and beverages at the event?

ANSWER: Senate Rule 1.361 precludes a senator, and House Rule 15.3 precludes a representative, from accepting a campaign contribution during a regular or special session, in addition to prohibiting them from accepting contributions on behalf of a section 527 or section 501(c)(4) organization, a political committee, a political party, or the campaign of any other senatorial candidate or candidate for representative, respectively. Thus, any fundraiser held during a regular or special session would violate the rules of each house.

Fundraisers not held during a regular or special session are outside the purview of the expenditure prohibitions in the law. A goodwill lobbying expenditure does not include contributions or expenditures reported pursuant to chapter 106, *Florida Statutes*. However, if the facts and circumstances demonstrate that calling the event a "fundraiser" is merely an artifice for lobbyists or principals to provide free gifts, food, beverages, and other items or services of personal benefit to a legislator, not associated with influencing the results of an election, then the fundraiser would violate the expenditure prohibition of the new law. Note, also, that fundraisers remain subject to the contribution restrictions and requirements of Florida's campaign finance law (chapter 106, *Florida Statutes*).

HONORARIA EXPENSES

7. Question: Can a lobbyist or principal continue to pay or reimburse a legislator's or legislative employee's expenses for such items as food and beverages, travel, and lodging associated with an honorarium event?

ANSWER: No.

GIFTS TO LEGISLATORS

8. Question: Can a school child give a legislator a painting that he or she has made?

ANSWER: Yes. The prohibition against lobbying expenditures only applies to lobbyists and principals, and those acting on their behalf.

9. Question: Can a school student whose parent is a lobbyist or principal give a scarf that was purchased by the child's parent to a legislator as a gift?

ANSWER: It depends. The lobbying expenditure prohibition applies to all gifts from lobbyists or principals to legislators, directly or *indirectly*. A lobbyist or principal cannot use a third-party intermediary to circumvent the lobbying expenditure prohibition. Thus, if the facts and circumstances demonstrate that the scarf is an indirect gift from the lobbyist or principal to the legislator, it would be prohibited.

10. Question: Can a legislator accept rent-free office space and associated building services from a city, county, or community college in his or her district that employs or retains a lobbyist?

ANSWER: Yes. See Paragraph (1)g)6. above for explanation and limitations.

11. Question: Can a legislator or legislative staff accept transportation services from another governmental entity?

ANSWER: Yes. See Paragraph (1)g)6. above for explanation and limitations.

12. Question: Are there any value limitations on the exceptions in the law for "floral arrangements or other celebratory items given to legislators and displayed in chambers on the opening day of a regular session"?

ANSWER: Yes. All opening day flowers and floral arrangements are subject to the limitations and requirements of the gift law (section 112.3148, *Florida Statutes*). No other celebratory items will be allowed in either chamber on opening day of the regular session.

FOOD AND BEVERAGES/GIFTS

13. Question: Can a legislator or legislative employee and his or her spouse have dinner with a lobbyist friend the legislator or legislative employee has known for 30 years at the lobbyist's home, whether or not active lobbying occurs?

ANSWER: Yes, *provided* the legislator or legislative employee contemporaneously provides the lobbyist with the pro rata share of the total fair market value of the cost of the food and beverages provided to the legislator or legislative employee and his or her spouse, either in cash or barter (i.e., bottle of wine, flowers). Otherwise, the expenditure for food and beverages would constitute a prohibited goodwill expenditure, irrespective of the extent of the legislator's and lobbyist's friendship.

14. Question: Can a lobbyist or principal and legislator or legislative employee have dinner at a public restaurant?

ANSWER: Yes, provided the dinner is "Dutch treat."

15. Question: Can a lobbyist or principal and a legislator or legislative employee have dinner "Dutch treat" at the Governor's Club?

ANSWER: Yes, *provided* the legislator or legislative employee pays the total cost of all food and beverage that he or she was served or consumed, or that was served to or consumed by a person whose expenditures are attributed to the legislator or legislative employee.

16. Question: Can a lobbyist's business partner, employee, spouse, or child, who is not a registered lobbyist, accompany the lobbyist and legislator or legislative employee to dinner and pay for all the food and beverages if the partner, employee, spouse, or child does not actively lobby?

ANSWER: No. The lobbying expenditure prohibition applies to all food and beverages provided by lobbyists or principals to legislators or legislative employees, directly or *indirectly*. A lobbyist or principal cannot utilize a third-party intermediary to channel gifts to legislators to circumvent the lobbying expenditure prohibition.

17. Question: If someone offers a legislator or legislative employee a drink at a bar, or any other gift or personal benefit, does the legislator or legislative employee have a duty to inquire if the donor is a lobbyist or principal?

ANSWER: Yes. A legislator or legislative employee is liable for *knowingly* accepting an expenditure from a lobbyist or principal, or someone acting on behalf of a lobbyist or principal. "Knowingly" has many statutory definitions, including that a person: (1) has *actual knowledge* of the information; (2) acts in *deliberate ignorance* of the truth or falsity of the information; or, (3) acts in *reckless disregard* of the truth or falsity of the information. Therefore, prudence dictates that the legislator or legislative employee, at a minimum, make *reasonable inquiry* as to the source of the proposed expenditure to determine whether it is prohibited. *Reasonableness* will turn on the facts and circumstances of each individual situation.

For example, a legislator receiving an invitation to an event to be held the next week, from an organization he or she is not familiar with would likely require that the legislator, at a minimum, consult the online directory of legislative principals and lobbyists, and perhaps make further inquiry if facts or circumstances come to light indicating that the organization might be making the expenditure on behalf of a lobbyist or principal. Similarly, a legislator offered a drink from someone he or she doesn't know in a Tallahassee bar or restaurant generally known to be frequented by lobbyists would probably be required, at a minimum, to ask whether the person is a lobbyist or principal or affiliated with a lobbyist or principal. On the other hand, a Miami legislator on personal holiday with his or her spouse at Busch Gardens in Tampa, who strikes up a friendship with a couple they don't know visiting from Colorado and who subsequently offers to pay for the legislator's and spouse's dinner probably has less of a duty to inquire whether either member of the couple is a Florida lobbyist or principal.

CHARITIES

18. Question: Can a legislator or legislative employee raise funds from lobbyists or principals for charitable causes?

ANSWER: Yes, *provided* the charity for which funds are sought is not directly or indirectly established by, organized by, operated primarily by, or controlled by a legislator or legislative employee, or any combination thereof. Otherwise, such a contribution or donation would constitute a prohibited goodwill expenditure.

19. Question: Can a legislator or legislative employee establish or operate a charitable foundation that relies on lobbyist or principal support?

ANSWER: No. A legislator or legislative employee may establish or operate a charitable organization but none of the money contributed or donated to the charity may be from lobbyists or principals. Such a contribution or donation would constitute a prohibited goodwill expenditure.

20. Question: Can a legislator or legislative employee sit on the board of a charitable organization that is not established by, organized by, operated primarily by, or controlled by a legislator or legislative employee, or any combination thereof? Can he or she accept free food and beverages provided by the charity and be reimbursed by the charity for expenses associated with the work of the charity (i.e., travel, lodging)?

ANSWER: Yes. A legislator or legislative employee may sit on the board of a charitable organization that receives donations and contributions from lobbyists, and may partake of free food, beverages, and other personal benefits provided by the charity to board members in connection with their service, including reimbursement of personal expenses incurred by board members in furtherance of the charity's work. A goodwill expenditure does not include salary, benefits, services, fees, commissions, gifts, or expenses associated primarily with a legislator's or legislative employee's employment, business, or service as an officer or director of a corporation or organization. *However*, any such salary, benefit, services, fees, commissions, gifts, or expenses cannot be from funds earmarked by lobbyists or principals to the charity for such purpose and must be received only for the legislator's or legislative employee's service as a member of the board.

21. Question: Can a legislative caucus that is established as a nonprofit group raise funds from lobbyists for its charitable causes?

ANSWER: It depends. If the legislative caucus or the nonprofit group is directly or indirectly established by, organized by, operated primarily by, or controlled by a legislator or legislative employee, or any combination thereof, then the answer is no.

If the legislative caucus or the nonprofit group is not directly or indirectly established by, organized by, or operated primarily by, or controlled by a legislator or legislative employee, or any combination thereof, then the answer is yes.

22. Question: Can a legislative caucus that is established as a nonprofit group host its own charity golf tournament funded by lobbyist or principal "sponsors" at a private club, where the cost of sponsorship buys an opportunity to play golf with a member of the caucus, and to make a presentation to the caucus before and after the event?

ANSWER: Yes, provided the legislative caucus or the nonprofit group is not directly or indirectly established by, organized by, operated primarily by, or controlled by a legislator or legislative employee, or any combination thereof, and the legislators and legislative employees pay their own golf fees and the per-person cost for food and beverage.

OTHER

23. Question: What happens when a legislator is married to, related to, or living with a lobbyist? Can the lobbyist pay for meals, lodging, etc.?

ANSWER: Yes, *provided* the lobbyist does not use the expenditure to actively lobby the legislator. Expenditures by "relatives" of a legislator for food, lodging, travel, and the like are specifically exempt from the definition of a goodwill expenditure.

24. Question: Can a legislator be employed by a lobbyist or principal? Can a legislator go to the employer's retreat and partake of food and beverages?

ANSWER: Yes. A goodwill expenditure does not include salary, benefits, services, fees, commissions, gifts, or expenses *associated primarily with a legislator's or legislative employee's employment*, business, or service as an officer or director of a corporation or organization.

25. Question: Where a lobbyist or principal leaves a gift, such as a box of chocolates, in a legislator's office, what should the legislator do with the item?

ANSWER: When a legislator or legislative employee receives an item that they believe violates the prohibition against accepting an expenditure from a lobbyist or principal, the item must either be sent back to the donor or delivered to the Sergeant at Arms for disposal.

Part Two - Compensation

(1) General Guidelines

The law requires the reporting of *compensation* received by *lobbying firms* for each calendar quarter, both in the aggregate and for each individual principal. Much of the reporting is done in dollar categories;

however, if compensation from a single principal is \$50,000 or more in a calendar quarter, the lobbying firm must report the specific dollar amount of the compensation, rounded to the nearest \$1,000.

A "lobbying firm" is any business entity with a lobbyist, or an individual contract lobbyist, who gets paid to lobby for a principal. It is the lobbying firm that must report, *not the individual lobbyists in the firm* (except in the case of an individual contract lobbyist, where the lobbyist also comprises the entire lobbying firm).

Reports are due no later than 45 days after the end of each calendar quarter. Compensation reports must be filed electronically using the online filing system of the Office of Legislative Services.

The law requires the senior partner, officer, or owner of the lobbying firm to certify to the veracity and completeness of each compensation report. This requirement is designed to discourage the mischaracterization and thus omission of reportable compensation through designations such as "media fees," "consulting services," "professional services," "governmental services," and other such artifices.

For example, if a law firm were paid a lump sum for rendering multiple types of services to a client, only one of which is lobbying, then the person certifying the report is responsible for properly and reasonably allocating the portion of the total fee received for lobbying activities and for activities other than lobbying. Only the compensation received for *lobbying* activities is to be reported on the compensation form.

The Legislature will use random audits supplemented by the lobbyist disciplinary process to hold the person certifying the compensation report and the lobbying firm accountable for making a true, complete, properly allocated report as required by law. In addition, the certification brings every compensation report filer within the scope of potential criminal penalties in section 837.06, *Florida Statutes*, for culpable violations.

(2) Frequently Asked Questions

1. Question: Is an in-house, salaried lobbyist for an association, a governmental entity, or a corporation that does not derive income from principals for lobbying required to report compensation?

ANSWER: No. An association, a governmental entity, a corporation or other business entity that does not derive income from principals for lobbying, and its employee lobbyists, are not a "lobbying firm" as defined in section 11.045(1)(f), *Florida Statutes*. Only "lobbying firms" must report compensation as provided in section 11.045(3)(a), *Florida Statutes*.

2. Question: Does the prohibition against providing compensation to an individual or business entity that is not a lobbying firm mean that inhouse lobbyists must either become a lobbying firm or cease lobbying?

ANSWER: No. The provision in question merely clarifies that reportable "compensation" under the law must be provided to a "lobbying firm," and not contracted or subcontracted through some "straw man" to circumvent compensation reporting requirements. The provision in question clarifies and emphasizes the statutory definition of "compensation" in section 11.045(1)(b), *Florida Statutes*, as "anything of value provided or owed to a *lobbying firm*."

MESSAGES FROM THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

The Honorable Wilton Simpson, President

I am directed to inform the Senate that the House of Representatives is organized and ready to conduct business.

RETURNING MESSAGES — FINAL ACTION

The Honorable Wilton Simpson, President

I am directed to inform the Senate that the House of Representatives has adopted SCR 2-Org.

Jeff Takacs, Clerk

May 29, 2020

The bill contained in the foregoing message was ordered enrolled.

COMMUNICATION

Governor Ron DeSantis The Florida Capitol 400 S. Monroe St. Tallahassee, FL 32399-0001

Dear Governor DeSantis,

As provided in Chapter 99.012, please accept this letter as formal notice of my irrevocable resignation from the Office of State Senator, District 20 effective November 3, 2020. It is my understanding that by following the provisions of Florida's Resign to Run Law my replacement can be elected on a timeline consistent with the 2020 election cycle and avoid the unnecessary expense of an off cycle election. I am grateful for the opportunity to have served the people of District 20 and the State of Florida.

Sincerely, Tom Lee Senator, District 20

VACANCY IN OFFICE

By Executive Order Number 20-136, a special election for Senate District 20 was set for November 3, 2020, by Governor Ron DeSantis.

ENROLLING REPORTS

SCR 2-Org. has been enrolled, signed by the required constitutional officers, and filed with the Secretary of State on November 17, 2020.

Debbie Brown, Secretary

ADJOURNMENT

On motion by Senator Passidomo, the Senate in Organization Session adjourned sine die at 11:28 a.m.